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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

   
We make forward-looking statements in this annual report that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking 

statements include information about possible or assumed future results of our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, 
plans and objectives. When we use the words ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘p lan,’’ ‘‘continue,’’ ‘‘intend,’’ ‘‘should,’’ 
‘‘may,’’ ‘‘would,’’ ‘‘will’’ or similar expressions , we intend to identify forward-looking statements.  Statements regarding the following 
subjects, among others, are forward-looking by their nature:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

   ●  our business and investment strategy;  

   ●  our projected financial and operating results;  

   ●  our ability to maintain existing financing arrangements, obtain future financing arrangements and the terms of such arrangements;  

   ●  general volatility of the securities markets in which we invest;  

   ●  the impact of and changes to various government programs, including the US Department of the Treasury’s purchase of Agency 
residential mortgage-backed securities, the Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility and the Public-Private Investment program;  

   ●  our expected investments;  

   ●  changes in the value of our investments;  

   ●  interest rate mismatches between our investments and our borrowings used to fund such purchases;  

   ●  changes in interest rates and mortgage prepayment rates;  

   ●  effects of interest rate caps on our adjustable-rate investments;  

   ●  rates of default or decreased recovery rates on our investments;  

   ●  prepayments of the mortgage and other loans underlying our mortgage-backed or other asset-backed securities;  

   ●  the degree to which our hedging strategies may or may not protect us from interest rate volatility;  

   ●  impact of and changes in governmental regulations, tax law and rates, accounting guidance, and similar matters;  

   ●  availability of investment opportunities in real estate-related and other securities;  

   ●  availability of qualified personnel;  

   ●  estimates relating to our ability to make distributions to our stockholders in the future;  

   ●  our understanding of our competition; and  

   ●  market trends in our industry, interest rates, the debt securities markets or the general economy.  
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The forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions and expectations of our future performance, taking into account 

all information currently available to us. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These beliefs, assumptions 
and expectations can change as a result of many possible events or factors, not all of which are known to us. Some of these factors are 
described under the caption ‘‘Risk Factors’’ in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and any subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.  If a 
change occurs, our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may vary materially from those expressed in our forward-
looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. New risks and uncertainties arise from time 
to time, and it is impossible for us to predict those events or how they may affect us. Except as required by law, we are not obligated to, and do 
not intend to, update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  
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PART I  
 
Item 1.  Business  
 
The Company  
 

We are a specialty finance company that invests, either directly or indirectly through our subsidiaries, in residential mortgage-backed 
securities, or RMBS, residential mortgage loans, commercial mortgage loans, real estate-related securities and various other asset classes.  We 
elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended 
December 31, 2007.  Therefore, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income that is distributed to our 
stockholders.  We were incorporated in Maryland in June 2007 and commenced operations in November 2007.  We listed our common stock 
on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, in November 2007 and trade under the symbol “CIM”.  
 

We are externally managed by Fixed Income Discount Advisory Company, which we refer to as our Manager or FIDAC.  Our 
Manager is an investment advisor registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.  Additionally, our Manager is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Annaly Capital Management, Inc., or Annaly, a New York Stock Exchange-listed REIT, which has a long track record of 
managing investments in U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities.  
 

Our objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted returns to our investors over the long-term, primarily through dividends and 
secondarily through capital appreciation. We intend to achieve this objective by investing in a broad class of financial assets to construct an 
investment portfolio that is designed to achieve attractive risk-adjusted returns and that is structured to comply with the various federal income 
tax requirements for REIT status and to maintain our exclusion from regulation under the Investment Company Act of 1940, or 1940 Act.  
 
Our Manager  
 

We are externally managed and advised by FIDAC, a fixed-income management company, pursuant to a management agreement.  All 
of our officers are employees of our Manager or one of its affiliates.  We believe our relationship with our Manager enables us to leverage our 
Manager’s well-respected and established portfolio management resources for each of our targeted asset classes and its sophisticated 
infrastructure supporting those resources, including investment professionals focusing on residential mortgage loans, U.S. government agency 
residential mortgage-backed securities, or Agency RMBS, which are mortgage pass-through certificates, collateralized mortgage obligations, or 
CMOs, and other mortgage-backed securities representing interests in or obligations backed by pools of mortgage loans issued or guaranteed 
by the Federal National Mortgage Association, or Fannie Mae, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, or Freddie Mac, and the 
Government National Mortgage Association, or Ginnie Mae, non-Agency RMBS, commercial mortgage loans, commercial mortgage-backed 
securities, or CMBS, and other asset-backed securities, or ABS.  Additionally, we have benefitted and expect to continue to benefit from our 
Manager’s finance and administration functions, which address legal, compliance, investor relations and operational matters, including 
portfolio management, trade allocation and execution, securities valuation, risk management and information technologies in connection with 
the performance of its duties.  Our Manager commenced active investment management operations in 1994.  
 

Our Manager is responsible for administering our business activities and day-to-day operations.  Pursuant to the terms of the 
management agreement, our Manager provides us with our management team, including our officers, along with appropriate support 
personnel.  Our Manager is at all times subject to the supervision and oversight of our board of directors and has only such functions and 
authority as we delegate to it.  
 
Our Investment Strategy  
 

Our objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted returns to our investors over the long-term, primarily through dividends and 
secondarily through capital appreciation.  We intend to achieve this objective by investing in a diversified investment portfolio of RMBS, 
residential mortgage loans, real estate-related securities and various other asset classes, subject to maintaining our REIT status and exemption 
from registration under the 1940 Act.  The RMBS, ABS, CMBS, and collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs, we purchase may include 
investment-grade and non-investment grade classes, including the BB-rated, B-rated and non-rated classes.  
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We rely on our Manager’s expertise in identifying assets within our target asset classes.  Our Manager makes investment decisions 

based on various factors, including expected cash yield, relative value, risk-adjusted returns, current and projected credit fundamentals, current 
and projected macroeconomic considerations, current and projected supply and demand, credit and market risk concentration limits, liquidity, 
cost of financing and financing availability, as well as maintaining our REIT qualification and our exemption from registration under the 1940 
Act.  
 

Over time, we will modify our investment allocation strategy as market conditions change to seek to maximize the returns from our 
investment portfolio.  We believe this strategy, combined with our Manager’s experience, will enable us to pay dividends and achieve capital 
appreciation throughout changing interest rate and credit cycles and provide attractive long-term returns to investors.  
 

Our targeted asset classes and the principal investments we expect to make in each are as follows:  
 

 

  

Asset Class      Principal Investments  
        

Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities      ● Non-Agency RMBS, including investment-grade and non-investment grade 
classes, including the BB-rated, B-rated and non-rated classes.  

        
      ● Agency RMBS.  
        
Residential Mortgage Loans      ● Prime mortgage loans, which are mortgage loans that conform to the 

underwriting guidelines of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, which we refer to as 
Agency Guidelines; and jumbo prime mortgage loans, which are mortgage loans 
that conform to the Agency Guidelines except as to loan size.  

        
      ● Alt-A mortgage loans, which are mortgage loans that may have been originated 

using documentation standards that are less stringent than the documentation 
standards applied by certain other first lien mortgage loan purchase programs, 
such as the Agency Guidelines, but have one or more compensating factors such 
as a borrower with a strong credit or mortgage history or significant assets.  

        
Commercial Mortgage Loans      ● First or second lien loans secured by multifamily properties, which are residential 

rental properties consisting of five or more dwelling units; and mixed residential 
or other commercial properties; retail properties; office properties; or industrial 
properties, which may or may not conform to the Agency Guidelines.  

        
Other Asset-Backed Securities      ● CMBS.  
        
      ● Debt and equity tranches of CDOs.  
        
      ● Consumer and non-consumer ABS, including investment-grade and non-

investment grade classes, including the BB-rated, B-rated and non-rated classes.  
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Since we commenced operations in November 2007, we have focused our investment activities on acquiring non-Agency and Agency 

RMBS and on purchasing residential mortgage loans that have been originated by select high-quality originators, including the retail lending 
operations of leading commercial banks.  Our investment portfolio at December 31, 2010 was weighted toward non-Agency RMBS.   At 
December 31, 2010, approximately 83.4% of our investment portfolio was non-Agency RMBS, 12.6% of our investment portfolio was Agency 
RMBS, and 4.0% of our investment portfolio was securitized residential mortgage loans.  At December 31, 2009, approximately 64.6% of our 
investment portfolio was non-Agency RMBS, 23.3% of our investment portfolio was Agency RMBS, and 12.1% of our investment portfolio 
was securitized residential mortgage loans. We expect that over the near term, our investment portfolio will continue to be weighted toward 
RMBS, subject to maintaining our REIT qualification and our 1940 Act exemption.  
 

In addition, we have engaged in and anticipate continuing to engage in transactions with residential mortgage lending operations of 
leading commercial banks and other high-quality originators in which we identify and re-underwrite residential mortgage loans owned by such 
entities, and rather than purchasing and securitizing such residential mortgage loans ourselves, we and the originator would structure the 
securitization and we would purchase the resulting mezzanine and subordinate non-Agency RMBS.  We may also engage in similar 
transactions with non-Agency RMBS in which we acquire once AAA-rated non-Agency RMBS and immediately re-securitize those 
securities.  We may sell the resulting AAA-rated super senior RMBS and retain the rated or unrated mezzanine RMBS.  Our investment 
decisions, however, will depend on prevailing market conditions and will change over time.  As a result, we cannot predict the percentage of 
our assets that will be invested in each asset class or whether we will invest in other classes of investments.  We may change our investment 
strategy and policies without a vote of our stockholders.  
 

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT and operate our business to be exempt from registration under the 1940 Act, and therefore we 
are required to invest a substantial majority of our assets in loans secured by mortgages on real estate and real estate-related assets.  Subject to 
maintaining our REIT qualification and our 1940 Act exemption, we do not have any limitations on the amounts we may invest in any of our 
targeted asset classes.  
 
Investment Portfolio  
 

The following briefly discusses the principal types of investments that we have made and expect to make:  
 
Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities  
 

We have invested in and intend to continue to invest in RMBS which are typically pass-through certificates created by the 
securitization of a pool of mortgage loans that are collateralized by residential real estate properties.  
 

The securitization process is governed by one or more of the rating agencies, including Fitch Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service, 
Standard & Poor’s, and DBRS Limited which determine the respective bond class sizes, generally based on a sequential payment 
structure.  Bonds that are rated from AAA to BBB by the rating agencies are considered “investment grade.” Bond classes that are subordinate 
to the BBB class are considered “below-investment grade” or “non-investment grade.”  The respective bond class sizes are determined based 
on the review of the underlying collateral by the rating agencies.  The payments received from the underlying loans are used to make the 
payments on the RMBS.  Based on the sequential payment priority, the risk of nonpayment for the investment grade RMBS is lower than the 
risk of nonpayment for the non-investment grade bonds.  Accordingly, the investment grade class is typically sold at a lower yield compared to 
the non-investment grade classes which are sold at higher yields.  
 

We invest in investment grade and non-investment grade RMBS.  We evaluate the credit characteristics of these types of securities, 
including, but not limited to, loan balance distribution, geographic concentration, property type, occupancy, periodic and lifetime cap, 
weighted-average loan-to-value and weighted-average FICO score.  Qualifying securities are then analyzed using base line expectations of 
expected prepayments and loss severities, issuers and the current state of the fixed-income market and broader economy in general.  Losses and 
prepayments are stressed simultaneously based on a credit risk-based model.  Securities in this portfolio are monitored for variance from 
expected prepayments, severities, losses and cash flow. The due diligence process is particularly important and costly with respect to newly 
formed originators or issuers because there may be little or no information publicly available about these entities and investments.  
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We may invest in net interest margin securities, or NIMs, which are notes that are payable from and secured by excess cash flow that 

is generated by RMBS or home equity line of credit-backed securities, or HELOCs, after paying the debt service, expenses and fees on such 
securities.  The excess cash flow represents all or a portion of a residual that is generally retained by the originator of the RMBS or 
HELOCs.  The residual is illiquid, thus the originator will monetize the position by securitizing the residual and issuing a NIM, usually in the 
form of a note that is backed by the excess cash flow generated in the underlying securitization.  
 

We may invest in mortgage pass-through certificates issued or guaranteed by Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac which are 
securities representing interests in “pools” of mortgage loans secured by residential real property where payments of both interest and principal, 
plus pre-paid principal, on the securities are made monthly to holders of the security, in effect passing through monthly payments made by the 
individual borrowers on the mortgage loans that underlie the securities, net of fees paid to the issuer/guarantor and servicers of the 
securities.  We may also invest in CMOs issued by the Agencies.  CMOs consist of multiple classes of securities, with each class bearing 
different stated maturity dates.  Monthly payments of principal, including prepayments, are first returned to investors holding the shortest 
maturity class; investors holding the longer maturity classes receive principal only after the first class has been retired.  
 

Agency RMBS are collateralized by either fixed-rate mortgage loans, or FRMs, adjustable-rate mortgage loans, or ARMs, or hybrid 
ARMs.  Hybrid ARMs are mortgage loans that have interest rates that are fixed for an initial period (typically three, five, seven or ten years) 
and thereafter reset at regular intervals subject to interest rate caps.  Our allocation between securities collateralized by FRMs, ARMs or hybrid 
ARMs will depend on various factors including, but not limited to, relative value, expected future prepayment trends, supply and demand, costs 
of financing, costs of hedging, expected future interest rate volatility and the overall shape of the U.S. Treasury and interest rate swap yield 
curves.  We take these factors into account when we make these types of investments.  
 
Residential Mortgage Loans  
 

We have invested and intend to continue to invest in residential mortgage loans (mortgage loans secured by residential real property) 
primarily through direct purchases from selected high-quality originators.  We may to enter into additional mortgage loan purchase agreements 
with a number of primary mortgage loan originators, including mortgage bankers, commercial banks, savings and loan associations, home 
builders, credit unions and mortgage conduits.  We may also purchase mortgage loans on the secondary market.  We expect these loans to be 
secured primarily by residential properties in the United States.  
 

We invest primarily in residential mortgage loans underwritten to our specifications.  The originators perform the credit review of the 
borrowers, the appraisal of the properties securing the loan, and maintain other quality control procedures.  We generally consider the purchase 
of loans when the originators have verified the borrowers’ income and assets, verified their credit history and obtained appraisals of the 
properties.  We or a third party perform an independent underwriting review of the processing, underwriting and loan closing methodologies 
that the originators used in qualifying a borrower for a loan.  Depending on the size of the loans, we may not review all of the loans in a pool, 
but rather select loans for underwriting review based upon specific risk-based criteria such as property location, loan size, effective loan-to-
value ratio, borrower’s credit score and other criteria we believe to be important indicators of credit risk.  Additionally, before the purchase of 
loans, we obtain representations and warranties from each originator stating that each loan is underwritten to our requirements or, in the event 
underwriting exceptions have been made, we are informed so that we may evaluate whether to accept or reject the loans.  An originator who 
breaches these representations and warranties in making a loan that we purchase may be obligated to repurchase the loan from us.  As added 
security, we use the services of a third-party document custodian to insure the quality and accuracy of all individual mortgage loan closing 
documents and to hold the documents in safekeeping.  As a result, all of the original loan collateral documents that are signed by the borrower, 
other than the original credit verification documents, are examined, verified and held by the third-party document custodian.  
 

We may originate mortgage loans or provide other types of financing to the owners of real estate.  We currently do not intend to 
establish a loan servicing platform, but expect to retain highly-rated servicers to service our mortgage loan portfolio.  We purchase certain 
residential mortgage loans on a servicing-retained basis.  In the future, however, we may decide to originate mortgage loans or other types of 
financing, and we may elect to service mortgage loans and other types of assets.  
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We expect that all servicers servicing our loans will be highly rated by the rating agencies.  We also conduct a due diligence review of 

each servicer before executing a servicing agreement.  Servicing procedures will typically follow Fannie Mae guidelines but will be specified 
in each servicing agreement.  All servicing agreements will meet standards for inclusion in highly rated mortgage-backed or asset-backed 
securitizations.  
 

We expect that the loans we acquire will be first lien, single-family residential traditional fixed-rate, adjustable-rate and hybrid 
adjustable-rate loans with original terms to maturity of not more than 40 years and are either fully amortizing or are interest-only for up to ten 
years, and fully amortizing thereafter.  Fixed-rate mortgage loans bear an interest rate that is fixed for the life of the loan.  All adjustable-rate 
and hybrid adjustable-rate residential mortgage loans will bear an interest rate tied to an interest rate index.  Most loans have periodic and 
lifetime constraints on how much the loan interest rate can change on any predetermined interest rate reset date.  The interest rate on each 
adjustable-rate mortgage loan resets monthly, semi-annually or annually and generally adjusts to a margin over a U.S. Treasury index or 
London Interbank Offer Rate, or LIBOR, index.  Hybrid adjustable-rate loans have a fixed rate for an initial period, generally three to ten years, 
and then convert to adjustable-rate loans for their remaining term to maturity.  
 

We acquire residential mortgage loans for our portfolio with the intention of either securitizing them and retaining them in our 
portfolio as securitized mortgage loans, or holding them in our residential mortgage loan portfolio.  To facilitate the securitization or financing 
of our loans, we expect to generally create subordinate certificates, which provide a specified amount of credit enhancement.  We expect to 
issue securities through securities underwriters and either retain these securities or finance them in the repurchase agreement market.  There is 
no limit on the amount we may retain of these below-investment-grade subordinate certificates.  Until we securitize our residential mortgage 
loans, we expect to finance our residential mortgage loan portfolio through the use of warehouse facilities and repurchase agreements.  
 
Commercial Mortgage Loans  
 

We may invest in commercial mortgage loans.  Generally, we may invest in first or second lien loans secured by multifamily 
properties, which are residential rental properties consisting of five or more dwelling units, or by mixed residential or other commercial 
properties, retail properties, office properties or industrial properties.  These loans may or may not conform to the Agency guidelines.  
 
Other Asset-Backed Securities  
 

We may invest in securities issued in various CDO offerings to gain exposure to bank loans, corporate bonds, ABS, mortgages, 
RMBS, CMBS, and other instruments.  To avoid any actual or perceived conflicts of interest with our Manager, an investment in any such 
security structured or managed by our Manager will be approved by a majority of our independent directors.  To the extent such securities are 
treated as debt of the CDO issuer for federal income tax purposes, we will hold the securities directly, subject to the requirements of our 
continued qualification as a REIT.  To the extent the securities represent equity interests in a CDO issuer for federal income tax purposes, we 
may be required to hold such securities through a taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS, which would cause the income recognized with respect to 
such securities to be subject to federal (and applicable state and local) corporate income tax.  See “Risk Factors – Tax Risks.”  We could fail to 
qualify as a REIT or we could become subject to a penalty tax if the income we recognize from certain investments that are treated or could be 
treated as equity interests in a foreign corporation exceed 5% of our gross income in a taxable year.  
 

We may invest in CMBS, which are secured by, or evidence ownership interests in, a single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of 
mortgage loans secured by commercial properties.  These securities may be senior, subordinated, investment grade or non-investment 
grade.  We intend to invest in CMBS that will yield current interest income and where we consider the return of principal to be likely.  We 
intend to acquire CMBS from private originators of, or investors in, mortgage loans, including savings and loan associations, mortgage 
bankers, commercial banks, finance companies, investment banks and other entities.  
 

In general, CDO issuers are special purpose vehicles that hold a portfolio of income-producing assets financed through the issuance of 
rated debt securities of different seniority and equity.  The debt tranches are typically rated based on cash flow structure, portfolio quality, 
diversification and credit enhancement.  The equity securities issued by the CDO vehicle are the “first loss” piece of the CDO vehicle’s capital 
structure, but they are also generally entitled to all residual amounts available for payment after the CDO vehicle’s senior obligations have been 
satisfied.  Some CDO vehicles are “synthetic,” in which the credit risk to the collateral pool is transferred to the CDO vehicle by a credit 
derivative such as a credit default swap.  
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We also may invest in consumer ABS.  These securities are generally securities for which the underlying collateral consists of assets 

such as home equity loans, credit card receivables and auto loans.  We also expect to invest in non-consumer ABS.  These securities are 
generally secured by loans to businesses and consist of assets such as equipment loans, truck loans and agricultural equipment loans.  Issuers of 
consumer and non-consumer ABS generally are special purpose entities owned or sponsored by banks and finance companies, captive finance 
subsidiaries of non-financial corporations or specialized originators such as credit card lenders.  We may purchase RMBS and ABS which are 
denominated in foreign currencies or are collateralized by non-U.S. assets.  
 
Investment Guidelines  
 

We have adopted a set of investment guidelines that set out the asset classes, risk tolerance levels, diversification requirements and 
other criteria used to evaluate the merits of specific investments as well as the overall portfolio composition.  Our Manager’s Investment 
Committee reviews our compliance with the investment guidelines periodically and our board of directors receives an investment report at each 
quarter-end in conjunction with its review of our quarterly results.  Our board also reviews our investment portfolio and related compliance 
with our investment policies and procedures and investment guidelines at each regularly scheduled board of directors meeting.  
 

Our board of directors and our Manager’s Investment Committee have adopted the following guidelines for our investments and 
borrowings:  
 

 

 

 

 
These investment guidelines may be changed by a majority of our board of directors without the approval of our stockholders.  

 
Our board of directors has also adopted a separate set of investment guidelines and procedures to govern our relationships with 

FIDAC.  We have also adopted detailed compliance policies to govern our interaction with FIDAC, including when FIDAC is in receipt of 
material non-public information.  
 
Our Financing Strategy  
 

We use leverage to increase potential returns to our stockholders.  We are not required to maintain any specific debt-to-equity ratio as 
we believe the appropriate leverage for the particular assets we are financing depends on the credit quality and risk of those assets.  At 
December 31, 2010, our ratio of debt-to-equity was 1.1:1. For purposes of calculating this ratio, our equity is equal to the total stockholders’ 
equity on our consolidated statements of financial condition.  Our debt consists of repurchase agreements and securitized debt.   As part of our 
borrowing, we have entered into a RMBS repurchase agreement with Annaly, which owns approximately 4.38% of our outstanding shares of 
common stock.  As of December 31, 2010, we had no financing under this agreement. As of December 31, 2009, we had outstanding under this 
agreement $259.0 million which consisted of approximately 10.95% of our total financing. In addition, we have entered into a RMBS 
repurchase agreement with RCap Securities, Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary of Annaly. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had no 
financing under this agreement.  

   

  

   ●  No investment shall be made that would cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes;  

   ●  No investment shall be made that would cause us to be regulated as an investment company under the 1940 Act;  

   ●  With the exception of real estate and housing, no single industry shall represent greater than 20% of the securities or aggregate risk 
exposure in our portfolio; and  

   ●  Investments in non-rated or deeply subordinated ABS or other securities that are non-qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% REIT 
asset test will be limited to an amount not to exceed 50% of our stockholders’  equity.  
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Subject to our maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we may use a number of sources to finance our investments, including the 

following:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Unlike typical securitization structures, the underlying assets may be sold, subject to certain limitations, without a corresponding pay-

down of the CDO, provided the proceeds are reinvested in qualifying assets.  As a result, CDOs enable the sponsor to actively manage, subject 
to certain limitations, the pool of assets.  We believe CDO financing structures may be an appropriate financing vehicle for our target asset 
classes because they will enable us to obtain relatively low, long-term cost of funds and minimize the risk that we may have to refinance our 
liabilities before the maturities of our investments, while giving us the flexibility to manage credit risk and, subject to certain limitations, to 
take advantage of profit opportunities.  
 
Our Interest Rate Hedging and Risk Management Strategy  
 

We may, from time to time, utilize derivative financial instruments to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with our 
borrowings.  Under the federal income tax laws applicable to REITs, we generally enter into certain transactions to hedge indebtedness that we 
incur, or plan to incur, to acquire or carry real estate assets, although our total gross income from such hedges and other non-qualifying sources 
must not exceed 25% of our gross income.  
 

We engage in a variety of interest rate management techniques that seek to mitigate changes in interest rates or other potential 
influences on the values of our assets.  The federal income tax rules applicable to REITs may require us to implement certain of these 
techniques through a TRS that is fully subject to corporate income taxation.  Our interest rate management techniques may include:  
 

 

 

 

 

   

  

   ●  Repurchase Agreements .  We finance certain of our assets through the use of repurchase agreements.  We anticipate that repurchase 
agreements will be one of the sources we will use to achieve our desired amount of leverage for our residential real estate assets.  We 
maintain formal relationships with multiple counterparties to obtain financing on favorable terms.  

   ●  Warehouse Facilities .  We may utilize credit facilities for capital needed to fund our assets.  We intend to maintain formal 
relationships with multiple counterparties to maintain warehouse lines on favorable terms.  

   ●  Securitization .  We have and may continue to acquire residential mortgage loans for our portfolio with the intention of securitizing 
them and retaining the securitized mortgage loans in our portfolio.  To facilitate the securitization or financing of our loans, we 
generally create subordinate certificates, providing a specified amount of credit enhancement, which we intend to retain in our 
portfolio.  

   ●  Asset-Backed Commercial Paper .  We may finance certain of our assets using asset-backed commercial paper, or ABCP, conduits, 
which are bankruptcy-remote special purpose vehicles that issue commercial paper and the proceeds of which are used to fund assets, 
either through repurchase or secured lending programs.  We may utilize ABCP conduits of third parties or create our own conduit.  

   ●  Term Financing CDOs .  We may finance certain of our assets using term financing strategies, including CDOs and other match-
funded financing structures.  CDOs are multiple class debt securities, or bonds, secured by pools of assets, such as mortgage-backed 
securities and corporate debt.  Like typical securitization structures, in a CDO:  

   o  the assets are pledged to a trustee for the benefit of the holders of the bonds;  
   o  one or more classes of the bonds are rated by one or more rating agencies; and  

   o  one or more classes of the bonds are marketed to a wide variety of fixed-income investors which enables the CDO sponsor to 
achieve a relatively low cost of long-term financing.  

   ●  puts and calls on securities or indices of securities;  

   ●  Eurodollar futures contracts and options on such contracts;  

   ●  interest rate caps, swaps and swaptions;  

   ●  U.S. Treasury securities and options on U.S. Treasury securities; and  

   ●  other similar transactions.  
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We attempt to reduce interest rate risks and to minimize exposure to interest rate fluctuations through the use of match funded 

financing structures, when appropriate, whereby we seek (i) to match the maturities of our debt obligations with the maturities of our assets and 
(ii) to match the interest rates on our investments with like-kind debt (i.e., floating rate assets are financed with floating rate debt and fixed-rate 
assets are financed with fixed-rate debt), directly or through the use of interest rate swaps, caps or other financial instruments, or through a 
combination of these strategies.  This will allow us to minimize the risk that we have to refinance our liabilities before the maturities of our 
assets and to reduce the impact of changing interest rates on our earnings.  
 
 Compliance with REIT and Investment Company Requirements  
 

We monitor our investment securities and the income from these securities and, to the extent we enter into hedging transactions, we 
monitor income from our hedging transactions as well, so as to ensure at all times that we maintain our qualification as a REIT and our exempt 
status under the 1940 Act.  
 
Employees  
 

We are externally managed and advised by our Manager pursuant to a management agreement as discussed below.  We have no 
employees other than our officers, each of whom is also an employee of our Manager or one of its affiliates.  Our Manager is not obligated to 
dedicate certain of its employees exclusively to us, nor is it or its employees obligated to dedicate any specific portion of its time to our 
business.  Our Manager uses the proceeds from its management fee in part to pay compensation to its officers and employees who, 
notwithstanding that certain of them also are our officers, receive no cash compensation directly from us.  
 
The Management Agreement  
 

We entered into a management agreement with our Manager with an initial term ending December 31, 2010, with automatic, one-year 
renewals at the end of each calendar year following the initial term, subject to approval by our independent directors.  Under the management 
agreement, our Manager implements our business strategy and performs certain services for us, subject to oversight by our board of 
directors.  Our Manager is responsible for, among other things, performing all of our day-to-day functions; determining investment criteria in 
conjunction with our board of directors; sourcing, analyzing and executing investments; asset sales and financings; and performing asset 
management duties.  
 

Our independent directors review our Manager’s performance annually, and following the initial term, the management agreement 
may be terminated by us without cause upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors, or by a vote of the holders 
of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock (other than shares held by Annaly or its affiliates), based upon: (i) our 
Manager’s unsatisfactory performance that is materially detrimental to us, or (ii) our determination that the management fees payable to our 
Manager are not fair, subject to our Manager’s right to prevent termination based on unfair fees by accepting a reduction of management fees 
agreed to by at least two-thirds of our independent directors.  We will provide our Manager with 180-days’ prior notice of such 
termination.  Upon termination without cause, we will pay our Manager a substantial termination fee.  We may also terminate the management 
agreement with 30 days’ prior notice from our board of directors, without payment of a termination fee, for cause or upon a change of control 
of Annaly or our Manager, each as defined in the management agreement. Our Manager may terminate the management agreement if we 
become required to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act, with such termination deemed to occur immediately before such 
event, in which case we would not be required to pay a termination fee.  Our Manager may also decline to renew the management agreement 
by providing us with 180-days’ written notice, in which case we would not be required to pay a termination fee.  
 

We pay our Manager a management fee quarterly in arrears in an amount equal to 1.50% per annum, calculated quarterly, of our 
stockholders’ equity.  For purposes of calculating the management fee, our stockholders’ equity means the sum of the net proceeds from any 
issuances of our equity securities since inception (allocated on a pro rata daily basis for such issuances during the fiscal quarter of any such 
issuance), plus our retained earnings at the end of such quarter  (without taking into account any non-cash equity compensation expense 
incurred in current or prior periods), less any amount that we pay for repurchases of our common stock, and less any unrealized gains, losses or 
other items that do not affect realized net income (regardless of whether such items are included in other comprehensive income, or OCI, or 
loss, or in net income).  This amount is adjusted to exclude one-time events pursuant to changes in generally accepted accounting principles, or 
GAAP, and certain non-cash charges after discussions between our Manager and our independent directors and approved by a majority of our 
independent directors.  The management fee will be reduced, but not below zero, by our proportionate share of any CDO base management 
fees FIDAC receives in connection with the CDOs in which we invest, based on the percentage of equity we hold in such CDOs.  The 
management fee is payable independent of the performance of our investment portfolio.  
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For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, our Manager earned management fees of $40.9 million, $25.7 million and 

$8.4 million, respectively and received expense reimbursement of $465 thousand, $0 and $0, respectively.  From our inception through 2009, 
our Manager waived its right to require us to pay our pro rata portion of rent, telephone, utilities, office furniture, equipment, machinery and 
other office, internal and overhead expenses of our Manager and its affiliates required for our operations.  
 
Competition  
 

Our net income depends, in large part, on our ability to acquire assets at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs. In acquiring real 
estate-related assets, we will compete with other mortgage REITs, specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage 
bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking firms, financial institutions, governmental bodies and 
other entities.  In addition, there are numerous mortgage REITs with similar asset acquisition objectives, including a number that have been 
recently formed, and others that may be organized in the future. These other REITs will increase competition for the available supply of 
mortgage assets suitable for purchase. Many of our competitors are significantly larger than we are, have access to greater capital and other 
resources and may have other advantages over us.  In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk 
assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish more favorable relationships than we can. 
Current market conditions may attract more competitors, which may increase the competition for sources of financing.  An increase in the 
competition for sources of funding could adversely affect the availability and cost of financing, and thereby adversely affect the market price of 
our common stock.  
 
Distributions  
 

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must distribute substantially all of our taxable income to our stockholders for each 
year.  We have declared and paid regular quarterly dividends in the past and intend to do so in the future.  
 
Available Information  
 

Our investor relations website is www.chimerareit.com.  We make available on the website under "Financial Information/SEC 
filings," free of charge, our annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K and any other 
reports (including any amendments to such reports) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such materials to the 
SEC. Information on our website, however, is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  All reports filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission may also be read and copied at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Further 
information regarding the operation of the public reference room may be obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330.  In addition, all of our filed 
reports can be obtained at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.  
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Item 1A.  Risk Factors  
 

If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely 
affected. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and stockholders may lose some or all of their investment.  
 

Risks Associated With Recent Adverse Developments in the Mortgage Finance and Credit Markets  
   

Difficult conditions in the financial markets and the economy generally have caused us and may continue to cause us market value 
losses related to our holdings, and we do not expect these conditions to improve in the near future.  
 

Our results of operations are materially affected by conditions in the mortgage market, the financial markets and the economy 
generally. Recently, concerns over inflation, energy costs, geopolitical issues, the availability and cost of credit, the mortgage market and a 
declining real estate market have contributed to increased volatility and diminished expectations for the economy and markets going forward. 
The mortgage market, including the market for prime and Alt-A loans, has been severely affected by changes in the lending landscape and 
there is no assurance that these conditions have stabilized or that they will not worsen. The severity of the liquidity limitation was largely 
unanticipated by the markets. For now (and for the foreseeable future), access to mortgages has been substantially limited. This has an impact 
on new demand for homes, which will compress the home ownership rates and weigh heavily on future home price performance. There is a 
strong correlation between home price growth rates and mortgage loan delinquencies. The market deterioration has caused us to expect 
increased losses related to our holdings and, during 2008, to sell assets at a loss.  Continued market deterioration may once again force us to 
sell assets at a loss.  
 

A substantial portion of our assets are classified for accounting purposes as “available-for-sale” and carried at fair value. Changes in 
the fair values of those assets are directly charged or credited to OCI. As a result, a decline in values may reduce the book value of our assets. 
Moreover, if the decline in value of an available-for-sale security is other than temporary, such decline will reduce earnings.  
 

All of our repurchase agreements and interest rate swap agreements are subject to bilateral margin calls in the event that the collateral 
securing our obligations under those facilities exceeds or does not meet our collateralization requirements.   For example, during 2008, due to 
the deterioration in the market value of our assets, we received and met margin calls under our repurchase agreements, which required us to 
obtain additional funding from third parties, including from Annaly, and taking other steps to increase our liquidity. Additionally, the 
disruptions during 2008 resulted in us not being in compliance with the net income covenant in one of our whole loan repurchase agreements 
and the liquidity covenants in our other whole loan repurchase agreement at a time during which we had no amounts outstanding under those 
facilities. We amended these covenants, and on July 29, 2008, we terminated those facilities to avoid paying non-usage fees.  We can provide 
no assurances that such events will not occur again and at a time when we cannot find additional funding which may result in us having to 
dispose of assets at an inopportune time when prices are depressed.  
 

Dramatic declines in the housing market, with falling home prices and increasing foreclosures and unemployment, have resulted in 
significant asset write-downs by financial institutions, which have caused many financial institutions to seek additional capital, to merge with 
other institutions and, in some cases, to fail. In addition, we rely on the availability of financing to acquire residential mortgage loans, real 
estate-related securities and real estate loans on a leveraged basis. Institutions from which we will seek to obtain financing may have owned or 
financed residential mortgage loans, real estate-related securities and real estate loans, which have declined in value and caused them to suffer 
losses as a result of the recent downturn in the residential mortgage market. Many lenders and institutional investors have reduced and, in some 
cases, ceased to provide funding to borrowers, including other financial institutions. If these conditions persist, these institutions may become 
insolvent or tighten their lending standards, which could make it more difficult for us to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all. Our 
profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain cost-effective financing for our investments.  
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Mortgage loan modification programs, future legislative action and changes in the requirements necessary to qualify for refinancing a 
mortgage may adversely affect the value of, and the returns on, the assets in which we invest.  
   

During the second half of 2008, in 2009, and in 2010, the U.S. government, through the Federal Housing Administration, or FHA, and 
the FDIC, implemented programs designed to provide homeowners with assistance in avoiding residential mortgage loan foreclosures 
including the Hope for Homeowners Act of 2008, which allows certain distressed borrowers to refinance their mortgages into FHA-insured 
loans and the Home Affordable Modification Program, or HAMP, which provides a detailed, uniform model for one-time modification of 
eligible residential mortgage loans.  The programs may also involve, among other things, the modification of mortgage loans to reduce the 
principal amount of the loans or the rate of interest payable on the loans, or to extend the payment terms of the loans.  Members of the U.S. 
Congress have indicated support for additional legislative relief for homeowners, including an amendment of the bankruptcy laws to permit the 
modification of mortgage loans in bankruptcy proceedings.  These loan modification programs, including future legislative or regulatory 
actions and amendments to the bankruptcy laws, that result in the modification of outstanding mortgage loans, as well as changes in the 
requirements necessary to qualify for refinancing a mortgage may adversely affect the value of, and the returns on, our non-Agency RMBS and 
Agency RMBS.  Depending on whether or not we purchased an instrument at a premium or discount, the yield we receive may be positively or 
negatively impacted by any modification.  
   
The U.S. Government's pressing for refinancing of certain loans may affect prepayment rates for mortgage loans in mortgage-backed 
securities.  
   

In addition to the increased pressure upon residential mortgage loan investors and servicers to engage in loss mitigation activities, the 
U.S. Government is pressing for refinancing of certain loans, and this encouragement may affect prepayment rates for mortgage loans in 
mortgage-backed securities.  In connection with government-related securities, in February 2009 President Obama unveiled the Homeowner 
Affordability and Stability Plan, which, in part, calls upon Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to loosen their eligibility criteria for the purchase of 
loans in order to provide access to low-cost refinancing for borrowers who are current on their mortgage payments but who cannot otherwise 
qualify to refinance at a lower market rate.  The major change was to permit an increase in the loan-to-value, or LTV, ratio of a refinancing 
loan eligible for sale up to 105%.  In July 2009, the FHFA authorized Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to raise the present LTV ratio ceiling of 
105% to 125%.  The charters governing the operations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac prohibit purchases of loans with loan to value ratios in 
excess of 80% unless the loans have mortgage insurance (or unless other types of credit enhancement are provided in accordance with the 
statutory requirements).  The FHFA, which regulates Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, determined that new mortgage insurance will not be 
required on the refinancing if the applicable entity already owns the loan or guarantees the related mortgage-backed securities.  Additionally, 
the Treasury reports that in some cases a new appraisal will not be necessary upon refinancing.  The Treasury estimates that up to 5,000,000 
homeowners with loans owned or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac may be eligible for this refinancing program, which has been 
extended to terminate in June 2011.  
 

The HERA authorized a voluntary FHA mortgage insurance program called HOPE for Homeowners, or H4H Program, designed to 
refinance certain delinquent borrowers into new FHA-insured loans.  The H4H Program targets delinquent borrowers under conventional 
mortgage loans, as well as under government-insured or -guaranteed mortgage loans, that were originated on or before January 1, 2008.  
Holders of existing mortgage loans being refinanced under the H4H Program must accept a write-down of principal and waive all prepayment 
fees.  While the use of the program has been extremely limited to date, Congress continues to amend the program to encourage its use.  The 
H4H Program is effective through September 30, 2011.  
 

The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development launched the FHA Short Refinance Option for people who owe more on 
their mortgage than their home is worth because their local markets saw large declines in home values. These people can refinance their 
mortgages into an FHA loan subject to certain conditions. This program, which the Administration estimates could help up to 3 million to 4 
million homeowners, is due to run through the end of 2012.  
 

To the extent these and other economic stabilization or stimulus efforts are successful in increasing prepayment speeds for residential 
mortgage loans, such as those in mortgage-backed securities, that could potentially harm our income and operating results, particularly in 
connection with loans or mortgage-backed securities purchased at a premium or our interest-only securities.  
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The actions of the U.S. government, Federal Reserve and Treasury, including the establishment of the TALF and the PPIP, may 
adversely affect our business.  
   

The TALF was first announced by the Treasury on November 25, 2008, and has been expanded in size and scope since its initial 
announcement.  Under the TALF, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York makes non-recourse loans to borrowers to fund their purchase of 
eligible assets, currently certain asset backed securities but not RMBS.  The nature of the eligible assets has been expanded several times.  The 
Treasury has stated that through its expansion of the TALF, non-recourse loans will be made available to investors to certain fund purchases of 
legacy securitization assets.  On March 23, 2009, the Treasury in conjunction with the FDIC, and the Federal Reserve, announced the PPIP. 
The PPIP aims to recreate a market for specific illiquid residential and commercial loans and securities through a number of joint public and 
private investment funds.  The PPIP is designed to draw new private capital into the market for these securities and loans by providing 
government equity co-investment and attractive public financing. The TALF program ended in June 2010.  
 

It is not possible to predict how the TALF, the PPIP, or other recent U.S. Government actions will impact the financial markets, 
including current significant levels of volatility, or our current or future investments.  To the extent the market does not respond favorably to 
these initiatives or they do not function as intended, our business may not receive any benefits from this legislation.  In addition, the U.S. 
government, Federal Reserve, Treasury and other governmental and regulatory bodies have taken or are considering taking other actions to 
address the financial crisis.  We cannot predict whether or when such actions may occur, and such actions could have a dramatic impact on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition.  
   
There can be no assurance that the actions of the U.S. Government, the Federal Reserve, the Treasury and other governmental and 
regulatory bodies for the purpose of stabilizing the financial markets, including the establishment of the TALF and the PPIP, or 
market response to those actions, will achieve the intended effect, that our business will benefit from these actions or that further 
government or market developments will not adversely impact us.  
   

In response to the financial issues affecting the banking system and the financial markets and going concern threats to investment 
banks and other financial institutions, the U.S. Government, the Federal Reserve, the Treasury and other governmental and regulatory bodies 
have taken action to attempt to stabilize the financial markets.  Significant measures include the enactment of the Economic Stabilization Act of 
2008, or the EESA, to, among other things, establish the Troubled Asset Relief Program, or the TARP; the enactment of the HERA, which 
established a new regulator for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; the establishment of the TALF; and the establishment of the PPIP.  
 

There can be no assurance that the EESA, HERA, TALF, PPIP or other recent U.S. Government actions will have a beneficial impact 
on the financial markets, including on current levels of volatility.  To the extent the market does not respond favorably to these initiatives or 
these initiatives do not function as intended, our business may not receive the anticipated positive impact from the legislation.  There can also 
be no assurance that we will be eligible to participate in any programs established by the U.S. Government such as the TALF or the PPIP or, if 
we are eligible, that we will be able to utilize them successfully or at all.  In addition, because the programs are designed, in part, to provide 
liquidity to restart the market for certain of our targeted assets, the establishment of these programs may result in increased competition for 
attractive opportunities in our targeted assets.  It is also possible that our competitors may utilize the programs which would provide them with 
attractive debt and equity capital funding from the U.S. Government. In addition, the U.S. Government, the Federal Reserve, the Treasury and 
other governmental and regulatory bodies have taken or are considering taking other actions to address the financial crisis.  We cannot predict 
whether or when such actions may occur, and such actions could have a dramatic impact on our business, results of operations and financial 
condition.  
 
The conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, their reliance upon the U.S. Government for solvency, and related efforts that 
may significantly affect Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and their relationship with the U.S. Government, may adversely affect our 
business, operations and financial condition.  
   

Due to increased market concerns about Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s ability to withstand future credit losses associated with 
securities held in their investment portfolios, and on which they provide guarantees, without the direct support of the U.S. Government 
Congress passed the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, or the HERA.  Among other things, the HERA established the Federal 
Housing Finance Agency, or FHFA, which has broad regulatory powers over Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  On September 6, 2008, the FHFA 
placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into conservatorship and, together with the Treasury, established a program designed to boost investor 
confidence in Fannie Mae’s and Freddie Mac’s debt and mortgage-backed securities.  As the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the 
FHFA controls and directs their operations and may (1) take over the assets of and operate Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac with all the powers of 
their shareholders, directors and officers of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and conduct all business of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; (2) collect 
all obligations and money due to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; (3) perform all functions of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac which are consistent 
with the conservator’s appointment; (4) preserve and conserve the assets and property of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac; and (5) contract for 
assistance in fulfilling any function, activity, action or duty of the conservator.  
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In addition to FHFA becoming the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the Treasury and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have 

entered into Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (or PSPAs) pursuant to which the Treasury has ensured that each of Fannie Mae and Freddie 
Mac maintains a positive net worth. On December 24, 2009, the Treasury amended the terms of the PSPAs to remove the $200 billion per 
institution limit established under the PSPAs until the end of 2012.  The Treasury also amended the PSPAs with respect to the requirements for 
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to reduce their portfolios.  
 

In addition, in 2008 the Federal Reserve established a program to purchase $100 billion in direct obligations of Fannie Mae, Freddie 
Mac and the Federal Home Loan Bank and $500 billion in Agency mortgage-backed securities. These targets were increased in March 2009 to 
$200 billion and $1.25 trillion of Agency debentures and Agency mortgage-backed securities, respectively. The Federal Reserve stated that its 
actions were intended to reduce the cost and increase the availability of credit for the purchase of houses, and were meant to support housing 
markets and foster improved conditions in financial markets more generally.  The Federal Reserve completed this program in March 2010.  
 

The problems faced by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac resulting in their placement into federal conservatorship and receipt of 
significant U.S. Government support have sparked debate among some federal policy makers regarding the continued role of the U.S. 
Government in providing liquidity for mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities.  With Fannie Mae’s and Freddie Mac’s future under 
debate, the nature of their guarantee obligations could be considerably limited relative to historical measurements.  Any changes to the nature 
of their guarantee obligations could redefine what constitutes a mortgage-backed security and could have broad adverse implications for the 
market and our business, operations and financial condition.  If Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac are eliminated, or their structures change radically 
(i.e., limitation or removal of the guarantee obligation), we may be unable to acquire Agency RMBS.   
 

Although the Treasury previously committed capital to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac through 2012, and in the White Paper the 
Treasury committed to providing sufficient capital to enable Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to meet their current and future guarantee 
obligations, there can be no assurance that these actions will be adequate for their needs. If these actions are inadequate, Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac could continue to suffer losses and could fail to honor their guarantees and other obligations.  Furthermore, the current credit 
support provided by the Treasury to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and any additional credit support it may provide in the future, could have 
the effect of lowering the interest rates we expect to receive from mortgage-backed securities, and tightening the spread between the interest we 
earn on our mortgage-backed securities and the cost of financing those assets.   
 

On February 11, 2011, the U.S Department of the Treasury (or Treasury) issued a White Paper titled “Reforming America's Housing 
Finance Market” (or the White Paper) that lays out, among other things, proposals to limit or potentially wind down the role that Fannie Mae 
and Freddie Mac play in the mortgage market.  Any such proposals, if enacted, may have broad adverse implications for the mortgage-backed 
securities market and our business, operations and financial condition.  We expect such proposals to be the subject of significant discussion and 
it is not yet possible to determine whether or when such proposals may be enacted, what form any final legislation or policies might take and 
how proposals, legislation or policies emanating from the White Paper may impact the mortgage-backed securities market and our business, 
operations and financial condition.  We are evaluating, and will continue to evaluate, the potential impact of the proposals set forth in the White 
Paper.  
 

Future policies that change the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. Government, including those that 
result in their winding down, nationalization, privatization, or elimination, may create market uncertainty and have the effect of reducing the 
actual or perceived credit quality of securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac.  As a result, such policies could increase the 
risk of loss on investments in mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and/or Freddie Mac.  It also is possible that such policies 
could adversely impact the market for such securities and spreads at which they trade.  All of the foregoing could materially and adversely 
affect our business, operations and financial condition.  
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We have received financing from Annaly which is a significant shareholder of ours and which owns our Manager.  
   

Our ability to fund our investments on a leveraged basis depends to a large extent upon our ability to secure warehouse, repurchase, 
credit, and/or commercial paper financing on acceptable terms. The current dislocation in the non-Agency mortgage sector has made it difficult 
for us to obtain short-term financing on favorable terms. As a result, we have completed loan securitizations in order to obtain long-term 
financing and terminated our un-utilized whole loan repurchase agreements in order to avoid paying non-usage fees under those agreements. In 
addition, commencing in 2008, we entered into a RMBS repurchase agreement with Annaly, which owns approximately 4.38% of our 
outstanding shares of common stock. This agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants contained in such 
agreements including Annaly having the right to make margin calls if the value of our RMBS collateralizing the agreement falls.  As of 
December 31, 2009, we had $259.0 million outstanding under this agreement which consists of approximately 10.95% of our total 
financing.  As of December 31, 2010, we had no amounts outstanding under this agreement.  We cannot assure you that Annaly will provide us 
with financing in the future. If Annaly does not provide us with financing at a time we are unable to obtain other financing, we could be forced 
to sell our assets at an inopportune time when prices are depressed.  
 

Risks Associated With Our Management and Relationship With Our Manager  
 
We are dependent on our Manager and its key personnel for our success.  
 

We have no separate facilities and are completely reliant on our Manager. We have no employees other than our officers.  Our officers 
are also employees of our Manager, which has significant discretion as to the implementation of our investment and operating policies and 
strategies.   Accordingly, we depend on the diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the senior management of our Manager.  Our 
Manager’s employees evaluate, negotiate, structure, close and monitor our investments; therefore, our success will depend on their continued 
service.  The departure of any of the senior managers of our Manager could have a material adverse effect on our performance.  In addition, we 
can offer no assurance that our Manager will remain our investment manager or that we will continue to have access to our Manager’s senior 
managers.  Our management agreement with our Manager only extends until December 31, 2011.  If the management agreement is terminated 
and no suitable replacement is found to manage us, we may not be able to execute our business plan.  Moreover, our Manager is not obligated 
to dedicate certain of its employees exclusively to us nor is it obligated to dedicate any specific portion of its time to our business, and none of 
our Manager’s employees are contractually dedicated to us under our management agreement with our Manager.  The only employees of our 
Manager who are primarily dedicated to our operations are Matthew Lambiase, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Alexandra Denahan, 
our Chief Financial Officer, Christian J. Woschenko, our Head of Investments, and William B. Dyer, our Head of Underwriting.  
 
There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with our Manager and Annaly, which could result in decisions that are not in the best 
interests of our stockholders.  
 

We are subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationship with Annaly and our Manager.  An Annaly executive officer is 
our Manager’s sole director, two of Annaly’s employees are our directors and several of Annaly’s employees are officers of our Manager and 
us.   Specifically, each of our officers also serves as an employee of our Manager or its affiliates.   As a result, our Manager and our officers 
may have conflicts between their duties to us and their duties to, and interests in, Annaly or our Manager.   There may also be conflicts in 
allocating investments which are suitable both for us and Annaly as well as other FIDAC managed investment vehicles, including CreXus 
Investment Corp., or CreXus, a public specialty finance company that acquires, manages, and finances, directly or through its subsidiaries, 
commercial mortgage loans and other commercial real estate debt, CMBS, and other commercial real estate-related assets.  Annaly owns 
approximately 4.5 million shares of common stock of CreXus.  Annaly and CreXus    may compete with us with respect to certain investments 
which we may want to acquire, and as a result we may either not be presented with the opportunity or have to compete with Annaly to acquire 
these investments.   Our Manager and our officers may choose to allocate favorable investments to Annaly or CreXus instead of to us.   The 
ability of our Manager and its officers and employees to engage in other business activities may reduce the time our Manager spends managing 
us.   Further, during turbulent conditions in the mortgage industry, distress in the credit markets or other times when we will need focused 
support and assistance from our Manager, other entities for which our Manager also acts as an investment manager will likewise require greater 
focus and attention, placing our Manager’s resources in high demand.   In such situations, we may not receive the necessary support and 
assistance we require or would otherwise receive if we were internally managed or if our Manager did not act as a manager for other 
entities.   There is no assurance that the allocation policy that addresses some of the conflicts relating to our investments will be adequate to 
address all of the conflicts that may arise.  In addition, we have entered into a repurchase agreement with Annaly, our Manager’s parent, to 
finance our RMBS.  This financing arrangement may make us less likely to terminate our Manager.  It could also give rise to further conflicts 
because Annaly may be a creditor of ours.  As one of our creditors, Annaly’s interests may diverge from the interests of our stockholders.  
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We pay our Manager substantial management fees regardless of the performance of our portfolio.   Our Manager’s entitlement to 

substantial nonperformance-based compensation might reduce its incentive to devote its time and effort to seeking investments that provide 
attractive risk-adjusted returns for our portfolio.   This in turn could hurt both our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the 
market price of our common stock.  Annaly owns approximately 4.38% of our outstanding shares of common stock which entitles them to 
receive quarterly distributions.  In evaluating investments and other management strategies, this may lead our Manager to place emphasis on 
the maximization of revenues at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital.  Investments with higher yield potential are 
generally riskier or more speculative. This could result in increased risk to the value of our invested portfolio.  Annaly may sell the shares in us 
purchased concurrently with our initial public offering at any time.  Annaly may sell the shares in us purchased immediately after our 2008 
secondary offering at any time after the earlier of (i) October 24, 2011 or (ii) the termination of the management agreement.  Annaly may sell 
the shares in us that it purchased immediately after our April 15, 2009 secondary offering at any time after the earlier of (i) April 15, 2012 or 
(ii) the termination of the management agreement. Annaly may sell the shares in us that it purchased immediately after our May 27, 2009 
secondary offering at any time after the earlier of (i) May 27, 2012 or (ii) the termination of the management agreement.  To the extent Annaly 
sells some of its shares, its interests may be less aligned with our interests.  
 
The management agreement with our Manager was not negotiated on an arm’s-length basis and may not be as favorable to us as if it 
had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party and may be costly and difficult to terminate.  
 

Our president, chief financial officer, head of investments, treasurer, controller, secretary and head of underwriting also serve as 
employees of our Manager.   In addition, certain of our directors are employees of our Manager or its affiliates.   Our management agreement 
with our Manager was negotiated between related parties, and its terms, including fees payable, may not be as favorable to us as if it had been 
negotiated with an unaffiliated third party. Termination of the management agreement with our Manager without cause is difficult and costly. 
Our independent directors review our Manager’s performance and the management fees annually, the management agreement may be 
terminated annually by us without cause upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors, or by a vote of the holders 
of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock (other than those shares held by Annaly or its affiliates), based upon: (i) 
our Manager’s unsatisfactory performance that is materially detrimental to us, or (ii) a determination that the management fees payable to our 
Manager are not fair, subject to our Manager’s right to prevent termination based on unfair fees by accepting a reduction of management fees 
agreed to by at least two-thirds of our independent directors. Our Manager must be provided 180-days’ prior notice of any such termination. 
Additionally, upon such termination, the management agreement provides that we will pay our Manager a termination fee equal to three times 
the average annual base management fee calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter.   These provisions may 
adversely affect our ability to terminate our Manager without cause. The management agreement is renewable on an annual basis, however, our 
Manager may terminate the management agreement annually upon 180-days’ prior notice.   If the management agreement is terminated and no 
suitable replacement is found to manage us, we may not be able to execute our business plan.  
 
Our board of directors approved very broad investment guidelines for our Manager and will not approve each investment decision 
made by our Manager.  
 

Our Manager is authorized to follow very broad investment guidelines.   Our board of directors periodically reviews our investment 
guidelines and our investment portfolio, but does not, and is not required to review all of our proposed investments or any type or category of 
investment, except that an investment in a security structured or managed by our Manager must be approved by a majority of our independent 
directors.   In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, our board of directors relies primarily on information provided to them by our 
Manager.   Furthermore, our Manager uses complex strategies, and transactions entered into by our Manager may be difficult or impossible to 
unwind by the time they are reviewed by our board of directors.   Our Manager has great latitude within the broad investment guidelines in 
determining the types of assets it may decide are proper investments for us, which could result in investment returns that are substantially 
below expectations or that result in losses, which would materially and adversely affect our business operations and results.   Further, decisions 
made and investments entered into by our Manager may not be in the best interests of our stockholders.  
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We may change our investment strategy, asset allocation, or financing plans without stockholder consent, which may result in riskier 
investments.  
 

We may change our investment strategy, asset allocation, or financing plans at any time without the consent of our stockholders, 
which could result in our making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments described in this Form 10-K.  A 
change in our investment strategy or financing plans may increase our exposure to interest rate and default risk and real estate market 
fluctuations. Furthermore, a change in our asset allocation could result in our making investments in asset categories different from those 
described in this Form 10-K. These changes could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions 
to our stockholders.  
 

While investments in investment vehicles managed by our Manager require approval by a majority of our independent directors, our 
Manager has an incentive to invest our funds in investment vehicles managed by our Manager because of the possibility of generating an 
additional incremental management fee, which may reduce other investment opportunities available to us.  In addition, we cannot assure you 
that investments in investment vehicles managed by our Manager will prove beneficial to us.  
 
We may invest in CDOs managed by our Manager, including the purchase or sale of all or a portion of the equity of such CDOs, which 
may result in an immediate loss in book value and present a conflict of interest between us and our Manager.  
 

We may invest in securities of CDOs managed by our Manager. If all of the securities of a CDO managed by our Manager were not 
fully placed as a result of our not investing, our Manager could experience losses due to changes in the value of the underlying investments 
accumulated in anticipation of the launch of such investment vehicle. The accumulated investments in a CDO transaction are generally sold at 
the price at which they were purchased and not the prevailing market price at closing. Accordingly, to the extent we invest in a portion of the 
equity securities for which there has been a deterioration of value since the securities were purchased, we would experience an immediate loss 
equal to the decrease in the market value of the underlying investment. As a result, the interests of our Manager in our investing in such a CDO 
may conflict with our interests and that of our stockholders.  
 
Our investment focus is different from those of other entities that are or have been managed by our Manager.  
 

Our investment focus is different from those of other entities that are or have been managed by our Manager. In particular, entities 
managed by our Manager have not purchased whole mortgage loans or structured whole loan securitizations. In addition, our Manager has 
limited experience in managing CDOs and investing in CDOs, non-Agency RMBS, CMBS and other ABS which we may pursue as part of our 
investment strategy. Accordingly, our Manager’s historical returns are not indicative of its performance for our investment strategy and we can 
offer no assurance that our Manager will replicate the historical performance of the Manager’s investment professionals in their previous 
endeavors. Our investment returns could be substantially lower than the returns achieved by our Manager’s investment professionals’ previous 
endeavors.  
 
We compete with investment vehicles of our Manager for access to our Manager’s resources and investment opportunities.  
 

Our Manager provides investment and financial advice to a number of investment vehicles, including CreXus, and some of our 
Manager’s personnel are also employees of Annaly and in that capacity are involved in Annaly’s investment process. Accordingly, we will 
compete with our Manager’s other investment vehicles and with Annaly for our Manager’s resources. Our Manager may sponsor and manage 
other investment vehicles with an investment focus that overlaps with ours, which could result in us competing for access to the benefits that 
we expect our relationship with our Manager will provide to us.  
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Risks Related To Our Business  

 
Failure to procure adequate capital and funding on favorable terms, or at all, would adversely affect our results and may, in turn, 
negatively affect the market price of shares of our common stock and our ability to distribute dividends to our stockholders.  
 

The capital and credit markets have been experiencing extreme volatility and disruption since August 2007.  The volatility and 
disruption have reached unprecedented levels. In some cases, the markets have exerted downward pressure on stock prices and credit capacity 
for certain lenders.  We depend upon the availability of adequate funding and capital for our operations.  We intend to finance our assets over 
the long-term through a variety of means, including repurchase agreements, credit facilities, securitizations, commercial paper and CDOs.  Our 
access to capital depends upon a number of factors over which we have little or no control, including:  
 

 
The current situation in the mortgage sector and the current weakness in the broader credit markets could adversely affect one or more 

of our potential lenders and could cause one or more of our lenders or potential lenders to be unwilling or unable to provide us with financing. 
In general, this could potentially increase our financing costs and reduce our liquidity or require us to sell assets at an inopportune time or price. 
 

We have and expect to use a number of sources to finance our investments, including repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, 
securitizations, asset-backed commercial paper and term CDOs. Current market conditions have affected the cost and availability of financing 
from each of these sources — and their individual providers — to different degrees; some sources generally are unavailable, some are available 
but at a high cost, and some are largely unaffected. For example, in the repurchase agreement market, borrowers have been affected differently 
depending on the type of security they are financing. Non-Agency RMBS have been harder to finance, depending on the type of assets 
collateralizing the RMBS. The amount, term and margin requirements associated with these types of financings have been negatively impacted. 
 

 Currently, warehouse facilities to finance whole loan prime residential mortgages are generally available from major banks, but at 
significantly higher cost and greater margin requirements than previously offered. Many major banks that offer warehouse facilities have also 
reduced the amount of capital available to new entrants and consequently the size of those facilities offered now are smaller than those 
previously available.  
 

It is currently a challenging market to term finance whole loans through securitization or bonds issued by a CDO structure. The highly 
rated senior bonds in these securitizations and CDO structures currently have liquidity, but at much wider spreads than issues priced earlier this 
year. The junior subordinate tranches of these structures currently have few buyers and current market conditions have forced issuers to retain 
these lower rated bonds rather than sell them.  
   

Certain issuers of ABCP, have been unable to place (or roll) their securities, which has resulted, in some instances, in forced sales of 
RMBS, and other securities which has further negatively impacted the market value of these assets.  These market conditions are fluid and 
likely to change over time.  
   

As a result, the execution of our investment strategy may be dictated by the cost and availability of financing from these different 
sources.  
   

In addition, the impairment of other financial institutions could negatively affect us.  If one or more major market participants fails or 
otherwise experience a major liquidity crisis, as was the case for Bear Stearns & Co. in March 2008, and Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. in 
September 2008, it could adversely affect the marketability of all fixed income securities and this could negatively impact the value of the 
securities we acquire, thus reducing our net book value.  

   

  

   ●  general market conditions;  
   ●  the market’s perception of our growth potential;  
   ●  our current and potential future earnings and cash distributions;  
   ●  the market price of the shares of our capital stock; and  
   ●  the market’s view of the quality of our assets.  
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Furthermore, if any of our potential lenders or any of our lenders are unwilling or unable to provide us with financing, we could be 

forced to sell our securities or residential mortgage loans at an inopportune time when prices are depressed.  
   

Our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected by disruptions in the financial 
markets.  We cannot assure you, under such extreme conditions, that these markets will remain an efficient source of long-term financing for 
our assets.  If our strategy is not viable, we will have to find alternative forms of financing for our assets, which may not be available.  Further, 
as a REIT, we are required to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for 
dividends paid and excluding net capital gain, to our stockholders and are therefore not able to retain significant amounts of our earnings for 
new investments.  We cannot assure you that any, or sufficient, funding or capital will be available to us in the future on terms that are 
acceptable to us.  If we cannot obtain sufficient funding on acceptable terms, there may be a negative impact on the market price of our 
common stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.  Moreover, our ability to grow will be dependent on our ability to 
procure additional funding.  To the extent we are not able to raise additional funds through the issuance of additional equity or borrowings, our 
growth will be constrained.  
 
We operate in a highly competitive market for investment opportunities and more established competitors may be able to compete 
more effectively for investment opportunities than we can.  
 

A number of entities compete with us to make the types of investments that we plan to make. We compete with other REITs, public 
and private funds, commercial and investment banks and commercial finance companies. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and 
have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. Several other REITs have recently raised, or are expected to 
raise, significant amounts of capital, and may have investment objectives that overlap with ours, which may create competition for investment 
opportunities. Some competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources that are not available to us. In addition, some of 
our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of 
investments and establish more favorable relationships than us. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures we face will not have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Also, as a result of this competition, we may not be able 
to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities from time to time, and we can offer no assurance that we will be able to identify and 
make investments that are consistent with our investment objectives.  
 
Loss of our 1940 Act exemption would adversely affect us and negatively affect the market price of shares of our common stock and 
our ability to distribute dividends and could result in the termination of the management agreement with our Manager.  
   

We conduct our operations so that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are required to register as an investment company under the 
1940 Act. Because we are a holding company that will conduct its businesses primarily through wholly-owned subsidiaries, the securities 
issued by these subsidiaries that are excepted from the definition of “investment company” under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 
Act, together with any other investment securities we may own, may not have a combined value in excess of 40% of the value of our adjusted 
total assets on an unconsolidated basis. This requirement limits the types of businesses in which we may engage through our subsidiaries. In 
addition, the assets we and our subsidiaries may acquire are limited by the provisions of the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations promulgated 
under the 1940 Act and SEC staff interpretative guidance, which may adversely affect our performance.  
   

If the value of securities issued by our subsidiaries that are excepted from the definition of “investment company” by Section 3(c)(1) 
or 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act, together with any other investment securities we own, exceeds 40% of our adjusted total assets on an unconsolidated 
basis, or if one or more of such subsidiaries fail to maintain an exception or exemption from the 1940 Act, we could, among other things, be 
required either (a) to substantially change the manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid being required to register as an investment 
company or (b) to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act, either of which could have an adverse effect on us and the market 
price of our securities. If we were required to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act, we would become subject to substantial 
regulation with respect to our capital structure (including our ability to use leverage), management, operations, transactions with affiliated 
persons (as defined in the 1940 Act), portfolio composition, including restrictions with respect to diversification and industry concentration, 
and other matters.  
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We expect certain subsidiaries to rely upon the exemption from registration as an investment company under the 1940 Act pursuant to 

Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act, which is available for entities “primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring 
mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate.” This exemption generally requires that at least 55% of these subsidiaries’ assets must 
be comprised of qualifying real estate assets and at least 80% of each of their portfolios must be comprised of qualifying real estate assets and 
real estate-related assets under the 1940 Act. We expect each of our subsidiaries relying on Section 3(c)(5)(C) to rely on guidance published by 
the SEC staff or on our analyses of guidance published with respect to other types of assets to determine which assets are qualifying real estate 
assets and real estate-related assets. If the SEC staff publishes new or different guidance with respect to these matters, we may be required to 
adjust our strategy accordingly. In addition, we may be limited in our ability to make certain investments and these limitations could result in 
the subsidiary holding assets we might wish to sell or selling assets we might wish to hold.  
   

Certain of our subsidiaries may rely on the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(6) which excludes from the definition of “investment 
company” any company primarily engaged, directly or through majority-owned subsidiaries, in a business, among others, described in Section 
3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act (from which not less than 25% of such company's gross income during its last fiscal year was derived) together with 
an additional business or additional businesses other than investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities. The SEC staff has 
issued little interpretive guidance with respect to Section 3(c)(6) and any guidance published by the staff could require us to adjust our strategy 
accordingly.  
   

We expect certain of our subsidiaries we may form in the future to rely on Section 3(c)(7) for their 1940 Act exemption and, therefore 
our interest in each of these subsidiaries would constitute an “investment security” for purposes of determining whether we pass the 40% test.  
   

We may in the future, however, organize one or more subsidiaries that seek to rely on the 1940 Act exemption provided to certain 
structured financing vehicles by Rule 3a-7.  If we organize subsidiaries that rely on Rule 3a-7 for an exemption from the 1940 Act, these 
subsidiaries will also need to comply with the restrictions described in “Business—Operating and Regulatory Structure—1940 Act 
Exemption.” In general, Rule 3a-7 exempts from the 1940 Act issuers that limit their activities as follows:  
   

●            the issuer issues securities the payment of which depends primarily on the cash flow from “eligible assets” that by their terms 
convert into cash within a finite time period;  
   

●            the securities sold are fixed income securities rated investment grade by at least one rating agency (fixed income securities 
which are unrated or rated below investment grade may be sold to institutional accredited investors and any securities may be sold to “qualified 
institutional buyers” and to persons involved in the organization or operation of the issuer);  
   

●            the issuer acquires and disposes of eligible assets (1) only in accordance with the agreements pursuant to which the securities 
are issued, (2) so that the acquisition or disposition does not result in a downgrading of the issuer’s fixed income securities and (3) the eligible 
assets are not acquired or disposed of for the primary purpose of recognizing gains or decreasing losses resulting from market value changes; 
and  
   

●            unless the issuer is issuing only commercial paper, the issuer appoints an independent trustee, takes reasonable steps to 
transfer to the trustee an ownership or perfected security interest in the eligible assets, and meets rating agency requirements for commingling 
of cash flows.  
   

Any subsidiary also would need to be structured to comply with any guidance that may be issued by the Division of Investment 
Management of the SEC on how the subsidiary must be organized to comply with the restrictions contained in Rule 3a-7. Compliance with 
Rule 3a-7 may require that the indenture governing the subsidiary include additional limitations on the types of assets the subsidiary may sell 
or acquire out of the proceeds of assets that mature, are refinanced or otherwise sold, on the period of time during which such transactions may 
occur, and on the amount of transactions that may occur. In light of the requirements of Rule 3a-7, our ability to manage assets held in a special 
purpose subsidiary that complies with Rule 3a-7 will be limited and we may not be able to purchase or sell assets owned by that subsidiary 
when we would otherwise desire to do so, which could lead to losses. Initially, we will limit the aggregate value of our interests in our 
subsidiaries that may in the future seek to rely on Rule 3a-7 to 20% or less of our total assets on an unconsolidated basis, as we continue to 
discuss with the SEC staff the use of subsidiaries that rely on Rule 3a-7 to finance our operations.  
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The determination of whether an entity is a majority-owned subsidiary of our company is made by us. The 1940 Act defines a 

majority-owned subsidiary of a person as a company of which 50% or more of the outstanding voting securities are owned by such person, or 
by another company which is a majority-owned subsidiary of such person. The 1940 Act further defines voting securities as any security 
presently entitling the owner or holder thereof to vote for the election of directors of a company. We treat companies in which we own at least a 
majority of the outstanding voting securities as majority-owned subsidiaries for purposes of the 40% test. We have not requested the SEC to 
approve our treatment of any company as a majority-owned subsidiary and the SEC has not done so. If the SEC were to disagree with our 
treatment of one or more companies as majority-owned subsidiaries, we would need to adjust our strategy and our assets in order to continue to 
pass the 40% test. Any such adjustment in our strategy could have a material adverse effect on us.  
   

There can be no assurance that the laws and regulations governing the 1940 Act status of REITs, including the Division of Investment 
Management of the SEC providing more specific or different guidance regarding these exemptions, will not change in a manner that adversely 
affects our operations. If we or our subsidiaries fail to maintain an exception or exemption from the 1940 Act, we could, among other things, be 
required either to (a) change the manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid being required to register as an investment company, (b) 
effect sales of our assets in a manner that, or at a time when, we would not otherwise choose to do so, or (c) register as an investment company, 
any of which could negatively affect the value of our common stock, the sustainability of our business model, and our ability to make 
distributions which could have an adverse effect on our business and the market price for our shares of common stock.  
   
Rapid changes in the values of our RMBS, residential mortgage loans, and other real estate-related investments may make it more 
difficult for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT or our exemption from the 1940 Act.  
   

If the market value or income potential of our RMBS, residential mortgage loans, and other real estate-related investments declines as 
a result of increased interest rates, prepayment rates or other factors, we may need to increase our real estate investments and income or 
liquidate our non-qualifying assets to maintain our REIT qualification or our exemption from the 1940 Act. If the decline in real estate asset 
values or income occurs quickly, this may be especially difficult to accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of any 
non-real estate assets we may own. We may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent the REIT and 1940 
Act considerations.  
 
We leverage our investments, which may adversely affect our return on our investments and may reduce cash available for 
distribution to our stockholders.  
 

We leverage our investments through borrowings, generally through the use of repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, credit 
facilities, securitizations, commercial paper and CDOs. We are not required to maintain any specific debt-to-equity ratio. The amount of 
leverage we use varies depending on our ability to obtain credit facilities, the lenders’ and rating agencies’ estimates of the stability of the 
investments’ cash flow, and our assessment of the appropriate amount of leverage for the particular assets we are funding. Under some credit 
facilities, we expect to be required to maintain minimum average cash balances in connection with borrowings. Our return on our investments 
and cash available for distribution to our stockholders may be reduced to the extent that changes in market conditions prevent us from 
leveraging our investments, require us to decrease our rate of leverage, increase the amount of collateral we post, or increase the cost of our 
financing relative to the income that can be derived from the assets acquired. Our debt service payments will reduce cash flow available for 
distributions to stockholders, which could adversely affect the price of our common stock. We may not be able to meet our debt service 
obligations, and, to the extent that we cannot, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure or sale to satisfy the obligations. We 
leverage certain of our assets through repurchase agreements. A decrease in the value of these assets may lead to margin calls which we will 
have to satisfy. We may not have the funds available to satisfy any such margin calls and we may be forced to sell assets at significantly 
depressed prices due to market conditions or otherwise. The satisfaction of such margin calls may reduce cash flow available for distribution to 
our stockholders. Any reduction in distributions to our stockholders or sales of assets at inopportune times or prices may cause the value of our 
common stock to decline, in some cases, precipitously.  
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We depend on warehouse and repurchase facilities, credit facilities and commercial paper to execute our business plan, and our 
inability to access funding could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and business.  
 

Our ability to fund our investments depends to a large extent upon our ability to secure warehouse, repurchase, credit, and commercial 
paper financing on acceptable terms. We can provide no assurance that we will be successful in establishing sufficient warehouse, repurchase, 
and credit facilities and issuing commercial paper. In addition, because warehouse, repurchase, and credit facilities and commercial paper are 
short-term commitments of capital, the lenders may respond to market conditions, which may favor an alternative investment strategy for them, 
making it more difficult for us to secure continued financing. During certain periods of the credit cycle, such as recently, lenders may curtail 
their willingness to provide financing. If we are not able to renew our then existing warehouse, repurchase, and credit facilities and issue 
commercial paper or arrange for new financing on terms acceptable to us, or if we default on our covenants or are otherwise unable to access 
funds under any of these facilities, we will have to curtail our asset acquisition activities.  
 

 It is possible that the lenders that provide us with financing could experience changes in their ability to advance funds to us, 
independent of our performance or the performance of our investments, including our mortgage loans. In addition, if the regulatory capital 
requirements imposed on our lenders change, they may be required to significantly increase the cost of the warehouse facilities that they 
provide to us. Our lenders also may revise their eligibility requirements for the types of residential mortgage loans they are willing to finance or 
the terms of such financings, based on, among other factors, the regulatory environment and their management of perceived risk, particularly 
with respect to assignee liability. Financing of equity-based lending, for example, may become more difficult in the future. Moreover, the 
amount of financing we will receive under our warehouse and repurchase facilities will be directly related to the lenders’ valuation of the assets 
that secure the outstanding borrowings. Typically warehouse, repurchase, and credit facilities grant the respective lender the absolute right to 
reevaluate the market value of the assets that secure outstanding borrowings at any time. If a lender determines in its sole discretion that the 
value of the assets has decreased, it has the right to initiate a margin call. A margin call would require us to transfer additional assets to such 
lender without any advance of funds from the lender for such transfer or to repay a portion of the outstanding borrowings. Any such margin call 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, business, liquidity and ability to make distributions to our 
stockholders, and could cause the value of our common stock to decline. We may be forced to sell assets at significantly depressed prices to 
meet such margin calls and to maintain adequate liquidity, which could cause us to incur losses. Moreover, to the extent we are forced to sell 
assets at such time, given market conditions, we may be forced to sell assets at the same time as others facing similar pressures to sell similar 
assets, which could greatly exacerbate a difficult market environment and which could result in our incurring significantly greater losses on our 
sale of such assets. In an extreme case of market duress, a market may not even be present for certain of our assets at any price.  
 
Certain financing facilities may contain covenants that restrict our operations and may inhibit our ability to grow our business and 
increase revenues.  
 

Certain financing facilities we may enter into may contain extensive restrictions, covenants, and representations and warranties that, 
among other things, require us to satisfy specified financial, asset quality, loan eligibility and loan performance tests. If we fail to meet or 
satisfy any of these covenants or representations and warranties, we would be in default under these agreements and our lenders could elect to 
declare all amounts outstanding under the agreements to be immediately due and payable, enforce their respective interests against collateral 
pledged under such agreements and restrict our ability to make additional borrowings. Certain financing agreements may contain cross-default 
provisions, so that if a default occurs under any one agreement, the lenders under our other agreements could also declare a default. The 
covenants and restrictions we expect in our financing facilities may restrict our ability to, among other things:  
 

   

  

  ●  incur or guarantee additional debt;  
   ●  make certain investments or acquisitions;  

   ●  make distributions on or repurchase or redeem capital stock;  
   ●  engage in mergers or consolidations;  
   ●  finance mortgage loans with certain attributes;  
   ●  reduce liquidity below certain levels;  

   ●  grant liens;  
   ●  incur operating losses for more than a specified period;  
   ●  enter into transactions with affiliates; and  

   ●  hold mortgage loans for longer than established time periods.  
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These restrictions may interfere with our ability to obtain financing, including the financing needed to qualify as a REIT, or to engage 

in other business activities, which may significantly harm our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. A default and 
resulting repayment acceleration could significantly reduce our liquidity, which could require us to sell our assets to repay amounts due and 
outstanding. This could also significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and our ability to make distributions, 
which could cause the value of our common stock to decline. A default will also significantly limit our financing alternatives such that we will 
be unable to pursue our leverage strategy, which could curtail our investment returns.  
 
The repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities and credit facilities and commercial paper that we use to finance our investments may 
require us to provide additional collateral and may restrict us from leveraging our assets as fully as desired.  
 

We will try to use repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, credit facilities and commercial paper to finance our investments. We 
currently have uncommitted repurchase agreements with 23 counterparties, including Annaly, for financing our RMBS.  Our repurchase 
agreements are uncommitted and the counterparty may refuse to advance funds under the agreements to us.  If the market value of the loans or 
securities pledged or sold by us to a funding source decline in value, we may be required by the lending institution to provide additional 
collateral or pay down a portion of the funds advanced, but we may not have the funds available to do so. Posting additional collateral will 
reduce our liquidity and limit our ability to leverage our assets, which could adversely affect our business. In the event we do not have 
sufficient liquidity to meet such requirements, lending institutions can accelerate repayment of our indebtedness, increase our borrowing rates, 
liquidate our collateral or terminate our ability to borrow. Such a situation would likely result in a rapid deterioration of our financial condition 
and possibly necessitate a filing for protection under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Further, financial institutions may require us to maintain a 
certain amount of cash that is not invested or to set aside non-levered assets sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position which would 
allow us to satisfy our collateral obligations. As a result, we may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we would choose which could 
reduce our return on equity. If we are unable to meet these collateral obligations, then, as described above, our financial condition could 
deteriorate rapidly.  
 
If the counterparty to our repurchase transactions defaults on its obligation to resell the underlying security back to us at the end of 
the transaction term, or if the value of the underlying security has declined as of the end of that term or if we default on our obligations 
under the repurchase agreement, we will lose money on our repurchase transactions.  
 

When we engage in a repurchase transaction, we generally sell securities to the transaction counterparty and receive cash from the 
counterparty. The counterparty is obligated to resell the securities back to us at the end of the term of the transaction, which is typically 30-90 
days. Because the cash we receive from the counterparty when we initially sell the securities to the counterparty is less than the value of those 
securities (this difference is referred to as the haircut), if the counterparty defaults on its obligation to resell the securities back to us we would 
incur a loss on the transaction equal to the amount of the haircut (assuming there was no change in the value of the securities). We would also 
lose money on a repurchase transaction if the value of the underlying securities has declined as of the end of the transaction term, as we would 
have to repurchase the securities for their initial value but would receive securities worth less than that amount. Any losses we incur on our 
repurchase transactions could adversely affect our earnings, and thus our cash available for distribution to our stockholders. If we default on 
one of our obligations under a repurchase transaction, the counterparty can terminate the transaction and cease entering into any other 
repurchase transactions with us. In that case, we would likely need to establish a replacement repurchase facility with another repurchase dealer 
in order to continue to leverage our portfolio and carry out our investment strategy. There is no assurance we would be able to establish a 
suitable replacement facility.  
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Our rights under our repurchase agreements are subject to the effects of the bankruptcy laws in the event of the bankruptcy or 
insolvency of us or our lenders under the repurchase agreements.  
 

In the event of our insolvency or bankruptcy, certain repurchase agreements may qualify for special treatment under the U.S. 
Bankruptcy Code, the effect of which, among other things, would be to allow the lender under the applicable repurchase agreement to avoid the 
automatic stay provisions of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and to foreclose on the collateral agreement without delay. In the event of the 
insolvency or bankruptcy of a lender during the term of a repurchase agreement, the lender may be permitted, under applicable insolvency 
laws, to repudiate the contract, and our claim against the lender for damages may be treated simply as an unsecured creditor. In addition, if the 
lender is a broker or dealer subject to the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970, or an insured depository institution subject to the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Act, our ability to exercise our rights to recover our securities under a repurchase agreement or to be compensated for any 
damages resulting from the lender’s insolvency may be further limited by those statutes. These claims would be subject to significant delay 
and, if and when received, may be substantially less than the damages we actually incur.  
 
An increase in our borrowing costs relative to the interest we receive on our assets may adversely affect our profitability, and thus our 
cash available for distribution to our stockholders.  
 

As our repurchase agreements and other short-term borrowings mature, we will be required either to enter into new borrowings or to 
sell certain of our investments. An increase in short-term interest rates at the time that we seek to enter into new borrowings would reduce the 
spread between our returns on our assets and the cost of our borrowings. This would adversely affect our returns on our assets that are subject 
to prepayment risk, including our mortgage-backed securities, which might reduce earnings and, in turn, cash available for distribution to our 
stockholders.  
 
If we issue senior securities we will be exposed to additional risks.  
 

If we decide to issue senior securities in the future, it is likely that they will be governed by an indenture or other instrument 
containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future 
may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our common stock and may result in dilution to owners of our 
common stock. We and, indirectly, our stockholders, will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities.  
 
Our securitizations will expose us to additional risks.  
 

We have and expect to continue to securitize certain of our portfolio investments to generate cash for funding new investments. We 
expect to structure these transactions either as financing transactions or as sales for GAAP.  In each such transaction, we convey a pool of 
assets to a special purpose vehicle, the issuing entity, and the issuing entity issues one or more classes of non-recourse notes pursuant to the 
terms of an indenture. The notes are secured by the pool of assets. In exchange for the transfer of assets to the issuing entity, we receive the 
cash proceeds of the sale of non-recourse notes and a 100% interest in the equity of the issuing entity. The securitization of our portfolio 
investments might magnify our exposure to losses on those portfolio investments because any equity interest we retain in the issuing entity 
would be subordinate to the notes issued to investors and we would, therefore, absorb all of the losses sustained with respect to a securitized 
pool of assets before the owners of the notes experience any losses. Moreover, we cannot be assured that we will be able to access the 
securitization market, or be able to do so at favorable rates. The inability to securitize our portfolio could hurt our performance and our ability 
to grow our business.  
 
The use of CDO financings with over-collateralization requirements may have a negative impact on our cash flow.  
 

We expect that the terms of CDOs we may sponsor will generally provide that the principal amount of assets must exceed the 
principal balance of the related bonds by a certain amount, commonly referred to as ‘‘over-collateralization.’’ We anticipate that the CDO 
terms will provide that, if certain delinquencies or losses exceed the specified levels based on the analysis by the rating agencies (or any 
financial guaranty insurer) of the characteristics of the assets collateralizing the bonds, the required level of over-collateralization may be 
increased or may be prevented from decreasing as would otherwise be permitted if losses or delinquencies did not exceed those levels. Other 
tests (based on delinquency levels or other criteria) may restrict our ability to receive net income from assets collateralizing the obligations. We 
cannot assure you that the performance tests will be satisfied. In advance of completing negotiations with the rating agencies or other key 
transaction parties on our future CDO financings, we cannot assure you of the actual terms of the CDO delinquency tests, over-collateralization 
terms, cash flow release mechanisms or other significant factors regarding the calculation of net income to us. Given recent volatility in the 
CDO market, rating agencies may depart from historic practices for CDO financings, making them more costly for us. Failure to obtain 
favorable terms with regard to these matters may materially and adversely affect the availability of net income to us. If our assets fail to 
perform as anticipated, our over-collateralization or other credit enhancement expense associated with our CDO financings will increase.  
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Hedging against interest rate exposure may adversely affect our earnings, which could reduce our cash available for distribution to our 
stockholders.  
 

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we pursue various hedging strategies to seek to reduce our exposure to losses from 
adverse changes in interest rates. Our hedging activity varies in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates, the type of assets held 
and other changing market conditions. Interest rate hedging may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because, among other things:  
 

 
Our hedging transactions, which are intended to limit losses, may actually limit gains and increase our exposure to losses. As a result, 

our hedging activity may adversely affect our earnings, which could reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, 
hedging instruments involve risk since they often are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house, or 
regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities. Consequently, there are no requirements with respect to record keeping, financial 
responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the enforceability of agreements underlying derivative transactions 
may depend on compliance with applicable statutory and commodity and other regulatory requirements and, depending on the identity of the 
counterparty, applicable international requirements. The business failure of a hedging counterparty with whom we enter into a hedging 
transaction will most likely result in its default. Default by a party with whom we enter into a hedging transaction may result in the loss of 
unrealized profits and force us to cover our commitments, if any, at the then current market price. Although generally we will seek to reserve 
the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may not always be possible to dispose of or close out a hedging position without the consent of 
the hedging counterparty, and we may not be able to enter into an offsetting contract in order to cover our risk. We cannot assure you that a 
liquid secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold, and we may be required to maintain a position until exercise or 
expiration, which could result in losses.  
 
Our hedging strategies may not be successful in mitigating the risks associated with interest rates.  
 

Subject to complying with REIT tax requirements, we have employed and intend to continue to employ techniques that limit, or 
hedge, the adverse effects of rising interest rates on our short-term repurchase agreements.  In general, our hedging strategy depends on our 
view of our entire portfolio, consisting of assets, liabilities and derivative instruments, in light of prevailing market conditions. We could 
misjudge the condition of our investment portfolio or the market.  
 

Our hedging activity will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates and principal repayments, the type of 
securities held and other changing market conditions. Our actual hedging decisions will be determined in light of the facts and circumstances 
existing at the time and may differ from our currently anticipated hedging strategy. These techniques may include entering into interest rate 
caps, collars, floors, forward contracts, futures or swap agreements. We may conduct certain hedging transactions through a TRS, which will 
be subject to federal, state and, if applicable, local income tax.  
 

  

   ●  interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates;  
   ●  available interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought;  
   ●  the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability;  
   ●  the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions (other than through TRSs) to offset interest rate losses is 

limited by federal tax provisions governing REITs;  
   ●  the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs our ability to sell or 

assign our side of the hedging transaction; and  
   ●  the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay.  
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There are no perfect hedging strategies, and interest rate hedging may fail to protect us from loss. Alternatively, we may fail to 

properly assess a risk to our investment portfolio or may fail to recognize a risk entirely, leaving us exposed to losses without the benefit of any 
offsetting hedging activities. The derivative financial instruments we select may not have the effect of reducing our interest rate risk. The 
nature and timing of hedging transactions may influence the effectiveness of these strategies. Poorly designed strategies or improperly executed 
transactions could actually increase our risk and losses. In addition, hedging activities could result in losses if the event against which we hedge 
does not occur. For example, interest rate hedging could fail to protect us or adversely affect us because, among other things:  
 

 
Whether the derivatives we acquire achieve hedge accounting treatment or not, hedging generally involves costs and risks. Our 

hedging strategies may adversely affect us because hedging activities involve costs that we will incur regardless of the effectiveness of the 
hedging activity. Those costs may be higher in periods of market volatility, both because the counterparties to our derivative agreements may 
demand a higher payment for taking risks, and because repeated adjustments of our hedges during periods of interest rate changes also may 
increase costs. Especially if our hedging strategies are not effective, we could incur significant hedging-related costs without any corresponding 
economic benefits.  
 
We have elected not to qualify for hedge accounting treatment.  
 

We record derivative and hedge transactions in accordance with GAAP.  We have elected not to qualify for hedge accounting 
treatment.  As a result, our operating results may suffer because losses on the derivatives that we enter into may not be offset by a change in the 
fair value of the related hedged transaction.  
 
Declines in the fair values of our investments may adversely affect periodic reported results and credit availability, which may reduce 
earnings and, in turn, cash available for distribution to our stockholders.  
 

A substantial portion of our assets are classified for accounting purposes as “available-for-sale” and carried at fair value.  Changes in 
the fair values of those assets will be directly charged or credited to OCI.  In addition, a decline in values will reduce the book value of our 
assets. A decline in the fair value of our assets may adversely affect us, particularly in instances where we have borrowed money based on the 
fair value of those assets. If the fair value of those assets declines, the lender may require us to post additional collateral to support the loan. If 
we were unable to post the additional collateral, we would have to sell the assets at a time when we might not otherwise choose to do so. A 
reduction in credit available may reduce our earnings and, in turn, cash available for distribution to stockholders.  
 
The lack of liquidity in our investments may adversely affect our business.  
 

We may invest in securities or other instruments that are not liquid. It may be difficult or impossible to obtain third party pricing on 
the investments we purchase.   Illiquid investments typically experience greater price volatility as a ready market does not exist.  In addition, 
validating third party pricing for illiquid investments may be more subjective than more liquid investments.  The illiquidity of our investments 
may make it difficult for us to sell such investments if the need or desire arises. In addition, if we are required to liquidate all or a portion of our 
portfolio quickly, we may realize significantly less than the value at which we have previously recorded our investments. As a result, our 
ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited, which could adversely affect 
our results of operations and financial condition.  
 

  

   ●  available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought;  

   ●  the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability;  
   ●  as explained in further detail in the risk factor immediately below, the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on 

its obligation to pay;  
   ●  the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs our ability to sell or 

assign our side of the hedging transaction; and  
   ●  the value of derivatives used for hedging may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with accounting rules to reflect changes in 

fair value. Downward adjustments, or “mark-to-market losses,”  would reduce our stockholders’  equity.  
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We are highly dependent on information systems and third parties, and systems failures could significantly disrupt our business, which 
may, in turn, negatively affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.  
 

Our business is highly dependent on communications and information systems. Any failure or interruption of our systems could cause 
delays or other problems in our securities trading activities, including mortgage-backed securities trading activities, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our operating results and negatively affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to pay dividends to 
our stockholders.  
 
Compliance with proposed and recently enacted changes in securities laws and regulations increases our costs.  
   

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange have 
increased the scope, complexity and cost of corporate governance, reporting and disclosure practices.  We believe that these rules and 
regulations will make it more costly for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage 
or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage.  These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain 
qualified members of management and our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee.  
   

The Dodd-Frank Act contains many regulatory changes and calls for future rulemaking that may affect our business, including, but not 
limited to resolutions involving derivatives, risk-retention in securitizations and short-term financings.  We are evaluating the potential impact 
of regulatory change under the Dodd-Frank Act.  
   
The increasing number of proposed federal, state and local laws may increase our risk of liability with respect to certain mortgage 
loans, may include judicial modification provisions and could increase our cost of doing business.  
 

The United States Congress and various state and local legislatures are considering legislation, which, among other provisions, would 
permit limited assignee liability for certain violations in the mortgage loan origination process, and would allow judicial modification of loan 
principal in the event of personal bankruptcy.  We cannot predict whether or in what form Congress or the various state and local legislatures 
may enact legislation affecting our business.  We are evaluating the potential impact of these initiatives, if enacted, on our practices and results 
of operations.  As a result of these and other initiatives, we are unable to predict whether federal, state or local authorities will require changes 
in our practices in the future or in our portfolio.  These changes, if required, could adversely affect our profitability, particularly if we make 
such changes in response to new or amended laws, regulations or ordinances in any state where we acquire a significant portion of our 
mortgage loans, or if such changes result in us being held responsible for any violations in the mortgage loan origination process, or if the 
principal amount of loans we own or are in RMBS pools we own are modified in the personal bankruptcy process.  
 

Risks Related to Our Investments  
 
We might not be able to purchase residential mortgage loans, mortgage-backed securities and other investments that meet our 
investment criteria or at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs.  
 

To the extent we purchase assets using leverage, our net income depends on our ability to acquire residential mortgage loans, 
mortgage-backed securities and other investments at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs.  Our investments are selected by our 
Manager, and our stockholders will not have input into such investment decisions. Our Manager has conducted due diligence with respect to 
each investment purchased.  However, there can be no assurance that our Manager's due diligence processes will uncover all relevant facts or 
that any investment will be successful.  
 
We may not realize income or gains from our investments.  
 

We invest to generate both current income and capital appreciation. The investments we invest in may, however, not appreciate in 
value and, in fact, may decline in value, and the debt securities we invest in may default on interest or principal payments. Accordingly, we 
may not be able to realize income or gains from our investments. Any gains that we do realize may not be sufficient to offset any other losses 
we experience. Any income that we realize may not be sufficient to offset our expenses.  
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Our investments may be concentrated and will be subject to risk of default.  
 

While we intend to diversify our portfolio of investments, we are not required to observe specific diversification criteria. To the extent 
that our portfolio is concentrated in any one region or type of security, downturns relating generally to such region or type of security may 
result in defaults on a number of our investments within a short time period, which may reduce our net income and the value of our shares and 
accordingly may reduce our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.  
 
Our investments in subordinated RMBS are generally in the “first loss” position and our investments in the mezzanine RMBS are 
generally in the “second loss” position and therefore subject to losses.  
 

In general, losses on a mortgage loan included in a securitization will be borne first by the equity holder of the issuing trust, and then 
by the “first loss” subordinated security holder and then by the “second loss” mezzanine holder.  In the event of default and the exhaustion of 
any classes of securities junior to those in which we invest and there is any further loss, we will not be able to recover all of our investment in 
the securities we purchase.  In addition, if the underlying mortgage portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values 
subsequently decline and, as a result, less collateral is available to satisfy interest and principal payments due on the related RMBS, the 
securities in which we invest may effectively become the “first loss” position behind the more senior securities, which may result in significant 
losses to us.  The prices of lower credit quality securities are generally less sensitive to interest rate changes than more highly rated 
investments, but more sensitive to adverse economic downturns or individual issuer developments.  A projection of an economic downturn, for 
example, could cause a decline in the price of lower credit quality securities because the ability of obligors of mortgages underlying RMBS to 
make principal and interest payments may be impaired.  In such event, existing credit support in the securitization structure may be insufficient 
to protect us against loss of our principal on these securities.  
 
Increases in interest rates could negatively affect the value of our investments, which could result in reduced earnings or losses and 
negatively affect the cash available for distribution to our stockholders.  
 

We have and will continue to invest in real estate-related assets by acquiring RMBS, residential mortgage loans, CMBS and CDOs 
backed by real estate-related assets.  Under a normal yield curve, an investment in these assets will decline in value if long-term interest rates 
increase. Declines in market value may ultimately reduce earnings or result in losses to us, which may negatively affect cash available for 
distribution to our stockholders. A significant risk associated with these investments is the risk that both long-term and short-term interest rates 
will increase significantly. If long-term rates were to increase significantly, the market value of these investments would decline, and the 
duration and weighted average life of the investments would increase. We could realize a loss if these assets were sold. At the same time, an 
increase in short-term interest rates would increase the amount of interest owed on the repurchase agreements or other adjustable rate 
financings we may enter into to finance the purchase of these assets.  Market values of our investments may decline without any general 
increase in interest rates for a number of reasons, such as increases in defaults, increases in voluntary prepayments for those investments that 
are subject to prepayment risk and widening of credit spreads.  
 
In a period of rising interest rates, our interest expense could increase while the interest we earn on our fixed-rate assets would not 
change, which would adversely affect our profitability.  
 

Our operating results will depend in large part on the differences between the income from our assets, net of credit losses and 
financing costs. We anticipate that, in most cases, the income from such assets will respond more slowly to interest rate fluctuations than the 
cost of our borrowings. Consequently, changes in interest rates, particularly short-term interest rates, may significantly influence our net 
income. Increases in these rates will tend to decrease our net income and market value of our assets. Interest rate fluctuations resulting in our 
interest expense exceeding our interest income would result in operating losses for us and may limit or eliminate our ability to make 
distributions to our stockholders.  
 
Interest rate mismatches between our investments and any borrowings used to fund purchases of these assets may reduce our income 
during periods of changing interest rates.  
 

We intend to fund some of our acquisitions of residential mortgage loans, real estate-related securities and real estate loans with 
borrowings that have interest rates based on indices and repricing terms with shorter maturities than the interest rate indices and repricing terms 
of our adjustable-rate assets.  Accordingly, if short-term interest rates increase, this may harm our profitability.  
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Some of the residential mortgage loans, real estate-related securities and real estate loans we acquire are and will be fixed-rate 

securities.  This means that their interest rates will not vary over time based upon changes in a short-term interest rate index.  Therefore, the 
interest rate indices and repricing terms of the assets that we acquire and their funding sources will create an interest rate mismatch between our 
assets and liabilities.  During periods of changing interest rates, these mismatches could reduce our net income, dividend yield and the market 
price of our stock.  
 

Accordingly, in a period of rising interest rates, we could experience a decrease in net income or a net loss because the interest rates 
on our borrowings adjust whereas the interest rates on our fixed-rate assets remain unchanged.  
 
Interest rate caps on our adjustable rate RMBS may adversely affect our profitability.  
 

Adjustable-rate RMBS are typically subject to periodic and lifetime interest rate caps. Periodic interest rate caps limit the amount an 
interest rate can increase during any given period. Lifetime interest rate caps limit the amount an interest rate can increase over the life of the 
security. Our borrowings typically will not be subject to similar restrictions. Accordingly, in a period of rapidly increasing interest rates, the 
interest rates paid on our borrowings could increase without limitation while caps could limit the interest rates on our adjustable-rate RMBS. 
This problem is magnified for hybrid adjustable-rate and adjustable-rate RMBS that are not fully indexed. Further, some hybrid adjustable-rate 
and adjustable-rate RMBS may be subject to periodic payment caps that result in a portion of the interest being deferred and added to the 
principal outstanding. As a result, we may receive less cash income on hybrid adjustable-rate and adjustable-rate RMBS than we need to pay 
interest on our related borrowings. These factors could reduce our net interest income and cause us to suffer a loss.  
 
A significant portion of our portfolio investments will be recorded at fair value as determined in accordance with our pricing policy 
and, as a result, there will be uncertainty as to the value of these investments.  
 

A significant portion of our portfolio of investments is in the form of securities that are not publicly traded. The fair value of securities 
and other investments that are not publicly traded may not be readily determinable.  It may be difficult or impossible to obtain third party 
pricing on the investments we purchase.  We value these investments quarterly at fair value, as determined in accordance with our pricing 
policy as approved by our board of directors. Because such valuations are inherently uncertain, may fluctuate over short periods of time and 
may be based on estimates, our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a ready market 
for these securities existed. The value of our common stock could be adversely affected if our determinations regarding the fair value of these 
investments were materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon their disposal.  
 
A prolonged economic slowdown, a recession or declining real estate values could impair our investments and harm our operating 
results.  
 

Many of our investments are susceptible to economic slowdowns or recessions, which could lead to financial losses in our investments 
and a decrease in revenues, net income and assets. Unfavorable economic conditions also could increase our funding costs, limit our access to 
the capital markets or result in a decision by lenders not to extend credit to us. These events could prevent us from increasing investments and 
have an adverse effect on our operating results.  
 
Changes in prepayment rates could negatively affect the value of our investment portfolio, which could result in reduced earnings or 
losses and negatively affect the cash available for distribution to our stockholders.  
 

There are seldom any restrictions on borrowers’ abilities to prepay their residential mortgage loans. Homeowners tend to prepay 
mortgage loans faster when interest rates decline. Consequently, owners of the loans have to reinvest the money received from the prepayments 
at the lower prevailing interest rates. Conversely, homeowners tend not to prepay mortgage loans when interest rates increase. Consequently, 
owners of the loans are unable to reinvest money that would have otherwise been received from prepayments at the higher prevailing interest 
rates. This volatility in prepayment rates may affect our ability to maintain targeted amounts of leverage on our portfolio of residential 
mortgage loans, RMBS, and CDOs backed by real estate-related assets and may result in reduced earnings or losses for us and negatively affect 
the cash available for distribution to our stockholders.  
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To the extent our investments are purchased at a premium, faster than expected prepayments result in a faster than expected 

amortization of the premium paid, which would adversely affect our earnings.  Conversely, if these investments were purchased at a discount, 
faster than expected prepayments accelerate our recognition of income.  
 
The mortgage loans we invest in and the mortgage loans underlying the mortgage and asset-backed securities we invest in are subject 
to delinquency, foreclosure and loss, which could result in losses to us.  
 

Residential mortgage loans are typically secured by single-family residential property and are subject to risks of delinquency and 
foreclosure and risks of loss. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by a residential property is dependent upon the income or assets 
of the borrower. A number of factors, including a general economic downturn, acts of God, terrorism, social unrest and civil disturbances, may 
impair borrowers’ abilities to repay their loans. In addition, we invest in non-Agency RMBS, which are backed by residential real property but, 
in contrast to Agency RMBS, their principal and interest is not guaranteed by federally chartered entities such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac 
and, in the case of Ginnie Mae, the U.S. government. The U.S. Department of Treasury and FHFA have also entered into preferred stock 
purchase agreements between the U.S. Department of Treasury and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac pursuant to which the U.S. Department of 
Treasury will ensure that each of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac maintains a positive net worth.  Asset-backed securities are bonds or notes 
backed by loans or other financial assets. The ability of a borrower to repay these loans or other financial assets is dependent upon the income 
or assets of these borrowers. Commercial mortgage loans are secured by multifamily or commercial property and are subject to risks of 
delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of loss that are greater than similar risks associated with loans made on the security of single-family 
residential property. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon 
the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. If the net operating 
income of the property is reduced, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan may be impaired. Net operating income of an income producing 
property can be affected by, among other things, tenant mix, success of tenant businesses, property management decisions, property location 
and condition, competition from comparable types of properties, changes in laws that increase operating expense or limit rents that may be 
charged, any need to address environmental contamination at the property, the occurrence of any uninsured casualty at the property, changes in 
national, regional or local economic conditions or specific industry segments, declines in regional or local real estate values, declines in 
regional or local rental or occupancy rates, increases in interest rates, real estate tax rates and other operating expenses, changes in 
governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including environmental legislation, acts of God, terrorism, social unrest and civil 
disturbances. In the event of any default under a mortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss of principal to the extent of any 
deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest of the mortgage loan, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our cash flow from operations. In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan borrower, the mortgage loan to such borrower will 
be deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy 
court), and the lien securing the mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the 
extent the lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosure of a mortgage loan can be an expensive and lengthy process which could have a 
substantial negative effect on our anticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage loan. RMBS evidence interests in or are secured by pools of 
residential mortgage loans and CMBS evidence interests in or are secured by a single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of commercial 
mortgage loans. Accordingly, the RMBS and CMBS we invest in are subject to all of the risks of the respective underlying mortgage loans.  
 
We may be required to repurchase mortgage loans or indemnify investors if we breach representations and warranties, which could 
harm our earnings.  
 

If we sell loans, we would be required to make customary representations and warranties about such loans to the loan purchaser. Our 
residential mortgage loan sale agreements will require us to repurchase or substitute loans in the event we breach a representation or warranty 
given to the loan purchaser. In addition, we may be required to repurchase loans as a result of borrower fraud or in the event of early payment 
default on a mortgage loan. Likewise, we are required to repurchase or substitute loans if we breach a representation or warranty in connection 
with our securitizations. The remedies available to a purchaser of mortgage loans are generally broader than those available to us against the 
originating broker or correspondent. Further, if a purchaser enforces its remedies against us, we may not be able to enforce the remedies we 
have against the sellers. The repurchased loans typically can only be financed at a steep discount to their repurchase price, if at all. They are 
also typically sold at a significant discount to the unpaid principal balance. Significant repurchase activity could harm our cash flow, results of 
operations, financial condition and business prospects.  
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We may enter into derivative contracts that could expose us to contingent liabilities in the future.  
 

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, part of our investment strategy involves entering into derivative contracts that 
could require us to fund cash payments in certain circumstances. These potential payments will be contingent liabilities and therefore may not 
appear on our consolidated statement of financial condition. Our ability to fund these contingent liabilities will depend on the liquidity of our 
assets and access to capital at the time, and the need to fund these contingent liabilities could adversely impact our financial condition.  
 
Our Manager’ s due diligence of potential investments may not reveal all of the liabilities associated with such investments and may not 
reveal other weaknesses in such investments, which could lead to investment losses.  
 

Before making an investment, our Manager assesses the strengths and weaknesses of the originator or issuer of the asset as well as 
other factors and characteristics that are material to the performance of the investment. In making the assessment and otherwise conducting 
customary due diligence, our Manager relies on resources available to it and, in some cases, an investigation by third parties. This process is 
particularly important with respect to newly formed originators or issuers with unrated and other subordinated tranches of RMBS and ABS 
because there may be little or no information publicly available about these entities and investments. There can be no assurance that our 
Manager’s due diligence process will uncover all relevant facts or that any investment will be successful.  
 
Our real estate investments are subject to risks particular to real property.  
 

We own assets secured by real estate and may own real estate directly in the future, either through direct investments or upon a default 
of mortgage loans. Real estate investments are subject to various risks, including:  
 

 
If any of these or similar events occurs, it may reduce our return from an affected property or investment and reduce or eliminate our 

ability to make distributions to stockholders.  
 
We may be exposed to environmental liabilities with respect to properties to which we take title.  
 

In the course of our business, we may take title to real estate, and, if we do take title, we could be subject to environmental liabilities 
with respect to these properties. In such a circumstance, we may be held liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage, 
personal injury, investigation, and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in connection with environmental contamination, or may be required 
to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic substances, or chemical releases at a property. The costs associated with investigation or 
remediation activities could be substantial. If we ever become subject to significant environmental liabilities, our business, financial condition, 
liquidity, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.  
 

  

   ●  acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters, which may result in uninsured losses;  
   ●  acts of war or terrorism, including the consequences of terrorist attacks, such as those that occurred on September 11, 2001;  
   ●  adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions;  

   ●  changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs of compliance with laws and 
regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;  

   ●  costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions such as indoor mold; and  
   ●  the potential for uninsured or under-insured property losses.  
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We may in the future invest in RMBS collateralized by subprime mortgage loans, which are subject to increased risks.  
 

We may in the future invest in RMBS backed by collateral pools of subprime residential mortgage loans. ‘‘Subprime’’ mortgage loans 
refer to mortgage loans that have been originated using underwriting standards that are less restrictive than the underwriting requirements used 
as standards for other first and junior lien mortgage loan purchase programs, such as the programs of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. These 
lower standards include mortgage loans made to borrowers having imperfect or impaired credit histories (including outstanding judgments or 
prior bankruptcies), mortgage loans where the amount of the loan at origination is 80% or more of the value of the mortgage property, 
mortgage loans made to borrowers with low credit scores, mortgage loans made to borrowers who have other debt that represents a large 
portion of their income and mortgage loans made to borrowers whose income is not required to be disclosed or verified. Due to economic 
conditions, including increased interest rates and lower home prices, as well as aggressive lending practices, subprime mortgage loans have in 
recent periods experienced increased rates of delinquency, foreclosure, bankruptcy and loss, and they are likely to continue to experience 
delinquency, foreclosure, bankruptcy and loss rates that are higher, and that may be substantially higher, than those experienced by mortgage 
loans underwritten in a more traditional manner. Thus, because of the higher delinquency rates and losses associated with subprime mortgage 
loans, the performance of RMBS backed by subprime mortgage loans in which we may invest could be correspondingly adversely affected, 
which could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition and business.  
 
Our Manager utilizes analytical models and data in connection with the valuation of our investments, and any incorrect, misleading or 
incomplete information used in connection therewith would subject us to potential risks.  
 

Given the complexity of our investments and strategies, our Manager must rely heavily on analytical models (both net present value 
based loss mitigation models and those supplied by third-parties) and information and data supplied by third-parties, or Models and 
Data.  Models and Data will be used to value investments or potential investments and also in connection with hedging our investments.  When 
Models and Data prove to be incorrect, misleading or incomplete, any decisions made in reliance thereon expose us to potential risks. For 
example, by relying on Models and Data, especially valuation models, our Manager may be induced to buy certain investments at prices that 
are too high, to sell certain other investments at prices that are too low or to miss favorable opportunities altogether.  Similarly, any hedging 
based on faulty Models and Data may prove to be unsuccessful.  Furthermore, any valuations of our investments that are based on valuation 
models may prove to be incorrect.  
 

Some of the risks of relying on analytical models and third-party data are particular to analyzing tranches from securitizations, such as 
RMBS. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) collateral cash flows and/or liability structures may be incorrectly modeled 
in all or only certain scenarios, or may be modeled based on simplifying assumptions that lead to errors; (ii) information about collateral may 
be incorrect, incomplete, or misleading; (iii) collateral or bond historical performance (such as historical prepayments, defaults, cash flows, 
etc.) may be incorrectly reported, or subject to interpretation (e.g., different issuers may report delinquency statistics based on different 
definitions of what constitutes a delinquent loan); or (iv) collateral or bond information may be outdated, in which case the models may contain 
incorrect assumptions as to what has occurred since the date information was last updated.  
 

Some of the analytical models used by our Manager, such as mortgage prepayment models or mortgage default models, are predictive 
in nature.  The use of predictive models has inherent risks.  For example, such models may incorrectly forecast future behavior, leading to 
potential losses on a cash flow and/or a mark-to-market basis. In addition, the predictive models used by our Manager may differ substantially 
from those models used by other market participants, with the result that valuations based on these predictive models may be substantially 
higher or lower for certain investments than actual market prices.  Furthermore, since predictive models are usually constructed based on 
historical data supplied by third-parties, the success of relying on such models may depend heavily on the accuracy and reliability of the 
supplied historical data and the ability of these historical models to accurately reflect future periods.  
 

All valuation models rely on correct market data inputs. If incorrect market data is entered into even a well-founded valuation model, 
the resulting valuations will be incorrect. However, even if market data is inputted correctly, “model prices” will often differ substantially from 
market prices, especially for securities with complex characteristics, such as derivative securities.  
   
   

Regulatory and Legal Risks  
 
Violations of federal, state and local laws by the originator, the servicer, or may result in rescission of the loans or penalties that may 
adversely impact our income.  
 

Violations of certain provisions of federal, state and local laws by the originator, the servicer or us, as well as actions by governmental 
agencies, authorities and attorneys general, may limit our or the servicer’s ability to collect all or part of the principal of, or interest on, the 
residential mortgage loans we purchase and hold, and loans that serve as security for the RMBS we purchase and hold.  Violations could also 
subject the entity that made or modified the loans to damages and administrative enforcement (including disgorgement of prior interest and fees 
paid).  In particular, a loan seller’s failure to comply with certain requirements of federal and state laws could subject the seller (and other 
assignees of the mortgage loans) to monetary penalties and result in the obligors’ rescinding the mortgage loans against the seller and any 
subsequent holders of the mortgage loans, even if the assignee was not responsible for and was unaware of those violations.  These adverse 
consequences vary depending on the applicable law and may vary depending on the type or severity of the violation, but they typically include: 

   

  

  
33 



 

   

   

   

   
The terms of the documents under which we intend to purchase loans, and the terms of the documents used to create the RMBS we 

intend to purchase, may entitle the holders of the loans and the special purpose vehicles that hold loans in RMBS to contractual indemnification 
against these liabilities.  For example, the sellers of loans placed in a securitization typically represent that each mortgage loan was made in 
compliance with applicable federal and state laws and regulations at the time it was made.  If there is a material breach of that representation, 
the seller may be contractually obligated to cure the breach or repurchase or replace the affected mortgage loan.  If the seller is unable or 
otherwise fails to satisfy these obligations, the yield on the loans and RMBS might be materially and adversely affected.  Due to the well 
publicized recent deterioration in the housing and commercial property markets, many of the sellers that issued these indemnifications are no 
longer in business or are unable to financially respond to their indemnification obligations.  Consequently, holders of interests in the loans and 
RMBS may ultimately have to absorb the losses arising from the sellers’ violations.  While we attempt to take these factors into account in the 
prices we pay for loans and RMBS, we can offer no assurances concerning the validity of the assumptions we use in our pricing decisions.  
 

Furthermore, the volume of new and modified laws and regulations at both the federal and state levels has increased in recent 
years.  For example, H.R. 1105, which was signed into law in March 2009, gives the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, authority to issue 
rules under which it will define what constitutes unfair and deceptive practices relating to mortgage lending and loan servicing and which gives 
enforcement authority to state attorneys general.  There is also an increased risk that the both we and the servicer of loans we purchase or that 
are held in RMBS we purchase may be involved in litigation over violations or alleged violations of recently enacted and proposed laws.  It is 
possible that these laws might result in additional significant costs and liabilities, which could further adversely affect the results of our 
operations.  Any litigation would increase our expenses and reduce funds available for distribution to our stockholders.  
 

Some local municipalities also have enacted laws that impose potentially significant penalties on loan servicing activities related to 
abandoned properties or real estate owned properties.  
 

Any of these preceding could result in delays and/or reductions in receipts of amounts due on the loans we intend to purchase or on the 
loans held in RMBS we intend to purchase, harming our income and operating results.  
 
We may be subject to liability for potential violations of predatory lending and other laws, which could adversely impact our results of 
operations, financial condition and business.  
 

Various federal, state and local laws have been enacted that are designed to discourage predatory lending practices and more are 
currently proposed. The federal Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act of 1994, commonly known as HOEPA, prohibits inclusion of 
certain provisions in residential mortgage loans that have mortgage rates or origination costs in excess of prescribed levels and requires that 
borrowers be given certain disclosures before origination.  Some states have enacted, or may enact, similar laws or regulations, which in some 
cases impose restrictions and requirements greater than those in HOEPA.  In addition, under the anti-predatory lending laws of some states, the 
origination of certain residential mortgage loans, including loans that are not classified as “high cost” loans under applicable law, must satisfy a 
net tangible benefits test with respect to the related borrower.  This test may be highly subjective and open to interpretation. As a result, a court 
may determine that a residential mortgage loan we hold, for example, does not meet the test even if the related originator reasonably believed 
that the test was satisfied.  
 

  

   ●  the ability of the homeowner to rescind, or cancel, the loan;  

   ●  the inability of the holder of the loan to collect all of the principal and interest otherwise due on the loan;  

   ●  the right of the homeowner to a refund of amounts previously paid (which may include amounts financed by the loan), or to 
set off those amounts against his or her future loan obligations; and  

   ●  the liability of the servicer and the owner of the loan for actual damages, statutory damages and punitive damages, civil or 
criminal penalties, costs and attorneys’  fees.  
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Failure of residential mortgage loan originators or servicers to comply with these laws, to the extent any of their residential mortgage 

loans become part of our mortgage-related assets, could subject us, as an assignee or purchaser of the related residential mortgage loans or 
RMBS, to monetary penalties and could result in the borrowers rescinding the affected residential mortgage loans.  Lawsuits have been brought 
in various states making claims against assignees or purchasers of high cost loans for violations of state law.  Named defendants in these cases 
have included numerous participants in the secondary mortgage market.  If the loans are found to have been originated in violation of predatory 
or abusive lending laws, we could incur losses, which could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition and business.  
   
There is the potential for limitations on our ability to finance purchases of loans and RMBS, and for losses on the loans and RMBS we 
purchase, as a result of violations of law by the originating lenders.  
 

In June 2003, a California jury found a warehouse lender and securitization underwriter liable in part for fraud on consumers 
committed by a lender to whom it provided financing and underwriting services.  The jury found that the investment bank was aware of the 
fraud and substantially assisted the lender in perpetrating the fraud by providing financing and underwriting services that allowed the lender to 
continue to operate, and held it liable for 10% of the plaintiff’s damages.  This instance of liability is the first case we know of in which an 
investment bank was held partly responsible for violations committed by a mortgage lender customer.  Shortly after the announcement of the 
jury verdict in the California case, the Florida Attorney General filed suit against the same financial institution, seeking an injunction to prevent 
it from financing mortgage loans within Florida, as well as damages and civil penalties, based on theories of unfair and deceptive trade 
practices and fraud.  The suit claimed that this financial institution aided and abetted the same lender involved in the California case in its 
commission of fraudulent representations in Florida.  
 

In December of 2008, the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court upheld a lower court’s order entered against a lender that enjoined 
the lender from foreclosing, without court approval, on certain mortgage loans secured by the borrower’s principal dwelling that the court 
considered “presumptively unfair.”  
 

In May of 2009, another securitizer of residential mortgage loans entered into a settlement agreement with the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts stemming from its investigation of subprime lending and securitization markets.  The securitizer agreed to provide loan 
restructuring (including significant principal write-downs) valued at approximately $50 million to Massachusetts subprime borrowers and to 
make a $10 million payment to the Commonwealth.  If other courts or regulators take similar actions, investment banks and investors in 
residential and commercial mortgage loans and RMBS (such as us) might face increased litigation as they are named as defendants in lawsuits 
and regulatory actions against the mortgage companies or securitizers with which they do business or they might be prohibited from 
foreclosing on loans they purchased.  Some investment banks may charge more for warehouse lending and reduce the prices they pay for loans 
to build in the costs of this potential litigation or exit the business entirely, thereby increasing our cost of borrowing.  Any such actions by 
courts and regulators, and any such increases in our costs of borrowing, could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations, financial condition, and business prospects.  
 
We are required to obtain various state licenses in order to purchase mortgage loans in the secondary market and there is no 
assurance we will be able to obtain or maintain those licenses.  
 

While we are not required to obtain licenses to purchase mortgage-backed securities, we are required to obtain various state licenses to 
purchase mortgage loans in the secondary market. There is no assurance that we will obtain all of the licenses that we desire or that we will not 
experience significant delays in seeking these licenses. Furthermore, we will be subject to various information reporting requirements to 
maintain these licenses, and there is no assurance that we will satisfy those requirements. Our failure to obtain or maintain licenses will restrict 
our investment options and could harm our business.  
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The federal government’s pressing for refinancing of certain loans may affect prepayment rates for mortgage loans in RMBS.  
 

In addition to the increased pressure upon residential mortgage loan investors and servicers to engage in loss mitigation activities, the 
federal government is pressing for refinancing of certain loans, and this encouragement may affect prepayment rates for mortgage loans in 
RMBS.  To the extent these and other economic stabilization or stimulus efforts are successful in increasing prepayment speeds for residential 
mortgage loans, such as those in RMBS, that could potentially harm our income and operating results, particularly in connection with loans or 
RMBS purchased at a premium or our interest-only securities.  
 
Federal and state agencies have taken enforcement actions and enacted regulations and government programs  that require 
government sponsored enterprises (such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac), insured depository institutions, and state regulated loan 
servicers to engage in loss mitigation activities relating to residential mortgage loans.  
 

Federal and state agencies have taken enforcement actions and enacted regulations that require government sponsored enterprises 
(such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac), insured depository institutions, and state regulated loan servicers to engage in loss mitigation activities 
relating to residential mortgage loans.  Other agencies have published policies that strongly recommend these entities to engage in loss 
mitigation activities.  These loss mitigation activities may include, for example, loan modifications that significantly reduce interest and 
payments, deferrals of payments, and reductions of principal balances.  Such modifications may adversely affect our business and financial 
condition.  
 
We will likely be subject to civil liability if we fail to make required disclosures to consumers.  
 

Purchasers of consumer purpose, residential mortgage loans have affirmative disclosure obligations to consumers under the HFSTH 
Act, which Congress enacted in May 2009 with an immediate effective date.  This new statutory obligation will subject purchasers of mortgage 
loans to civil liability if they fail to make the required disclosures. Specifically, section 404 of the HFSTH Act amends the Truth in Lending 
Act to provide that a creditor that purchases or is assigned a mortgage loan must notify the borrower in writing of a sale or transfer of his or her 
mortgage loan, not later than 30 days after the transaction’s completion.  The notice must include how to reach an agent or party having 
authority to act on behalf of the new creditor, the location of the place where the transfer of ownership is recorded and any other relevant 
information about the new creditor.  This disclosure would be in addition to any transfer of servicing notice required under the Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures Act.  Federal consumer credit law does not typically impose responsibility on assignees to communicate directly with 
mortgagors, and the statutory language is ambiguous.  
 
Litigation alleging inability to foreclose may limit our ability to recover on some of the loans we purchase or that are held in RMBS.  
 

In October 2007, a judge in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio dismissed 14 cases in which plaintiffs sought to 
foreclose mortgages held in securitization trusts by ruling that those plaintiffs lacked standing to sue.  In each case, the judge found that the 
plaintiff was not the owner of the note and mortgage on the date the foreclosure complaint was filed in court.  Similar actions have been 
initiated in other states.  These actions arise as a result of the common practice in the mortgage industry of mortgage loan sellers providing the 
loan purchasers unrecorded assignments of the mortgage in blank (i.e., the assignments do not name the assignee).  Some courts have held that 
before a note holder may initiate a foreclosure, the note holder must show proof to the court that the mortgage itself has been properly assigned 
to the purchaser each time the mortgage loan has been sold.  It is sometimes difficult to obtain and then record originals of each successive 
assignment.  It is still unclear whether higher courts will uphold the requirements imposed by these lower courts.  
 

Until the issue is settled, investors in mortgage loans are at risk of being unable to foreclose on defaulted loans, or at a minimum will 
be subject to delays until all assignments in the chain of the loan’s title are properly recorded.  Thus, we may not be able to recover on some of 
the loans we purchase or that are held in the RMBS we purchase, or we may suffer delays in foreclosure, all of which could result in a lower 
return on our loans and RMBS.  
 

In addition, some legislatures are also instituting stringent proof of ownership requirements that a servicer must satisfy before 
commencing a foreclosure action. By way of example, the New York State Assembly earlier this year amended state law to require that any 
foreclosure complaint contain an affirmative allegation that the plaintiff is the owner and holder of the note and mortgage at issue or has been 
delegated the authority to institute the foreclosure action by the owner and holder of the subject mortgage and note.  Again, laws of this type 
may limit our ability to recover on some of the loans we purchase or that are held in the RMBS we purchase, and may result in delays in the 
foreclosure process, all of which could result in a lower return on our loans and RMBS.  
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Legislative action to provide mortgage relief and foreclosure moratoriums may negatively impact our business.  
 

As delinquencies and defaults in residential mortgages have recently increased, there has been an increasing amount of legislative 
action that might restrict our ability to foreclose and resell the property of a customer in default.  For example, some recently enacted state laws 
may require the lender to deliver a notice of intent to foreclose, provide borrowers additional time to cure or reinstate their loans, impose 
mandatory settlement conference and mediation requirements, require lenders to offer loan modifications, and prohibit initiation of foreclosure 
until the borrower has been provided time to consult with foreclosure counselors.  
 

Alternatively, new federal legislation and some legislatures provide a subsidy to a customer to permit the customer to continue to 
make payments during a period of hardship.  In the case of a subsidy, it is possible that we might be required to forego a portion of the amount 
otherwise due on the loan for a temporary period.  
 

Finally, some state legislatures are requiring foreclosing lenders to give special notices to tenants in properties that the lenders are 
foreclosing on, or to permit the tenants to remain in the property for a period of time following the foreclosure.  
 

These laws delay the initiation or completion of foreclosure proceedings on specified types of residential mortgage loans, or otherwise 
limit the ability of residential loan servicers to take actions that may be essential to preserve the value of the mortgage loans on behalf of the 
holders of RMBS.   Any such limitations are likely to cause delayed or reduced collections from mortgagors and generally increased servicing 
costs.  Any restriction on our ability to foreclose on a loan, any requirement that we forego a portion of the amount otherwise due on a loan or 
any requirement that we modify any original loan terms is likely to negatively impact our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of 
operations.  
 
United States military operations may increase risk of Servicemembers Civil Relief Act shortfalls.  
 

Under the federal Service members Civil Relief Act, a borrower who enters active military service after the origination of his or her 
mortgage loan generally may not be required to pay interest above an annual rate of 6%, and the note holder is restricted from exercising 
certain enforcement remedies, during the period of the borrower’s active duty status.  Several states also have enacted or are considering 
similar laws with varying applicability and effect.  As a result of military operations in Afghanistan and Iraq, the United States has placed a 
substantial number of armed forces reservists and members of the National Guard on active duty status.  It is possible that the number of 
reservists and members of the National Guard placed on active duty status may remain at high levels for an extended time.  To the extent that a 
member of the military, or a member of the armed forces reserves or National Guard who is called to active duty, is a mortgagor on a loan 
underlying RMBS we may purchase, the interest rate limitation of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, and any comparable state law, will 
apply.  An increase in the number of borrowers taking advantage of those laws may increase servicing expenses for loans underlying RMBS we 
may purchase, and may also reduce cash flow and the interest payments collected from those borrowers.  In the event of default, the laws may 
result in delaying or preventing the loan servicer from exercising otherwise available remedies for default.  If these events occur, they may 
result in interest shortfalls on the loans in underlying RMBS we may purchase that will be borne by holders of those RMBS.  
 

Risks Related To Our Common Stock  
 
The market price and trading volume of our shares of common stock may be volatile.  
 

At December 31, 2010, we had 1,027,034,357 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.  The market price of shares of our 
common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations.  In addition, the trading volume in our shares of common stock 
may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. We cannot assure you that the market price of our shares of common stock will 
not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the 
price or trading volume of our shares of common stock include those set forth under “Risk Factors” and “A Warning About Forward-Looking 
Statements” and in the information incorporated and deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, as well as:  
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Common stock eligible for future sale may have adverse effects on our share price.  
 

If we issue a significant number of shares of common stock or securities convertible into common stock in a short period of time, there 
could be a dilution of the existing common stock and a decrease in the market price of the common stock.  
 

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of common stock, or the availability of shares for future sales, on the market price 
of the common stock.  Sales of substantial amounts of common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect 
prevailing market prices for the common stock.  At December 31, 2010, we had 1,027,034,357 shares of common stock issued and 
outstanding.  Annaly owned approximately 4.38% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31, 2010.  Our equity incentive 
plan provides for grants of restricted common stock and other equity-based awards up to an aggregate of 8% of the issued and outstanding 
shares of our common stock (on a fully diluted basis) at the time of the award, subject to a ceiling of 40,000,000 shares available for issuance 
under the plan.  On January 2, 2008, our executive officers and other employees of our Manager and our independent directors were granted, as 
a group, 1,301,000 shares of our restricted common stock.  The restricted common stock granted to our executive officers and other employees 
of our Manager or its affiliates vests in equal installments on the first business day of each fiscal quarter over a period of 10 years beginning on 
January 2, 2008, of which 416,200 shares vested and 43,025 shares were forfeited as of December 31, 2010.  The restricted common stock 
granted to our executive officers and other employees of our Manager or its affiliates that remain outstanding and are unvested will fully vest 
on the death of the individual.  We do not make distributions on shares of restricted stock that have not vested.  
 

Annaly has agreed with us to a lock-up period in connection with the shares purchased by Annaly immediately after our 2008 
secondary offering that will expire at the earlier of (i) October 24, 2011 or (ii) the termination of the management agreement.  Annaly has 
agreed with us to a further lock-up period in connection with the shares purchased by Annaly immediately after our April 15, 2009 secondary 
offering that will expire at the earlier of (i) April 15, 2012 or (ii) the termination of the management agreement. Annaly has agreed with us to a 
further lock-up period in connection with the shares purchased by Annaly immediately after our May 27, 2009 secondary offering that will 
expire at the earlier of (i) May 27, 2012 or (ii) the termination of the management agreement. When the lock-up periods expire, these common 
shares will become eligible for sale, in some cases subject to the requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Securities Act.   The market price of our common stock may decline significantly when the restrictions on resale by certain of our stockholders 
lapse.  Sales of substantial amounts of common stock or the perception that such sales could occur may adversely affect the prevailing market 
price for our common stock.  
 

  

   ●  actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or business prospects;  

   ●  changes in our earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry;  
   ●  an inability to meet or exceed securities analysts' estimates or expectations;  
   ●  increases in market interest rates;  

   ●  hedging or arbitrage trading activity in our shares of common stock;  
   ●  capital commitments;  
   ●  changes in market valuations of similar companies;  
   ●  changes in valuations of our assets;  

   ●  adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;  
   ●  additions or departures of management personnel;  
   ●  actions by institutional shareholders;  

   ●  speculation in the press or investment community;  
   ●  changes in our distribution policy;  
   ●  regulatory changes affecting our industry generally or our business;  
   ●  general market and economic conditions; and  

   ●  future sales of our shares of common stock or securities convertible into, or exchangeable or exercisable for, our shares of common 
stock.  
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There is a risk that our stockholders may not receive distributions or that distributions may not grow over time.  
 

We intend to make distributions on a quarterly basis out of assets legally available to our stockholders in amounts such that all or 
substantially all of our REIT taxable income in each year is distributed. We have not established a minimum distribution payment level and our 
ability to pay distributions may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including the risk factors described herein.  All distributions will 
be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our earnings, our financial condition, maintenance of our REIT status 
and other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant from time to time. Among the factors that could adversely affect our results of 
operations and impair our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders are:  
 

 
A change in any one of these factors could affect our ability to make distributions. We cannot assure you that we will achieve 

investment results that will allow us to make a specified level of cash distributions or year-to-year increases in cash distributions.  
 
Market interest rates may have an effect on the trading value of our shares.  
 

One of the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell our shares is our distribution rate as a percentage of 
our share price relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates increase, prospective investors may demand a higher distribution rate or 
seek alternative investments paying higher dividends or interest. As a result, interest rate fluctuations and capital market conditions can affect 
the market value of our shares. For instance, if interest rates rise, it is likely that the market price of our shares will decrease as market rates on 
interest-bearing securities, such as bonds, increase.  
 
Investing in our shares may involve a high degree of risk.  
 

The investments we make in accordance with our investment objectives may result in a high amount of risk when compared to 
alternative investment options and volatility or loss of principal. Our investments may be highly speculative and aggressive, are subject to 
credit risk, interest rate, and market value risks, among others, and therefore an investment in our shares may not be suitable for someone with 
lower risk tolerance.  
 
Broad market fluctuations could negatively impact the market price of our common stock.  
 

The stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market price of many companies in 
industries similar or related to ours and that have been unrelated to these companies’ operating performances. These broad market fluctuations 
could reduce the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, our operating results and prospects may be below the expectations of public 
market analysts and investors or may be lower than those of companies with comparable market capitalizations, which could lead to a material 
decline in the market price of our common stock.  
 
Future sales of shares may have adverse consequences for investors.  
 

We may issue additional shares in subsequent public offerings or private placements to make new investments or for other purposes. 
We are not required to offer any such shares to existing shareholders on a pre-emptive basis. Therefore, it may not be possible for existing 
shareholders to participate in such future share issues, which may dilute the existing shareholders’ interests in us.  
 
Our charter and bylaws contain provisions that may inhibit potential acquisition bids that stockholders may consider favorable, and 
the market price of our common stock may be lower as a result.  
 

Our charter and bylaws contain provisions that have an anti-takeover effect and inhibit a change in our board of directors. These 
provisions include the following:  
 

  

   ●  the profitability of the investments of net proceeds from our equity raises;  
   ●  our ability to make profitable investments;  

   ●  margin calls or other expenses that reduce our cash flow;  
   ●  defaults in our asset portfolio or decreases in the value of our portfolio; and  
   ●  the fact that anticipated operating expense levels may not prove accurate, as actual results may vary from estimates.  
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If voting rights or control shares acquired in a control share acquisition are not approved at a stockholders’ meeting, or if the acquiring 

person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act, then, subject to certain 
conditions and limitations, the issuer may redeem any or all of the control shares for fair value. If voting rights of such control shares are 
approved at a stockholders’ meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote, all other 
stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting acquisitions of our shares from the Maryland Control 
Share Acquisition Act. However, our board of directors may amend our bylaws in the future to repeal or modify this exemption, in which case 
any control shares of our company acquired in a control share acquisition will be subject to the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act.  
 

 

 

 

  

   ●  There are ownership limits and restrictions on transferability and ownership in our charter. To qualify as a REIT for each taxable 
year after 2007, not more than 50% of the value of our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer 
individuals during the second half of any calendar year. In addition, our shares must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons 
during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year for each taxable year 
after 2007. To assist us in satisfying these tests, our charter generally prohibits any person from beneficially or constructively owning 
more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of any class or series of our outstanding capital stock. 
These restrictions may discourage a tender offer or other transactions or a change in the composition of our board of directors or 
control that might involve a premium price for our shares or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders and any shares 
issued or transferred in violation of such restrictions being automatically transferred to a trust for a charitable beneficiary, thereby 
resulting in a forfeiture of the additional shares.  

   ●  Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms that may discourage a third party from acquiring us . Our charter 
permits our board of directors to amend the charter without stockholder approval to increase the total number of authorized shares of 
stock or the number of shares of any class or series and to issue common or preferred stock, having preferences, conversion or other 
rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of 
redemption as determined by our board.  Thus, our board could authorize the issuance of stock with terms and conditions that could 
have the effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which holders of some or a majority of our shares might receive a 
premium for their shares over the then-prevailing market price of our shares.  

   ●  Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. Maryland law provides that ‘‘control shares’’ of a corporation acquired in a ‘‘control share 
acquisition’’ will have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes eligible to be cast on the 
matter under the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. ‘‘Control shares’’ means voting shares of stock that, if aggregated with all 
other shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting 
power (except solely by a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the 
following ranges of voting power: one-tenth or more but less than one-third, one-third or more but less than a majority, or a majority 
or more of all voting power. A ‘ ‘ control share acquisition’ ’  means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain exceptions.  

   ●  Business Combinations . Under Maryland law, ‘‘business combinations’’ between a Maryland corporation and an interested 
stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested 
stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in 
circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is 
defined as:  

   o  any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s shares; or  

   o  an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period before the date in question, was the 
beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation.  
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A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which such 

person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of directors may provide that 
its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board.  After the five-
year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally must be recommended 
by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:  
 

 

 
These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the corporation’s common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined 

under Maryland law, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested 
stockholder for its shares.  The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by 
the board of directors before the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder.  Our board of directors has adopted a 
resolution which provides that any business combination between us and any other person is exempted from the provisions of the Maryland 
Control Share Acquisition Act, provided that the business combination is first approved by the board of directors.  This resolution, however, 
may be altered or repealed in whole or in part at any time.  If this resolution is repealed, or the board of directors does not otherwise approve a 
business combination, this statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any 
offer.  
 

 

 
Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which could limit 
stockholder's recourse in the event of actions not in their best interests.  
 

Our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages, except for liability resulting 
from:  
 

 
for which Maryland law prohibits such exemption from liability.  
 

In addition, our charter authorizes us to obligate our company to indemnify our present and former directors and officers for actions 
taken by them in those capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. Our bylaws require us to indemnify each present or 
former director or officer, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made, or 
threatened to be made, a party because of his or her service to us. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our 
directors and officers.  
 

  

   o  80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and  

   o  two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation, other than shares held by the 
interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or 
associate of the interested stockholder.  

   ●  Staggered board. Our board of directors is divided into three classes of directors. The current terms of the directors expire in 2011, 
2012 and 2013 respectively. Directors of each class are chosen for three-year terms upon the expiration of their current terms, and 
each year one class of directors is elected by the stockholders. The staggered terms of our directors may reduce the possibility of a 
tender offer or an attempt at a change in control, even though a tender offer or change in control might be in the best interests of our 
stockholders.  

   ●  Our charter and bylaws contain other possible anti-takeover provisions.   Our charter and bylaws contains other provisions that may 
have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us or the removal of existing directors and, as a result, could 
prevent our stockholders from being paid a premium for their common stock over the then-prevailing market price.  

   ●  actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or  

   ●  a final judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was material to the cause of 
action adjudicated  
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The fair value of certain of the assets on our consolidated balance sheets as calculated according to GAAP may not reflect amounts we 
would receive if we disposed of those assets.  
 

GAAP requires that we consolidate our RMBS re-securitization transactions on our consolidated balance sheets and report these assets 
at fair value.  Under GAAP, fair value for these assets is measured by determining the fair value of the underlying RMBS assets we contributed 
to the re-securitization trust as opposed to evaluating the fair value of the re-securitized securities we received as a result of the RMBS re-
securitization transaction.   
 

The fair value of the underlying RMBS assets subject to the RMBS re-securitization transactions may differ from the value of the re-
securitized securities we received as a result of the RMBS re-securitization transaction.  Discrepancies arise as a result of market dynamics, the 
limitations of the measurement techniques required by GAAP, the consolidation accounting principles under GAAP and the subordinate nature, 
complexity, illiquidity and restrictive features of the re-securitized securities we own.  These differences between the fair value of the 
underlying RMBS consolidated on our consolidated balance sheet under GAAP presentation and the economic value of our investments in the 
re-securitized securities can be significant.  
 

A discrepancy where the fair value of the underlying RMBS assets contained in a re-securitization trust is different from the amount 
we would receive if we sold the re-securitized securities we own may result in an overstatement or understatement of our book value due to the 
accounting standards we are required to apply. Reporting a higher book value than the value of our net investments in assets could have adverse 
effects on us. The adverse effects could include the inability to agree upon covenants with counterparties, the inability to satisfy collateral 
demands of counterparties based on their review of our financial statements, or an overestimation in the market price of our common stock.  
 
Changes in the fair values of our assets, liabilities, and interest rate swaps can have adverse effects on us, including earnings volatility, 
and volatility in our book value.  
 

The fair values for our assets, liabilities, and interest rate swaps can be volatile. The fair values can change rapidly and significantly 
from a variety of factors, including changes in interest rates, credit performance, perceived risk, supply, demand, and actual and projected cash 
flows and prepayments.  Decreases in fair value may not necessarily be the result of deterioration in future cash flows. Moreover, fair values 
for illiquid assets can be difficult to estimate, which may lead to volatility and uncertainty of earnings.  
 

For GAAP purposes, we mark to market some, but not all, of the assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. In addition, 
valuation adjustments on certain consolidated assets and our interest rate swaps are reflected in our consolidated statement of income. If we sell 
an asset that has not been marked to market through our consolidated statement of income at a reduced market price relative to its cost basis, 
our reported earnings will be reduced.  
 

A decrease in the fair value of the securities we own may result in a reduction in our book value due to the accounting standards we 
are required to apply. Reporting a low book value could have adverse effects even if that book value is not indicative of the actual value of our 
net investments in assets. The adverse effects could include the inability to meet or agree upon covenants with counterparties, to enter into 
interest rate swaps, or a reduction in the market price of our common stock.  
 

Tax Risks  
 
Your investment has various federal income tax risks.  
 

This summary of certain tax risks is limited to the federal tax risks addressed below. Additional risks or issues may exist that are not 
addressed in this Form 10-K and that could affect the federal tax treatment of us or our stockholders.  This is not intended to be used and 
cannot be used by any stockholder to avoid penalties that may be imposed on stockholders under the Internal Revenue Code, or the Code. We 
strongly urge you to seek advice based on your particular circumstances from an independent tax advisor concerning the effects of federal, state 
and local income tax law on an investment in common stock and on your individual tax situation.  
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Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities.  
 

To qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy various tests regarding the sources of our income, 
the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of our stock. To meet these tests, 
we may be required to forego investments we might otherwise make. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at 
disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may 
hinder our investment performance.  
 
Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.  
 

To qualify as a REIT, we generally must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter at least 75% of the value of our total assets 
consists of cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets, including certain mortgage loans and mortgage-
backed securities. The remainder of our investment in securities (other than government securities and qualifying real estate assets) generally 
cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding 
securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets (other than government securities, qualifying 
real estate assets, and stock in one or more TRSs) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 25% of the value of our total 
securities can be represented by securities of one or more TRSs.  If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any quarter, we 
must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of such calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our 
REIT status and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate from our portfolio otherwise attractive 
investments. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.  
 
Potential characterization of distributions or gain on sale may be treated as unrelated business taxable income to tax-exempt investors. 
 

If (1) all or a portion of our assets are subject to the rules relating to taxable mortgage pools, (2) we are a ‘‘pension-held REIT,’’ or (3) 
a tax-exempt stockholder has incurred debt to purchase or hold our common stock, then a portion of the distributions to and, in the case of a 
stockholder described in clause (3), gains realized on the sale of common stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject to federal 
income tax as unrelated business taxable income under the Internal Revenue Code.  
 
Classification of a securitization or financing arrangement we enter into as a taxable mortgage pool could subject us or certain of our 
stockholders to increased taxation.  
 

We intend to structure our securitization and financing arrangements as to not create a taxable mortgage pool. However, if we have 
borrowings with two or more maturities and, (1) those borrowings are secured by mortgages or mortgage-backed securities and (2) the 
payments made on the borrowings are related to the payments received on the underlying assets, then the borrowings and the pool of mortgages 
or mortgage-backed securities to which such borrowings relate may be classified as a taxable mortgage pool under the Internal Revenue Code. 
If any part of our investments were to be treated as a taxable mortgage pool, then our REIT status would not be impaired, but a portion of the 
taxable income we recognize may, under regulations to be issued by the Treasury Department, be characterized as ‘‘excess inclusion’’ income 
and allocated among our stockholders to the extent of and generally in proportion to the distributions we make to each stockholder. Any excess 
inclusion income would:  
 

 
Failure to qualify as a REIT would subject us to federal income tax, which would reduce the cash available for distribution to our 
stockholders.  
 

We qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2007. However, the 
federal income tax laws governing REITs are extremely complex, and interpretations of the federal income tax laws governing qualification as 
a REIT are limited. Qualifying as a REIT requires us to meet various tests regarding the nature of our assets and our income, the ownership of 
our outstanding stock, and the amount of our distributions on an ongoing basis. While we intend to operate so that we will qualify as a REIT, 
given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations, including the tax treatment of 
certain investments we may make, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given that we will so qualify 
for any particular year. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any calendar year and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we 
would be required to pay federal income tax on our taxable income. We might need to borrow money or sell assets to pay that tax. Our payment 
of income tax would decrease the amount of our income available for distribution to our stockholders. Furthermore, if we fail to maintain our 
qualification as a REIT and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we no longer would be required to distribute substantially 
all of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders. Unless our failure to qualify as a REIT were excused under federal tax laws, we would be 
disqualified from taxation as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost.  
 

  

   ●  not be allowed to be offset by a stockholder’s net operating losses;  
   ●  be subject to a tax as unrelated business income if a stockholder were a tax-exempt stockholder;  
   ●  be subject to the application of federal income tax withholding at the maximum rate (without reduction for any otherwise applicable 

income tax treaty) with respect to amounts allocable to foreign stockholders; and  
   ●  be taxable (at the highest corporate tax rate) to us, rather than to our stockholders, to the extent the excess inclusion income relates to 

stock held by disqualified organizations (generally, tax-exempt organizations not subject to tax on unrelated business income, 
including governmental organizations).  

  
43 





   
Failure to make required distributions would subject us to tax, which would reduce the cash available for distribution to our 
stockholders.  
 

To qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders each calendar year at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (excluding 
certain items of non-cash income in excess of a specified threshold), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and 
excluding net capital gain. To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income, 
we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed income. In addition, we will incur a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the 
amount, if any, by which our distributions in any calendar year are less than the sum of:  
 

 
We intend to distribute our REIT taxable income to our stockholders in a manner intended to satisfy the 90% distribution requirement 

and to avoid both corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax. However, there is no requirement that TRSs distribute their after-
tax net income to their parent REIT or their stockholders. Our taxable income may substantially exceed our net income as determined by 
GAAP, because, for example, realized capital losses will be deducted in determining our GAAP net income, but may not be deductible in 
computing our taxable income. In addition, we may invest in assets that generate taxable income in excess of economic income or in advance 
of the corresponding cash flow from the assets. To the extent that we generate such non-cash taxable income in a taxable year, we may incur 
corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax on that income if we do not distribute such income to stockholders in that year. As a 
result of the foregoing, we may generate less cash flow than taxable income in a particular year. In that event, we may be required to use cash 
reserves, incur debt, or liquidate non-cash assets at rates or at times that we regard as unfavorable to satisfy the distribution requirement and to 
avoid corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax in that year.  Moreover, our ability to distribute cash may be limited by 
financing facilities we may enter into.  
 
Ownership limitations may restrict change of control or business combination opportunities in which our stockholders might receive a 
premium for their shares.  
 

In order for us to qualify as a REIT for each taxable year after 2007, no more than 50% in value of our outstanding capital stock may 
be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals during the last half of any calendar year. ‘‘Individuals’’ for this purpose include 
natural persons, private foundations, some employee benefit plans and trusts, and some charitable trusts. To preserve our REIT qualification, 
our charter generally prohibits any person from directly or indirectly owning more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is 
more restrictive, of any class or series of the outstanding shares of our capital stock. This ownership limitation could have the effect of 
discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which holders of our common stock might receive a premium for their shares over the then 
prevailing market price or which holders might believe to be otherwise in their best interests.  
 
Our ownership of and relationship with any TRS which we may form or acquire will be limited, and a failure to comply with the limits 
would jeopardize our REIT status and may result in the application of a 100% excise tax.  
 

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs. A TRS may earn income that would not be qualifying income if 
earned directly by the parent REIT. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary as a TRS. Overall, no more than 
25% of the value of a REIT’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs. A TRS will pay federal, state and local income tax 
at regular corporate rates on any income that it earns. In addition, the TRS rules impose a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between a 
TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm’s-length basis. Any TRS that we may form would pay federal, state and local 
income tax on its taxable income, and its after-tax net income would be available for distribution to us but would not be required to be 
distributed to us. We anticipate that the aggregate value of the TRS stock and securities owned by us will be less than 25% of the value of our 
total assets (including the TRS stock and securities). Furthermore, we will monitor the value of our investments in our TRSs to ensure 
compliance with the rule that no more than 25% of the value of our assets may consist of TRS stock and securities (which is applied at the end 
of each calendar quarter). In addition, we will scrutinize all of our transactions with taxable REIT subsidiaries to ensure that they are entered 
into on arm’s-length terms to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described above. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to 
comply with the 25% limitation discussed above or to avoid application of the 100% excise tax discussed above.  
 

  

   ●  85% of our REIT ordinary income for that year;  
   ●  95% of our REIT capital gain net income for that year; and  
   ●  any undistributed taxable income from prior years.  
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We could fail to qualify as a REIT or we could become subject to a penalty tax if income we recognize from certain investments that 
are treated or could be treated as equity interests in a foreign corporation exceeds 5% of our gross income in a taxable year.  
 

We may invest in securities, such as subordinated interests in certain CDO offerings, that are treated or could be treated for federal 
(and applicable state and local) corporate income tax purposes as equity interests in foreign corporations. Categories of income that qualify for 
the 95% gross income test include dividends, interest and certain other enumerated classes of passive income. Under certain circumstances, the 
federal income tax rules concerning controlled foreign corporations and passive foreign investment companies require that the owner of an 
equity interest in a foreign corporation include amounts in income without regard to the owner’s receipt of any distributions from the foreign 
corporation. Amounts required to be included in income under those rules are technically neither actual dividends nor any of the other 
enumerated categories of passive income specified in the 95% gross income test. Furthermore, there is no clear precedent with respect to the 
qualification of such income under the 95% gross income test. Due to this uncertainty, we intend to limit our direct investment in securities that 
are or could be treated as equity interests in a foreign corporation such that the sum of the amounts we are required to include in income with 
respect to such securities and other amounts of non-qualifying income do not exceed 5% of our gross income. We cannot assure you that we 
will be successful in this regard. To avoid any risk of failing the 95% gross income test, we may be required to invest only indirectly, through a 
domestic TRS, in any securities that are or could be considered to be equity interests in a foreign corporation. This, of course, will result in any 
income recognized from any such investment to be subject to federal income tax in the hands of the TRS, which may, in turn, reduce our yield 
on the investment.  
 
Liquidation of our assets may jeopardize our REIT qualification.  
 

To qualify as a REIT, we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income. If we are compelled to 
liquidate our investments to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements, ultimately jeopardizing our 
qualification as a REIT, or we may be subject to a 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets in transactions that are considered to be 
prohibited transactions.  
 
The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods of securitizing mortgage 
loans that would be treated as sales for federal income tax purposes.  
 

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or other 
dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, but including mortgage loans, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary 
course of business. We might be subject to this tax if we sold or securitized our assets in a manner that was treated as a sale for federal income 
tax purposes. Therefore, to avoid the prohibited transactions tax, we may choose not to engage in certain sales of assets at the REIT level and 
may securitize assets only in transactions that are treated as financing transactions and not as sales for tax purposes even though such 
transactions may not be the optimal execution on a pre-tax basis.  We could avoid any prohibited transactions tax concerns by engaging in 
securitization transactions through a TRS, subject to certain limitations described above. To the extent that we engage in such activities through 
domestic TRSs, the income associated with such activities will be subject to federal (and applicable state and local) corporate income tax.  
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Characterization of the repurchase agreements we enter into to finance our investments as sales for tax purposes rather than as 
secured lending transactions would adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT.  
 

We have entered into and will enter into repurchase agreements with a variety of counterparties to achieve our desired amount of 
leverage for the assets in which we invest. When we enter into a repurchase agreement, we generally sell assets to our counterparty to the 
agreement and receive cash from the counterparty. The counterparty is obligated to resell the assets back to us at the end of the term of the 
transaction, which is typically 30 to 90 days. We believe that for federal income tax purposes we will be treated as the owner of the assets that 
are the subject of repurchase agreements and that the repurchase agreements will be treated as secured lending transactions notwithstanding 
that such agreement may transfer record ownership of the assets to the counterparty during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, 
that the IRS could successfully assert that we did not own these assets during the term of the repurchase agreements, in which case we could 
fail to qualify as a REIT.  
 
Complying with REIT requirements may limit our abil ity to hedge effectively.  
 

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code substantially limit our ability to hedge mortgage-backed securities and related 
borrowings. Under these provisions, our annual gross income from non-qualifying hedges, together with any other income not generated from 
qualifying real estate assets, cannot exceed 25% of our annual gross income. In addition, our aggregate gross income from non-qualifying 
hedges, fees, and certain other non-qualifying sources cannot exceed 5% of our annual gross income. As a result, we might have to limit our 
use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS, which we may form in the future. This could increase the 
cost of our hedging activities or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear.  
 
We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could reduce the market price of our common stock.  
 

At any time, the federal income tax laws or regulations governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of those laws or 
regulations may be amended. We cannot predict when or if any new federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, or any 
amendment to any existing federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, will be adopted, promulgated or become 
effective and any such law, regulation or interpretation may take effect retroactively. We and our stockholders could be adversely affected by 
any such change in, or any new, federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation.  
 
Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates.  
 

Legislation enacted in 2003 generally reduces the maximum tax rate for dividends payable to domestic stockholders that are 
individuals, trusts and estates from 38.6% to 15% (through 2012). Dividends payable by REITs, however, are generally not eligible for the 
reduced rates. Although this legislation does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends paid by REITs, the more favorable rates 
applicable to regular corporate dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be 
relatively less attractive than investments in stock of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the 
stock of REITs, including our common stock.  
 
Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments  
 

None.  
 
Item 2.  Properties  
 

We do not own any property.  Our executive and administrative office is located at 1211 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 2902, New 
York, New York 10036, telephone (646) 454-3759.  We share this office space with Annaly and FIDAC.  
 
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings  
 

We are not party to any material litigation or legal proceedings, or to the best of our knowledge, any threatened litigation or legal 
proceedings, which, in our opinion, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or 
financial condition.  
   
Item 4.  (Removed and Reserved)  
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Part II  

 
Item 5.  Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  
 

Our common stock began trading publicly on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “CIM” on November 16, 
2007.  As of February 16, 2011, we had 1,027,058,153 shares of common stock issued and outstanding which were held by approximately 
178,652 beneficial holders. The following tables set forth, for the periods indicated, the high, low, and closing sales prices per share of our 
common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange composite tape and the cash dividends declared per share of our common stock.  
   

 

 
We pay quarterly dividends and distribute to our stockholders all or substantially all of our taxable income in each year (subject to 

certain adjustments).  This enables us to qualify for the tax benefits accorded to a REIT under the Code. We have not established a minimum 
dividend payment level and our ability to pay dividends may be adversely affected for the reasons described under the caption “Risk Factors.” 
All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our earnings, our financial condition, maintenance 
of our REIT status and such other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant from time to time.  
 

  

    Stock Price    
    High      Low      Close    
                    
Quarter Ended December 31, 2010    $ 4.30     $ 3.86     $ 4.11   
Quarter Ended September 30, 2010    $ 4.17     $ 3.51     $ 3.95   
Quarter Ended June 30, 2010    $ 4.18     $ 3.61     $ 3.61   
Quarter Ended March 31, 2010    $ 4.14     $ 3.56     $ 3.89   
                          
Quarter Ended December 31, 2009    $ 4.14     $ 3.49     $ 3.88   
Quarter Ended September 30, 2009    $ 4.30     $ 3.20     $ 3.82   
Quarter Ended June 30, 2009    $ 3.78     $ 3.04     $ 3.49   
Quarter Ended March 31, 2009    $ 3.60     $ 2.49     $ 3.36   

  Common 
Dividends  

Declared Per Share 
    
Quarter Ended December 31, 2010  $0.17  
Quarter Ended September 30, 2010  $0.18  
Quarter Ended June 30, 2010  $0.17  
Quarter Ended March 31, 2010  $0.17  
    
Quarter Ended December 31, 2009  $0.17  
Quarter Ended September 30, 2009  $0.12  
Quarter Ended June 30, 2009  $0.08  
Quarter Ended March 31, 2009  $0.06  
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Share Performance Graph  

   
The following graph and table set forth certain information comparing the yearly percentage change in cumulative total return on our 

common stock to the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s Composite-500 Stock Index or S&P 500 Index, and the Bloomberg REIT 
Mortgage Index, or BBG REIT Index, an industry index of mortgage REITs.  The comparison is for the period from November 15, 2007, the 
day our common stock commenced trading on the NYSE, to December 31, 2010 and assumes the reinvestment of dividends.  The graph and 
table assume that $100 was invested in our common stock and the two other indices on November 15, 2007.  Upon written request we will 
provide stockholders with a list of the REITs included in the BBG REIT Index.  
 

  

 
The information in the share performance graph and table has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but neither its 

accuracy nor its completeness can be guaranteed.  The historical information set forth above is not necessarily indicative of future 
performance.  Accordingly, we do not make or endorse any predictions as to future share performance.  
 

  

    11/15/2007  12/31/2007  12/31/2008  12/31/2009  12/31/2010  
  Chimera 100  119  27  33  39  
  S&P 500 Index 100  101  64  81  92  
  BBG REIT 

Index 
100  105  65  78  91  
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The share performance graph and table shall not be deemed, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended, to be (i) “soliciting material” or “filed” or (ii) incorporated by reference by any general statement into any filing 
made by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission, except to the extent that we specifically incorporates such share performance graph 
and table by reference.  
   

Equity Compensation Plan Information  
   

We have adopted a long term stock incentive plan, or Incentive Plan, to provide incentives to our independent directors, employees of 
our Manager and its affiliates to stimulate their efforts towards our continued success long-term growth and profitability and to attract, reward 
and retain personnel and other service providers.  The Incentive Plan authorizes the Compensation Committee of the board of directors to grant 
awards, including incentive stock options as defined under Section 422 of the Code, or ISOs, non-qualified stock options, or NQSOs, restricted 
shares and other types of incentive awards.  The Incentive Plan authorizes the granting of options or other awards for an aggregate of 
40,000,000 shares of common stock.  For a description of our Incentive Plan, see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
   

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2010 concerning shares of our common stock authorized for issuance 
under our existing Incentive Plan.  

   

   

  

Plan Category    

Number of 
Securities  

to be Issued 
Upon  

Exercise of  
Outstanding 

Options, 
Warrants, and 

Rights      

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price of 
Outstanding 

Options, 
Warrants, and 

Rights      

Number of 
Securities 
Remaining 
Available  
for Future 
Issuance  

Under Equity  
Compensation 

Plans    
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Stockholders      -      -      38,742,025   
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Stockholders (1)      -      -      -  
Total      -      -      38,742,025   

(1) We do not have any equity plans that have not been approved by our stockholders.    
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data  
 

The following selected financial data are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 
2010 and 2009.  The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the more detailed information contained in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Notes thereto and  “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” 
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.  

   

   

 
Item 7.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of Operations  
 

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 
financial statements and notes to those statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.  The discussion may contain certain forward-looking 
statements that involve risks and uncertainties.  Forward-looking statements are those that are not historical in nature.  As a result of many 
factors, such as those set forth under “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in such 
forward-looking statements.  
 

  

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Highlights    
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    

                          
    December 31,      December 31,      December 31,      December 31,    
    2010      2009      2008      2007    
Non-Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities                          

Senior    $ 987,685     $ 2,022,406     $ 603,234     $ 1,124,290   
Subordinated    $ 2,210,858     $ 376,459     $ 9,871     $ -  
Senior, non-retained    $ 2,330,568     $ -    $ -    $ -  

Agency Mortgage-Backed securities    $ 2,133,584     $ 1,690,029     $ 242,362     $ -  
Mortgage loans held for investment    $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 162,371   
Securitized loans held for investment    $ 353,532     $ 470,533     $ 583,346     $ -  
Total assets    $ 8,073,700     $ 4,618,328     $ 1,477,501     $ 1,565,636   
Repurchase agreements    $ 1,808,797     $ 1,716,398     $ -    $ 270,584   
Repurchase agreements with affiliates    $ -    $ 259,004     $ 562,119     $ -  
Securitized debt    $ 289,236     $ 390,350     $ 488,743     $ -  
Securitized debt, non-retained    $ 1,956,079     $ -    $ -    $ -  
Total liabilities    $ 4,390,695     $ 2,491,766     $ 1,063,046     $ 1,026,747   
Shareholders' equity    $ 3,683,006     $ 2,126,562     $ 414,455     $ 538,889   
Book value per share (1)    $ 3.59     $ 3.17     $ 2.34     $ 14.29   
Number of shares outstanding      1,027,034,357       670,371,587       177,198,212       37,705,563   
                                  
(1) See discussion of Financial Condition on page 56 for a review of GAAP book value.                    

Consolidated Statements of Operations Highlights    
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    

                          
    For the      For the      For the      For the Period    

    Year Ended      Year Ended      Year Ended    
November 21, 2007 

to 

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008      
December 31, 

2007    
Net interest income    $ 603,202     $ 263,456     $ 44,715     $ 3,077   
Net income (loss)    $ 532,851     $ 323,983     $ (119,809 )   $ (2,906 ) 
Income (loss) per share-basic and diluted    $ 0.65     $ 0.64     $ (1.90 )   $ (0.08 ) 
Average shares-basic and diluted      822,617,319       507,042,421       63,155,878       37,401,737   
Dividends declared per share (1)    $ 0.69     $ 0.43     $ 0.62     $ 0.025   
                                  
(1) For applicable period as reported in our earnings announcements.                    
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Executive Summary  
   

We are a specialty finance company that invests, either directly or indirectly through our subsidiaries, in residential mortgage-backed 
securities, or RMBS, residential mortgage loans, real estate related securities and various other asset classes.  We are externally managed by 
Fixed Income Discount Advisory Company, which we refer to as FIDAC or our Manager.  FIDAC is a fixed-income investment management 
company that is registered as an investment adviser with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.  FIDAC is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Annaly Capital Management, Inc., or Annaly.  FIDAC has a broad range of experience in managing investments in Agency 
RMBS, which are mortgage pass-through certificates, collateralized mortgage obligations, or CMOs, and other mortgage-backed securities 
representing interests in or obligations backed by pools of mortgage loans issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae, 
non-Agency RMBS, collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs, and other real estate related investments.  
 

We have elected and intend to qualify to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended 
December 31, 2007.  Our targeted asset classes and the principal investments we expect to make in each are as follows:  
 

 

   

   

 

   

   

   

   

 

   

   

   
 

We completed our initial public offering on November 21, 2007.  In that offering and in a concurrent private offering we raised net 
proceeds of approximately $533.6 million from the sales of shares of our common stock.  Since then we have raised an aggregate of 
approximately $3.1 billion in follow-on offerings from the sales of shares of our common stock.  
 

Our objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted returns to our investors over the long-term, primarily through dividends and 
secondarily through capital appreciation.  We intend to achieve this objective by investing in a broad class of financial assets to construct an 
investment portfolio that is designed to achieve attractive risk-adjusted returns and that is structured to comply with the various federal income 
tax requirements for REIT status and to maintain our exemption from the Investment Company Act of 1940, or the 1940 Act.  
 

Since we commenced operations in November 2007, we have focused our investment activities on acquiring non-Agency RMBS and 
on purchasing residential mortgage loans that have been originated by select high-quality originators, including the retail lending operations of 
leading commercial banks.  Our investment portfolio is weighted toward non-Agency RMBS.  At December 31, 2010, approximately 83.4% of 
our investment portfolio’s principal value was non-Agency RMBS, 12.6% of our investment portfolio’s principal value was Agency RMBS, 
and 4.0% of our investment portfolio’s principal value was secured residential mortgage loans.  At December 31, 2009, approximately 64.6% 
of our investment portfolio’s principal value was non-Agency RMBS, 23.3% of our investment portfolio’s principal value was Agency RMBS, 
and 12.1% of our investment portfolio’s principal value was secured residential mortgage loans.  We expect that over the near term our 
investment portfolio will continue to be weighted toward RMBS, subject to maintaining our REIT qualification and our 1940 Act exemption.  
 

  

●  RMBS, including:  

   o  Non-Agency RMBS, including investment-grade and non-investment grade classes, including the BB-rated, B-rated and non-
rated classes  

   o  Agency RMBS  

●  Residential mortgage loans, including:  

   o  Prime mortgage loans  

   o  Jumbo prime mortgage loans  

   o  Alt -A mortgage loans  

●  Commercial mortgage loans  

●  Asset Backed Securities, or ABS, including:  

   o  Commercial mortgage-backed securities, or CMBS  

   o  Debt and equity tranches of collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs  

   o  Consumer and non-consumer ABS, including investment-grade and non-investment grade classes, including the BB-rated, B-
rated and non-rated classes  
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Our investment strategy is intended to take advantage of opportunities in the current interest rate and credit environment.  We will 

adjust our strategy to changing market conditions by shifting our asset allocations across these various asset classes as interest rate and credit 
cycles change over time.  We believe that our strategy, combined with FIDAC’s experience, will enable us to pay dividends and achieve capital 
appreciation throughout changing market cycles.  We expect to take a long-term view of assets and liabilities, and our reported earnings and 
mark-to-market valuations at the end of a financial reporting period will not significantly impact our objective of providing attractive risk-
adjusted returns to our stockholders over the long-term.  
 

We use leverage to seek to increase our potential returns and to fund the acquisition of our assets.  Our income is generated primarily 
by the difference, or net spread, between the income we earn on our assets and the cost of our borrowings.  We expect to finance our 
investments using a variety of financing sources including, when available, repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, securitizations, 
commercial paper and term financing CDOs.  We may manage our debt by utilizing interest rate hedges, such as interest rate swaps, to reduce 
the effect of interest rate fluctuations related to our debt.  
 
Recent Developments  
   

During the period of market dislocation that commenced in August 2007, fiscal and monetary policymakers established new liquidity 
facilities for primary dealers and commercial banks, reduced short-term interest rates, and passed legislation that is intended to address the 
challenges of mortgage borrowers and lenders. In September 2008 Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed into the conservatorship of the 
Federal Housing Finance Agency, or FHFA, their federal regulator, pursuant to its powers under The Federal Housing Finance Regulatory 
Reform Act of 2008, a part of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008.  In addition to FHFA becoming the conservator of Fannie 
Mae and Freddie Mac, the Treasury and FHFA entered into preferred stock purchase agreements (PSPAs) between the  Treasury and Fannie 
Mae and Freddie Mac pursuant to which the Treasury will ensure that each of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac maintains a positive net worth. On 
December 24, 2009, the Treasury amended the terms of the PSPAs with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to remove the $200 billion per institution 
limit established under the PSPAs until the end of 2012.  The Treasury also amended the PSPAs with respect to the requirements for Fannie 
Mae and Freddie Mac to reduce their portfolios.  
 

On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-
Frank Act. The Dodd-Frank Act provides for new regulations on financial institutions and creates new supervisory and advisory bodies, 
including the new Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The Dodd-Frank Act tasks many agencies with issuing a variety of new regulations, 
including rules related to mortgage origination and servicing, securitization and derivatives. As the Dodd-Frank Act has only recently been 
enacted and because a significant number of regulations have yet to be proposed or adopted in final form, it is not possible for us to predict how 
the Dodd-Frank Act will impact our business.  
 

On February 11, 2011, the U.S Department of the Treasury issued a White Paper titled “Reforming America's Housing Finance 
Market” that lays out, among other things, proposals to limit or potentially wind down the role that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac play in the 
mortgage market.  Any such proposals, if enacted, may have broad adverse implications for the mortgage-backed securities market and our 
business, operations and financial condition.  We expect such proposals to be the subject of significant discussion and it is not yet possible to 
determine whether or when such proposals may be enacted, what form any final legislation or policies might take and how proposals, 
legislation or policies emanating from the White Paper may impact the mortgage-backed securities market and our business, operations and 
financial condition.  We are evaluating the potential impact of the proposals set forth in the White Paper.  
   

Market conditions are evolving on a number of fronts. Regulatory and technical dynamics continue to develop, and monetary policy 
initiatives, including additional large scale asset purchases by the Federal Reserve, continue to support asset prices and lower yields across a 
wide range of market sectors, including ours.  
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Trends  
   

We expect the results of our operations to be affected by various factors, many of which are beyond our control.  Our results of 
operations will primarily depend on, among other things, the level of our net interest income, the market value of our assets, and the supply of 
and demand for such assets.  Our net interest income, which reflects the amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of discounts, varies 
primarily as a result of changes in interest rates, borrowing costs, and prepayment speeds, which is a measurement of how quickly borrowers 
pay down the unpaid principal balance on their mortgage loans.  
   

Prepayment Speeds . Prepayment speeds, as reflected by the Constant Prepayment Rate, or CPR, vary according to interest rates, the 
type of investment, conditions in financial markets, and other factors, none of which can be predicted with any certainty.  In general, when 
interest rates rise, it is relatively less attractive for borrowers to refinance their mortgage loans, and as a result, prepayment speeds tend to 
decrease.  When interest rates fall, prepayment speeds tend to increase. For mortgage loan and RMBS investments purchased at a premium, as 
prepayment speeds increase, the amount of income we earn decreases because the purchase premium we paid for the bonds amortizes faster 
than expected.  Conversely, decreases in prepayment speeds result in increased income and can extend the period over which we amortize the 
purchase premium. For mortgage loan and RMBS investments purchased at a discount, as prepayment speeds increase, the amount of income 
we earn increases because of the acceleration of the accretion of the discount into interest income. Conversely, decreases in prepayment speeds 
result in decreased income and can extend the period over which we accrete the purchase discount into interest income.  
 

Rising Interest Rate Environment .  As indicated above, as interest rates rise, prepayment speeds generally decrease.  Rising interest 
rates, however, increase our financing costs which may result in a net negative impact on our net interest income.  In addition, if we acquire 
Agency and non-Agency RMBS collateralized by monthly reset adjustable-rate mortgages, or ARMs, and three- and five-year hybrid ARMs, 
such interest rate increases could result in decreases in our net investment income, as there could be a timing mismatch between the interest rate 
reset dates on our RMBS portfolio and the financing costs of these investments.  We expect, that our fixed-rate assets would decline in value in 
a rising interest rate environment and that our net interest spreads on fixed rate assets could decline in a rising interest rate environment to the 
extent such assets are financed with floating rate debt.  
   

Falling Interest Rate Environment .  As interest rates fall, prepayment speeds generally increase.  Falling interest rates, however, 
decrease our financing costs which may result in a net positive impact on our net interest income.  In addition, if we acquire Agency and non-
Agency RMBS collateralized by monthly reset adjustable-rate mortgages, or ARMs, and three- and five-year hybrid ARMs, such interest rate 
decreases could result in increases in our net investment income, as there could be a timing mismatch between the interest rate reset dates on 
our RMBS portfolio and the financing costs of these investments.  We expect, however, that our fixed-rate assets would increase in value in a 
falling interest rate environment and that our net interest spreads on fixed rate assets could increase in a falling interest rate environment to the 
extent such assets are financed with floating rate debt.  
   

Credit Risk.   One of our strategic focuses is acquiring assets which we believe to be of high credit quality. We believe this strategy 
will generally keep our credit losses and financing costs low.  We also focus on acquiring distressed assets non-Agency RMBS have been 
downgraded because of defaults in the mortgages collateralizing such RMBS.  When we acquire such RMBS we attempt to purchase it at a 
price such that its loss-adjusted return profile is in line with our targeted yields.  We retain the risk of potential credit losses on all of the 
residential mortgage loans we hold in our portfolio as well as all of the non-Agency RMBS.  We attempt to mitigate credit risk in the asset 
selection process.  Prior to the purchase of investments, we conduct a credit-risk based analysis of the collateral securing our investment that 
includes examining borrower characteristics, geographic concentrations, current and projected delinquencies, current and projected severities, 
and actual and expected prepayment speeds among other characteristics to formulate expected losses.  
   

Size of Investment Portfolio .  The size of our investment portfolio, as measured by the aggregate unpaid principal balance of our 
mortgage loans and aggregate principal balance of our mortgage related securities and the other assets we own is also a key revenue 
driver.  Generally, as the size of our investment portfolio grows, the amount of interest income we receive increases.  The larger investment 
portfolio, however, drives increased expenses as we incur additional interest expense to finance the purchase of our assets.  
   

Current Environment .  We expect to use a number of sources to finance our investments, including repurchase agreements, 
warehouse facilities, securitizations, asset-backed commercial paper and term CDOs.  Current market conditions have affected the cost and 
availability of financing from each of these sources and their individual providers to different degrees; some sources generally are unavailable, 
some are available but at a high cost, and some are largely unaffected.  
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In the current market, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain third party pricing on the investments we purchase.  In addition, 

validating third party pricing for our investments may be more subjective as fewer participants may be willing to provide this service to 
us.  Moreover, the current market is more illiquid than in recent history for some of the investments we purchase.  Illiquid investments typically 
experience greater price volatility as a ready market does not exist.  As volatility increases or liquidity decreases we may have greater difficulty 
financing our investments which may negatively impact our earnings and the execution of our investment strategy.  
   
Critical Accounting Estimates  
   

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, or GAAP.  These accounting principles may require us to make some complex and subjective decisions and assessments.  Our most 
critical accounting policies will involve decisions and assessments that could affect our reported assets and liabilities, as well as our reported 
revenues and expenses.  We believe that all of the decisions and assessments upon which our consolidated financial statements are based will 
be reasonable at the time made and based upon information available to us at that time.  The following are our most critical accounting policies: 
   
Valuation of Investments  
   

Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , establishes a framework for measuring 
fair value, and establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurement and enhances disclosure requirements for 
fair value measurements.  The valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the 
measurement date.  The three levels are defined as follows:  
   

Level 1 – inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets and liabilities in active markets.  
   

Level 2 – inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.  

   
Level 3 – inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to overall fair value.  

   
Non-Agency and Agency RMBS are valued using a pricing model.  The RMBS pricing model incorporates such factors as coupons, 

prepayment speeds, spread to the Treasury and swap curves, convexity, duration, periodic and life caps, and credit enhancement.  Management 
reviews the fair values determined by the pricing model and compares its results to dealer quotes received on each investment to validate the 
reasonableness of the valuations indicated by the pricing models.  The dealer quotes incorporate common market pricing methods, including a 
spread measurement to the Treasury curve or interest rate swap curve as well as underlying characteristics of the particular security including 
coupon, periodic and life caps, rate reset period, issuer, additional credit support and expected life of the security.  
 

Although we utilize a pricing model to compute the fair value of the securities in our portfolio, we validate our fair values by seeking 
indications of fair value from third-party dealers and/or pricing services. The variability of fair value among dealers and pricing services can be 
wide at this time as full liquidity for the non-Agency market has yet to return.  In addition, there are fewer participants in the RMBS sector 
available to fair value investments.  Our internal valuations of the securities on which we received dealer marks were 0.02% lower at December 
31, 2010 and 1.05% lower at December 31, 2009 than the aggregated dealer marks.  
 

Any changes to the valuation methodology are reviewed by management to ensure the changes are appropriate. As markets and 
products develop and the pricing for certain products becomes more transparent, we continue to refine our valuation methodologies. The 
methods used by us may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. 
Furthermore, while we believe our valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies, or assumptions, to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at 
the reporting date.  We use inputs that are current as of the measurement date, which may include periods of market dislocation, during which 
price transparency may be reduced.  This condition could cause our financial instruments to be reclassified from Level 2 to Level 3.  
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Other-than-Temporary Impairments  
   

We evaluate each investment in our RMBS portfolio for other-than-temporary impairments, or OTTI, quarterly or more often if 
market conditions warrant. Each investment is analyzed and we determine if we (1) have the intent to sell the security, (2) are more likely than 
not to be required to sell the security before recovery, or (3) we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security. Further, 
each security is analyzed for credit loss by comparing the difference between the present value of cash flows expected to be collected and the 
amortized cost basis. The credit loss, if any, is then recognized in the consolidated statements of operations, while the balance of impairment 
related to other factors is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).  
 
   
Interest Income  
   

Interest income on RMBS and loans held for investment is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest 
method.  The effective interest method requires significant management judgment in calculating the yields utilized to accrete discounts and 
amortize premiums.  The assumptions used by us to calculate the expected yield include current and future prepayment assumptions, expected 
principal write-downs, loss severities, changes in interest rates, and other factors that affect the expected yield.  Income recognition is 
suspended for loans when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of income and principal becomes doubtful.  Income recognition is 
resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.  
 
Accounting For Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities  
   

Our policies permit us to enter into derivative contracts, including interest rate swaps and interest rate caps, as a means of mitigating 
our interest rate risk. We use interest rate derivative instruments to mitigate interest rate risk rather than to enhance returns. We account for 
these instruments as free-standing derivatives.  Accordingly, they are carried at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses 
recognized in earnings.  
   

We recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial condition and measure those instruments at fair 
value. Additionally, the fair value adjustments will affect net income as we did not elect to use hedge accounting.  
   

Derivatives will be used for economic hedging purposes rather than speculation. We will rely on quotations from third parties to 
determine fair values.  We compare the dealer quotes received by the Company to the fair values generated by our own internal pricing model 
which incorporates such factors as term to maturity, the Treasury curve, LIBOR rates, and payment rates on the fixed portion of the interest rate 
swaps.  If our hedging activities do not achieve our desired results, our reported earnings may be adversely affected.  
   
Allowance for Probable Credit Losses  
   

We have established an allowance for loan losses at a level that management believes is adequate based on an evaluation of known 
and inherent probable losses related to our loan portfolio.  The estimate is based on a variety of factors including current economic conditions, 
industry loss experience, the loan originator’s loss experience, credit quality trends, loan portfolio composition, delinquency trends, national 
and local economic trends, national unemployment data, changes in housing  appreciation or depreciation and whether specific geographic 
areas where we have significant loan concentrations are experiencing adverse economic conditions and events such as natural disasters that 
may affect the local economy or property values. Upon purchase of the pools of loans, we obtained written representations and warranties from 
the sellers that we could be reimbursed for the value of the loan if the loan fails to meet the agreed upon origination standards.  While we have 
little history of our own to establish loan trends, delinquency trends of the originators and the current market conditions aid in determining the 
allowance for loan losses.  We also performed due diligence procedures on a sample of loans that met our criteria during the purchase 
process.  We have created an unallocated provision for probable loan losses estimated as a percentage of the remaining principal on the 
loans.  Management’s estimate is based on historical experience of similarly underwritten pools.  
 

When we determine it is probable that specific contractually due amounts are uncollectible, the amount is considered 
impaired.  Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded investment over the net fair 
value of the collateral, reduced by selling costs.  Any deficiency between the carrying amount of an asset and the net sales price of repossessed 
collateral is charged to the allowance for loan losses.  
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Income Taxes  
   

We have elected and intend to qualify to be taxed as a REIT.  Therefore we will generally not be subject to corporate federal or state 
income tax to the extent that we make qualifying distributions to our stockholders, and provided we satisfy on a continuing basis, through 
actual investment and operating results, the REIT requirements including certain asset, income, distribution and stock ownership tests.  
   

If we fail to qualify as a REIT, and do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we will be subject to federal, state and local 
income taxes and may be precluded from qualifying as a REIT for the subsequent four taxable years following the year in which we lost our 
REIT qualification.  Accordingly, our failure to qualify as a REIT could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and 
amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.  
   

The dividends paid deduction of a REIT for qualifying dividends to its stockholders is computed using our taxable income as opposed 
to net income reported on the consolidated financial statements.  Taxable income, generally, will differ from net income reported on the 
consolidated financial statements because the determination of taxable income is based on tax provisions and not financial accounting 
principles.  
   
   
Financial Condition  
   
Estimated Economic Book Value  
   

This Management Discussion and Analysis section contains analysis and discussion of financial information that utilizes or presents 
ratios based on GAAP book value.  The table and discussion below present our estimated economic book value.  We calculate and disclose this 
non-GAAP measurement because we believe it represents our estimated economic book value at the measurement date.  
   

On January 1, 2010 GAAP required us to consolidate certain re-securitization transactions we consummated during 2009 and 2010.  In 
these re-securitizations, we transferred assets to the re-securitization trusts, which issued tranches of senior and subordinate notes or 
certificates.  We sold the senior tranches and therefore have no continuing involvement in these trusts other than being a holder of notes or 
certificates issued by the trusts, with the same rights of other holders of the notes or certificates.  The notes and certificates we own that were 
issued by the trusts are largely subordinated interests in those trusts.  The trusts have no recourse to our assets other than pursuant to a breach 
by us of the transaction documents related to the transfer of the assets by us to the trusts.  
   

GAAP requires us to fair value and present the assets of these trusts on our consolidated statements of financial condition as if we still 
owned the underlying securities we transferred to the trusts.  We present the assets related to the consolidated trusts in our consolidated 
statements of financial position as a component of non-Agency mortgage-backed securities identified as senior, non-retained, and the liabilities 
as securitized debt, non-retained.  We have fair valued the underlying securities we transferred to the trusts for the calculation of GAAP book 
value in accordance with our pricing policy, as described more fully in our critical accounting estimates, and recorded the corresponding 
liability for the notes or certificates sold to third parties.  All fair value adjustments are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income.  
   

As, we are unable to sell the underlying securities that we transferred into the trusts because we no longer own those securities, we 
also present our estimated economic book value.  We believe this measure represents the estimated value of the securities issued by these trusts 
that we own.  In contrast to GAAP book value, our estimated economic book value considers only the assets we own or are able to dispose of, 
pledge, or otherwise monetize.  To determine our estimated economic book value, we fair value the notes or certificates issued by the re-
securitization trusts that we actually own in accordance with our pricing policy.  Accordingly, our estimated economic book value does not 
include assets or liabilities for which we have no continuing involvement, specifically the notes or certificates of the re-securitization trusts that 
were sold to third parties.   We believe this estimate represents the value of the assets that we hold in our portfolio should we decide to sell, 
pledge, or otherwise dispose of assets as of the measurement date.  
   

At December 31, 2010 the difference between GAAP book value and estimated economic book value was determined to be $374.5 
million.  This difference is primarily driven by the nature of the assets we have retained in these re-securitization transactions as compared to 
the nature of underlying securities in these transactions.  In these re-securitization transactions, we retained the subordinated, typically non-
rated, first loss notes or certificates issued by the re-securitization trusts.  These securities are complex, typically locked out as to principal 
repayment, relatively illiquid, and do not necessarily appreciate or depreciate in tandem with the broader non-Agency RMBS market or with 
the underlying securities owned by the trusts.  The table below presents the adjustments to GAAP book value that we believe necessary to 
adequately reflect our calculation of estimated economic book value.  
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Our estimate of economic book value has important limitations.  Our estimate of fair value is as of a point in time and subject to 
significant judgment.  Other market participants may derive a different fair value for each asset than we calculate.  Should we sell the assets in 
our portfolio, we may realize materially different proceeds from the sale than we have estimated as of the reporting date.  
   

Although we believe that the calculation of estimated economic book value described above helps our management and investors 
understand the fair value of the assets we own and the liabilities for which we are legally obligated, it is of limited usefulness as an analytical 
tool.  It does not take account of the fair value of assets that we do not own, but regarding which we will be the principal beneficiary of 
increases in value above, and will bear the principal burden of reductions in value to below, what currently is anticipated.  Therefore, the 
estimated economic book value should not be viewed in isolation and is not a substitute for book value computed in accordance with GAAP.  
   
Portfolio Review  
 

At December 31, 2010, our portfolio consisted of $5.5 billion of non-Agency RMBS, $2.1 billion of Agency RMBS and $353.5 
million of securitized mortgage loans. At December 31, 2009, our portfolio consisted of $2.4 billion of non-Agency RMBS, $1.7 billion of 
Agency RMBS and $470.5 million of securitized mortgage loans.  
 

  

    
GAAP Book 

Value      Adjustments      

Estimated  
Economic Book 

Value    
    (dollars in thousands)    
Assets:                    
Non-Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities, at fair value                    

Senior ($484.1 million and $0 resulting from consolidation of VIEs)    $ 987,685     $ -    $ 987,685   
Subordinated ($1.5 billion and $0 resulting from consolidation of VIEs)      2,210,858       -      2,210,858   
Senior, non-retained      2,330,568       (2,330,568 )     -  

Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities, at fair value      2,133,584       -      2,133,584   
Securitized loans held for investment, net of allowance for loan losses of $6.6 
million and $4.6 million, respectively      353,532       -      353,532   
Other current assets      57,473       -      57,473   
Total assets    $ 8,073,700     $ (2,330,568 )   $ 5,743,132   

                          
                          
Repurchase agreements  ($2.0 billion and $1.8 billion of RMBS pledged as 
collateral, respectively)      1,808,797       -      1,808,797   
Securitized debt ($302.9 million and $388.3 million of securitized loans pledged 
as collateral, respectively)      289,236       -      289,236   
Securitized debt, non-retained ($2.0 billion and $0 of non-retained RMBS 
pledged as collateral, respectively)      1,956,079       (1,956,079 )     -  
Other liabilities      336,582       -      336,582   
Total liabilities      4,390,694       (1,956,079 )     2,434,615   
                          
                          
Total stockholders' equity      3,683,006       (374,489 )     3,308,517   
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity    $ 8,073,700     $ (2,330,568 )   $ 5,743,132   

                          
Book Value Per Share    $ 3.59     $ (0.36 )   $ 3.23   

                          

  
57 



   
The following table summarizes certain characteristics of our portfolio at December 31, 2010 and 2009:  

 

 
The following table presents details of each asset class in our portfolio at December 31, 2010.  The principal or notional value 

represents the interest income earning balance of each class.  The weighted average amortized cost, fair value, coupon, yield, and CPR at 
period-end are weighted by each investment’s respective principal/notional value in the asset class.  The figure presenting the annualized yield 
over the current quarter is the annualized interest income earned on the asset class during the quarter, divided by the average of the beginning 
and ending amortized cost of the asset class.  
   

 
Our portfolio is primarily comprised of non-Agency RMBS which is subject to risk of loss with regard to principal repayment.  The 

following table summarizes certain characteristics of our non-Agency portfolio at December 31, 2010 and 2009:  
 

  

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009    
              
Interest earning assets at period-end *    $ 8,016,227     $ 4,559,427   
Interest bearing liabilities at period-end    $ 4,054,112     $ 2,365,752   
Leverage at period-end    1.1:1     1.1:1   
Leverage at period-end (recourse)    0.5:1     0.9:1   
Portfolio Composition, at principal value                  
Non-Agency RMBS      83.4 %     64.6 % 
Senior      4.0 %     37.5 % 
Senior, interest only      35.7 %     0.0 % 
Subordinated      29.8 %     22.0 % 
Subordinated, interest only      1.8 %     5.1 % 
Senior, non-retained      12.1 %     0.0 % 

Agency RMBS      12.6 %     23.3 % 
Securitized loans      4.0 %     12.1 % 
Fixed-rate percentage of portfolio      51.7 %     52.7 % 
Adjustable-rate percentage of portfolio      48.3 %     47.3 % 
Annualized yield on average earning assets for the year ended      8.91 %     6.37 % 
Annualized cost of funds on average borrowed funds for the year ended      4.01 %     1.51 % 

                  
* Excludes cash and cash equivalents                  

December 31, 2010   

    

Principal 
or 

Notional 
Value at 
Period-

End      

Weighted 
Average 

Amortized 
Cost Basis 
at Period-

End      

Weighted  
Average  

Fair Value  
at Period-

End      

Weighted 
Average 
Coupon 

at 
Period-

End      

Weighted 
Average  

Yield 
(Loss 

Adjusted) 
at Period-

End      

Annualized 
Yield Over 

Current 
Quarter      

Weighted 
Average 
3 Month 
CPR at 
Period-

End    
Non-Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities                                            

Senior      664,251     $ 99.64     $ 101.56           4.48 %     4.65 %     5.73 %     16 % 
Senior, interest only      5,929,634     $ 6.98     $ 5.28           1.74 %     14.71 %     29.03 %     16 % 
Subordinated      4,962,829     $ 44.35     $ 43.88           4.11 %     16.78 %     25.63 %     15 % 
Subordinated, interest only      304,993     $ 9.93     $ 10.81           3.03 %     27.60 %     24.62 %     16 % 
Senior, non-retained      2,008,167     $ 98.51     $ 116.05   (1 )     5.17 %     4.36 %     6.85 %     15 % 

Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities      2,092,465     $ 103.30     $ 104.80           5.05 %     4.51 %     3.34 %     24 % 
Securitized loans                                                              

Senior      296,458     $ 101.19     $ 101.19           5.50 %     5.54 %     4.82 %     28 % 
Senior, interest only      313,720     $ 0.01     $ 0.01           0.41 %     100.00 %     3795.92 %     29 % 
Subordinated      59,540     $ 100.93     $ 100.93           5.36 %     2.85 %     5.94 %     30 % 

                                                              
(1) See discussion of Financial Condition on page 56 for a review of GAAP book value.                            
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The table below summarizes the credit ratings of our RMBS investments at December 31, 2010 and 2009.  The Company’s investment 

guidelines place no restrictions on the credit ratings of the assets we may acquire or retain.  In addition, the table below includes AAA rated 
non-Agency seniors consolidated pursuant to the adoption of ASC 810, but for which we have no continuing involvement.  
   

 
Our management team evaluates each investment based on the characteristics of the underlying collateral rather than relying on the 

ratings assigned to the asset by rating agencies.  
 
Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  
   

Net Income (Loss) Summary  
 

Our net income for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $532.9 million, or $0.65 per average share. Our net income for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 was $324.0 million, or $0.64 per average share.  Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $119.8 
million, or $1.90 per average share.  
 

Net income increased by $208.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, when compared to the year ended December 31, 
2009.  We attribute the increase in net income to an increase in interest income as our portfolio of interest earning assets increased from $4.6 
billion at December 31, 2009 to $8.0 billion at December 31, 2010.  
 

Net income per share increased by $2.54 per share and total net income increased by $443.8 million for the year ended December 31, 
2009, when compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.  We attribute the increase in net income in part to realized gains on sales of 
investments equal to $103.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to realized losses on sales of investments equal to 
$144.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.  Net income for the year ended December 31, 2009 also increased in part due to the 355 
basis point increase in interest rate spread on the portfolio of assets for the year ended December 31, 2009, when compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2008.  
 

  

  December 31, 2010    December 31, 2009    
Number of securities in portfolio        581         209   
Weighted average maturity (years)        27.4         28.5   
Weighted average amortized loan to value        72.5 %       73.8 % 
Weighted average FICO        717.3         715.7   
Weighted average loan balance (in thousands)      $ 447.6       $ 415.9   
Weighted average percentage owner occupied        83.3 %       82.8 % 
Weighted average percentage single family residence        63.1 %       59.9 % 
Weighted average current credit enhancement        16.0 %       12.2 % 
Weighted average geographic concentration  CA     57.8 % CA     44.8 % 
  FL     13.3 % FL     17.3 % 
  NY     7.3 % NY     7.5 % 
  NJ     3.9 % MD     4.9 % 
  VA     3.3 % NJ     4.4 % 

    
December 31, 

2010    
December 31, 

2009   
AAA    41.25 %     39.41 % 
AA    7.91 %     0.75 % 
A   1.92 %     0.55 % 
BBB    0.80 %     1.07 % 
BB    0.01 %     1.77 % 
B   0.01 %     2.18 % 
Below B or not rated    48.10 %     54.27 % 
Total    100.00 %     100.00 % 
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The table below presents the net income (loss) summary for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.  

   
Net Income (Loss) Summary  

(dollars in thousands, except for share and per share data)  
   

   
Net Interest Income and Average Earning Asset Yield  

   
We had average earning assets of $8.5 billion, $4.3 billion and $1.7 billion for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively.  Our primary source of income is interest income earned on our assets.  Our interest income was $755.4 million, $298.5 million 
and $105.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The yield on our portfolio was 8.91%, 6.90% and 
5.96% for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  For the year ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2009, interest income increased by $456.9 million due to the consolidation of securitization entities upon adoption of ASC 
810 on January 1, 2010, an increase in average interest earning assets of $4.2 billion and an increase by 201 basis points in the yield on average 
earning assets for the year ended December 31, 2010 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2009.  Interest income for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, increased by $193.3 million due to increases in interest earning assets 

  

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME (LOSS)    

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    
                    
    For the Year Ended    

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
Net Interest Income:                    
Interest income    $ 562,878     $ 298,539     $ 105,259   
Interest expense      37,175       35,083       60,544   
                          
Interest income, non-retained      192,560       -      -  
Interest expense, non-retained      115,061       -      -  
Net interest income (expense)      603,202       263,456       44,715   
Other-than-temporary impairments:                    
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses      (54,343 )     (16,264 )     -  
Non-credit portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)      41,665       6,268       -  
Net other-than-temporary credit impairment losses      (12,678 )     (9,996 )     -  
Other gains (losses):                          
Unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate swaps      (9,989 )     -      4,156   
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments, net      10,085       103,646       (144,304 ) 
Realized losses on principal write-downs of non-Agency RMBS      (7,385 )     (255 )     -  
Realized gains (losses) on terminations of interest rate swaps      -      -      (10,337 ) 
Total other gains (losses)      (7,289 )     103,391       (150,485 ) 
Net investment income (loss)      583,235       356,851       (105,770 ) 
Other expenses:                          
Management fee      40,924       25,704       8,428   
Provision for loan losses      2,689       3,102       1,540   
General and administrative expenses      6,015       4,061       4,059   
Total other expenses      49,628       32,867       14,027   
Income (loss) before income taxes      533,607       323,984       (119,797 ) 
Income taxes      756       1       12   
Net income (loss)    $ 532,851     $ 323,983     $ (119,809 ) 
                          
Net income (loss) per share-basic and diluted    $ 0.65     $ 0.64     $ (1.90 ) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding-basic and diluted      822,617,319       507,042,421       63,155,878   
Comprehensive income (loss):                          
Net income (loss)    $ 532,851     $ 323,983     $ (119,809 ) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):                    
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net      364,427       260,309       (421,125 ) 
Reclassification adjustment for net losses included in net income (loss) for other-
than-temporary credit impairment losses      12,678       9,996       -  
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses (gains) included in net income (loss)     (2,700 )     (103,391 )     144,304   
Other comprehensive income (loss)      374,405       166,914       (276,821 ) 
Comprehensive income (loss)    $ 907,256     $ 490,897     $ (396,630 ) 

                          
See notes to consolidated financial statements.            



of $2.6 billion and an increase in the yield on average earning assets of 94 basis points.  
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Interest Expense and the Cost of Funds  

   
Our largest expense is the cost of borrowed funds.  We had average borrowed funds of $3.8 billion, $1.7 billion and $1.3 billion and 

total interest expense of $152.2 million, $35.1 million and $60.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.  Our average cost of funds was 4.01%, 2.03% and 4.64% for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.   The average cost of funds rate increased by 198 basis points and the average borrowed funds increased by $2.1 billion during the 
year ended December 31, 2010, when compared to the year ended December 31, 2009.  We attribute the increase in our interest expense to the 
increase in the average cost of funds resulting from the consolidation of securitization entities upon adoption of ASC 810 on January 1, 2010.  
   

The table below shows our average borrowed funds and average cost of funds as compared to average one-month and average six-
month LIBOR for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the four quarters in 2010.  

   
Net Interest Income  

   
Our net interest income, which equals interest income less interest expense, totaled $603.2 million, $263.5 million and $44.7 million 

for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Our net interest spread, which equals the yield on our average assets for 
the period less the average cost of funds for the period, was 4.90%, 4.87% and 1.32% for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.  Our net interest income increased by $339.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, when compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2009 due to the increase in interest earning assets resulting from the consolidation of securitization entities upon adoption of 
ASC 810 on January 1, 2010.  Our net interest income increased by $218.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, when compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2008 due to the 355 basis point increase in our net interest spread.  
   

The table below shows our average assets held, total interest income, yield on average interest earning assets, average balance of 
repurchase agreements, interest expense, average cost of funds, net interest income, and net interest rate spread for the years ended December 
31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the four quarters in 2010.  
   

  

    Average Cost of Funds   

    

Average 
Borrowed 

Funds      
Interest 
Expense     

Average 
Cost of 
Funds      

Average 
One-

Month 
LIBOR      

Average 
Six-

Month 
LIBOR      

Average 
One-

Month 
LIBOR 
Relative 

to 
Average 

Six-
Month 
LIBOR      

Average 
Cost of 
Funds 

Relative 
to 

Average 
One-

Month 
LIBOR      

Average 
Cost of 
Funds 

Relative 
to 

Average 
Six-

Month 
LIBOR    

    (Ratios have been annualized, dollars in thousands)    
                                                  
For the year ended December 31, 2010    $ 3,793,049     $ 152,236       4.01 %     0.27 %     0.52 %     (0.25 %)     3.74 %     3.49 % 
For the year ended December 31, 2009    $ 1,724,698     $ 35,083       2.03 %     0.33 %     1.12 %     (0.79 %)     1.70 %     0.91 % 
For the year ended December 31, 2008    $ 1,304,873     $ 60,544       4.64 %     2.68 %     3.06 %     (0.38 %)     1.96 %     1.58 % 

For the quarter ended December 31, 
2010    $ 3,871,908     $ 39,649       4.10 %     0.26 %     0.45 %     (0.19 %)     3.84 %     3.65 % 
For the quarter ended September 30, 
2010    $ 3,733,893     $ 42,764       4.58 %     0.29 %     0.59 %     (0.30 %)     4.29 %     3.99 % 
For the quarter ended June 30, 2010    $ 3,906,061     $ 28,619       2.93 %     0.32 %     0.63 %     (0.31 %)     2.61 %     2.30 % 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2010    $ 3,660,334     $ 41,204       4.50 %     0.23 %     0.40 %     (0.17 %)     4.27 %     4.10 % 
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairments  

   
During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we recorded other-than-temporary impairments of $12.7 million and $10.0 

million respectively.  During the year ended December 31, 2008, no impairments were recorded.  We recorded impairments on investments in 
an unrealized loss position where our estimate of future cash flows were below our amortized cost basis.  Impaired securities were most 
typically first loss tranches of RMBS which would absorb expected principal write downs or interest only tranches whose market values are 
more sensitive to changes in prepayment speeds.  
   

Gains and Losses on Sales of Assets  
   

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we sold RMBS with a carrying value of $885.4 million for realized gains of $10.1 million. 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, we sold RMBS with a carrying value of $1.8 billion for realized gains of $103.6 million.  
   

Secured Debt Financing Transactions  
   

On January 29, 2010, we transferred $1.7 billion in principal value of our RMBS to the CSMC 2010-1R Trust in a re-securitization 
transaction.  This transaction was recorded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and 810.  In this transaction, we financed 
through the transaction $271.6 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds to third party investors for net proceeds of $268.1 million.  We retained 
$391.9 million of AAA-rated bonds, $1.0 billion in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate, and interest only bonds with a notional 
value of $1.6 billion.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued 
by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that were transferred to the CSMC 2010-1R Trust.  
 

On April 30, 2010, we transferred $566.6 million in principal value of our RMBS to the CSMC 2010-11R Trust in a re-securitization 
transaction.  This transaction was recorded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and 810.  In this transaction, we financed 
$138.8 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds with third party investors for net proceeds of $137.4 million.  We retained $427.7 million in 
subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate, and interest only bonds with a notional value of $566.6 million.  The subordinated bonds 
and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that 
were transferred to the CSMC 2010-11R Trust.  
   

  

    Net Interest Income    

    

Average 
Earning 
Assets 
Held *      

Interest 
Earned 

on Assets 
*      

Yield on 
Average 
Interest 
Earning 
Assets      

Average 
Debt 

Balance      
Interest 
Expense      

Average 
Cost of 
Funds      

Net 
Interest 
Income      

Net 
Interest 

Rate 
Spread    

    (Ratios have been annualized, dollars in thousands)    
                                                  
For the year ended December 31, 2010    $ 8,479,109     $ 755,398       8.91 %   $ 3,793,049     $ 152,236       4.01 %   $ 603,202       4.90 % 
For the year ended December 31, 2009    $ 4,328,892     $ 298,539       6.90 %   $ 1,724,698     $ 35,083       2.03 %   $ 263,456       4.87 % 
For the year ended December 31, 2008    $ 1,711,705     $ 102,093       5.96 %   $ 1,304,873     $ 60,544       4.64 %   $ 44,715       1.32 % 

For the quarter ended December 31, 
2010    $ 9,311,588     $ 193,744       8.32 %   $ 3,871,908     $ 39,649       4.10 %   $ 154,098       4.22 % 
For the quarter ended September 30, 
2010    $ 8,801,534     $ 198,461       9.02 %   $ 3,733,893     $ 42,764       4.58 %   $ 155,697       4.44 % 
For the quarter ended June 30, 2010    $ 8,640,373     $ 183,349       8.49 %   $ 3,906,061     $ 28,619       2.93 %   $ 154,730       5.56 % 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2010    $ 7,162,943     $ 179,845       10.04 %   $ 3,660,334     $ 41,204       4.50 %   $ 138,641       5.54 % 
                                                                  
* Excludes cash and cash equivalents                                                            
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On May 27, 2010, we transferred $1.2 billion in principal value of our RMBS to the CSMC 2010-12R Trust in a re-securitization 

transaction.  This transaction was recorded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and 810.  In this transaction, we financed 
$294.0 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds with third party investors for net proceeds of $294.3 million.  We retained $136.3 million of 
AAA-rated bonds, $788.2 million in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate, and interest only bonds with a notional value of $1.2 
billion.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust 
are collateralized by RMBS that were transferred to the CSMC 2010-12R Trust.  

   
In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded non-recourse financing with third party investors related to re-

securitizations executed in prior periods.  We financed through these transactions $704.5 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds with third 
party investors for net proceeds of $703.0 million. In total, in 2010, we financed through our secured debt financing, $1.3 billion of AAA-rated 
fixed rate bonds for net proceeds of $1.3 billion.  
   

Management Fee, Loan Loss Provision and General and Administrative Expenses  
   

We paid FIDAC a management fee of $40.9 million, $25.7 million and $8.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively.  We attribute the $15.2 million increase in management fees recorded during the year ended December 31, 2010, when 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009, to the increase in stockholders equity resulting from our April, June and November 2010 
secondary offerings.  Our management fee increased by $17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, when compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2008.  The increase in management fees reflects the increase in stockholder’s equity from our April and May 2009 secondary 
offerings.  
   

The loan loss provision was $2.7 million, $3.1 million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.  Our loan loss provision decreased by $413 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2010, when compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2009 due to the decline in the unpaid principal balance of the loan pool.  The loan loss provision for the year ended December 
31, 2009 increased by $1.6 million when compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.  This increase in the provision is attributable to 
management’s estimate of the effect that increasing rates of delinquencies, foreclosure and bankruptcy activities specific to our securitized 
loans and the broader mortgage market as a whole will have on the realizable value our securitized loan portfolio.  
   

General and administrative expenses, or G&A were $6.0 million, $4.1 million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 
2010, 2009 and, respectively.  Our G&A expenses increased by $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, when compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2009, largely due to greater information and research costs as well as reimbursement to FIDAC for our pro rata portion of 
rent, telephone, utilities, office furniture, equipment, machinery and other office, internal and overhead expenses of FIDAC and its affiliates 
required for our operations. G&A remained relatively unchanged for the year ended December 31, 2009, when compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2008.  
   

Total expenses as a percentage of average total assets were 0.78%, 0.99% and 0.85% for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 
and 2008, respectively.  
   

From our inception through 2009, FIDAC waived its right to require us to pay our pro rata portion of rent, telephone, utilities, office 
furniture, equipment, machinery and other office, internal and overhead expenses of FIDAC and its affiliates required for our 
operations.  During the year ended December 31, 2010, we reimbursed FIDAC approximately $465,000 for such expenses.  
   

The table below shows our total management fee, loan loss provision and G&A expenses as compared to average total assets and 
average equity for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the four quarters in 2010.  
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 Net Income (Loss) and Return on Average Equity  

   
Our net income was $532.9 million and 324.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Our net loss 

was $119.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.  We attribute the $208.9 million increase in net income for the year ended 
December 31, 2010, when compared to the year ended December 31, 2009 to the consolidation of securitization entities upon adoption of ASC 
810 on January 1, 2010 as well as to the growth in income producing assets over the period.  The table below shows our net interest income, 
loss on sale of assets and termination of interest rate swaps, unrealized gains (loss) on interest rate swaps, total expenses, income tax, each as a 
percentage of average equity, and the return on average equity for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the four quarters in 
2010.  

   

   
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

 Liquidity measures our ability to meet cash requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay our borrowings, fund and 
maintain RMBS, mortgage loans and other assets, pay dividends and other general business needs.  Our principal sources of capital and funds 
for additional investments primarily include earnings from our investments, borrowings under securitizations and re-securitizations, repurchase 
agreements and other financing facilities, and proceeds from equity offerings.  We expect these sources of financing will be sufficient to meet 
our short-term liquidity needs.  
   

  

Management Fees, Loan Loss Provision and G&A Expenses and Operating Expense Ratios    
                    

    

Total 
Management 

Fee, Loan Loss 
Provision and 

G&A Expenses     

Total 
Management 

Fee, Loan Loss 
Provision and 

G&A 
Expenses/Total 

Assets      

Total 
Management Fee, 

Loan Loss 
Provision and 

G&A 
Expenses/Average 

Equity    
    (Ratios have been annualized, dollars in thousands)    
                    
For the year ended December 31, 2010    $ 49,628       0.78 %     1.71 % 
For the year ended December 31, 2009    $ 32,867       0.99 %     2.25 % 
For the year ended December 31, 2008    $ 14,027       0.85 %     3.50 % 

For the quarter ended December 31, 2010    $ 14,454       0.76 %     1.76 % 
For the quarter ended September 30, 2010    $ 13,598       0.77 %     1.87 % 
For the quarter ended June 30, 2010    $ 11,696       0.72 %     1.80 % 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2010    $ 9,880       0.73 %     1.79 % 

Components of Return on Average Equity  
  
  

Net Interest  
Income/Average 

Equity  

Realized Gains 
(Losses) on  
Sales, Credit  
Losses and  

OTTI/Average 
Equity  

Unrealized 
Gains  

(Losses) on  
Interest Rate 

Swaps/Average 
Equity  

Total  
Expenses/  
Average  
Equity  

Income  
Tax/Average  

Equity  

Return on  
Average  
Equity  

  (Ratios have been annualized)  

              
For the year ended December 31, 2010  20.77%  (0.34%)  (0.34%)  (1.71%)  (0.03%)  18.35%  
For the year ended December 31, 2009  18.03%  6.41%  0.00%  (2.25%)  0.00%  22.19%  
For the year ended December 31, 2008  11.17%  (38.64%)  1.04%  (3.50%)  0.00%  (29.93%)  

For the quarter ended December 31, 2010  18.72%  0.22%  1.80%  (1.76%)  0.00%  18.98%  
For the quarter ended September 30, 2010  21.42%  (0.19%)  (1.87%)  (1.87%)  (0.10%)  17.39%  
For the quarter ended June 30, 2010  23.78%  (1.11%)  (1.73%)  (1.80%)  0.00%  19.14%  
For the quarter ended March 31, 2010  25.09%  (0.57%)  0.00%  (1.79%)  0.00%  22.73%  
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We expect to continue to borrow funds in the form of repurchase agreements and, subject to market conditions, other types of 

financing.  The terms of the repurchase transaction borrowings under our master repurchase agreements generally conform to the terms in the 
standard master repurchase agreement as published by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association, or SIFMA, as to repayment, 
margin requirements and the segregation of all securities we have initially sold under the repurchase transaction.  In addition, each lender 
typically requires that we include supplemental terms and conditions to the standard master repurchase agreement.  Typical supplemental terms 
and conditions include changes to the margin maintenance requirements, required haircuts, and purchase price maintenance requirements, 
requirements that all controversies related to the repurchase agreement be litigated in a particular jurisdiction and cross default 
provisions.  These provisions will differ for each of our lenders and will not be determined until we engage in a specific repurchase transaction. 
   

For our short-term (one year or less) and long-term liquidity, which include investing and compliance with collateralization 
requirements under our repurchase agreements (if the pledged collateral decreases in value or in the event of margin calls created by 
prepayments of the pledged collateral), we also rely on the cash flow from investments, primarily monthly principal and interest payments to be 
received on our RMBS and whole mortgage loans, cash flow from the sale of securities as well as any primary securities offerings authorized 
by our board of directors.  
   

 Based on our current portfolio, leverage ratio and available borrowing arrangements, we believe our assets will be sufficient to enable 
us to meet anticipated short-term (one year or less) liquidity requirements such as to fund our investment activities, pay fees under our 
management agreement, fund our distributions to stockholders and pay general corporate expenses. However, a decline in the value of our 
collateral or a decrease in prepayment rates substantially below our expectations could cause a temporary liquidity shortfall due to the timing of 
the necessary margin calls on the financing arrangements and the actual receipt of the cash related to principal paydowns. If our cash resources 
are at any time insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may have to sell investments or issue debt or additional equity securities in 
a common stock offering. If required, the sale of RMBS or whole mortgage loans at prices lower than their carrying value would result in 
losses and reduced income.  
   

 Our ability to meet our long-term (greater than one year) liquidity and capital resource requirements will be subject to obtaining 
additional debt financing and equity capital. Subject to our maintaining our qualification as a REIT as well as market conditions, we expect to 
use a number of sources to finance our investments, including repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, securitization, commercial paper 
and term financing CDOs.  Such financing will depend on market conditions for capital raises and for the investment of any proceeds. If we are 
unable to renew, replace or expand our sources of financing on substantially similar terms, it may have an adverse effect on our business and 
results of operations. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and shares of preferred stock and lenders with respect to other borrowings 
will receive a distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our common stock.  
   

 We held cash and cash equivalents of approximately $7.2 million, $24.3 million and $27.5 million at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively. Our cash and cash equivalents decreased due to normal quarterly fluctuations in cash balances related to the timing of 
principal and interest payments, repayments of debt, and asset purchases and sales.  
   

Our operating activities provided net cash of approximately $305.6 million, $168.7 million and $30.7 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The cash provided by operating activities increased due to the increase in net interest income 
earned by the portfolio which resulted from the increase in average interest earning assets of $8.5 billion in investments at December 31, 2010 
as compared to $4.3 billion at December 31, 2009.  
   

Our investing activities used net cash of $1.6 billion, $2.8 billion and $1.1 billion for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively.  During the year ended December 31, 2010 we utilized cash to purchase $4.0 billion in securities which were offset by 
proceeds from asset sales of $896.3 million and principal payments of $1.5 billion.  During the year ended December 31, 2009 we utilized cash 
to purchase $5.3 billion in securities and sold $1.9 billion and received principal payments of $656.9 million.  The increase in principal 
payments resulted from the larger portfolio at December 31, 2010 as compared to December 31, 2009 and the adoption of ASC 810.  
   

Our financing activities as of December 31, 2010 consisted of net proceeds from our April, June and November 2010 secondary 
offerings in which we raised approximately $1.3 billion, repurchase agreements, and payments received on our securitizations.  Our financing 
activities as of December 31, 2009 consisted of net proceeds from our April and May, 2009 secondary offerings in which we raised 
approximately $1.5 billion, repurchase agreements, and payments received on our securitizations.  We currently have established uncommitted 
repurchase agreements for RMBS with 23 counterparties, including Annaly. At December 31, 2009, we had $259.0 million outstanding under 
our repurchase agreement with Annaly, which constituted 10.95% of our total financing.  As of December 31, 2009, our repurchase agreement 
with Annaly had weighted average borrowing rates of 1.72% and weighted average remaining maturities of 5 days.  This agreement was 
collateralized by our RMBS which had an estimated fair value of $314.3 million at December 31, 2009.  The interest rates of these repurchase 
agreements are generally indexed to the one-month LIBOR rate and reprice accordingly.  
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At   December 31, 2010 and 2009, the repurchase agreements for RMBS had the following remaining maturities:  

   

 
We are not required to maintain any specific debt-to-equity ratio as we believe the appropriate leverage for the particular assets we are 

financing depends on the credit quality and risk of those assets.  At December 31, 2010 and 2009, our total debt was approximately $4.1 billion 
and $2.4 billion, which represented a debt-to-equity ratio of approximately 1.1:1 and 1.1:1, respectively.  
   
Stockholders’ Equity  
 

On March 31, 2010, we announced the sale of 85,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.61 per share in a public 
offering.  In addition, the underwriters exercised the option to purchase an additional 12,750,000 shares of common stock to cover 
overallotments.  The aggregate net proceeds we received before expenses in this sale were approximately $352.9 million.  This sale was 
completed on April 7, 2010.  
 

On June 22, 2010, we announced the sale of 100,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.61 per share in a public offering.  In 
addition, the underwriters exercised the option to purchase an additional 15,000,000 shares of common stock to cover overallotments.  The 
aggregate net proceeds we received before expenses in this sale were approximately $415.2 million.  This sale was completed on June 28, 
2010.  
 

On November 2, 2010, we announced the sale of 125,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.80 per share in a public 
offering.  In addition, the underwriters exercised the option to purchase an additional 18,750,000 shares of common stock to cover 
overallotments.  The aggregate net proceeds we received before expenses in this sale were approximately $546.3 million.  This sale was 
completed on November 8, 2010.  
 

On   April 15, 2009, we announced the sale of 235,000,000 shares of common stock at $3.00 per share for estimated proceeds, less the 
underwriters’ discount and offering expenses, of $674.8 million.  Immediately following the sale of these shares Annaly purchased 24,955,752 
shares at the same price per share as the public offering, for proceeds of approximately $74.9 million. In addition, on April 16, 2009 the 
underwriters exercised the option to purchase up to an additional 35,250,000 shares of common stock to cover over-allotments for proceeds, 
less the underwriters’ discount, of approximately $101.3 million. These sales were completed on April 21, 2009.  In all, we raised net proceeds 
of approximately $850.9 in these offerings.  
 

On May 27, 2009, we announced the sale of 168,000,000 shares of common stock at $3.22 per share for estimated proceeds, less the 
underwriters’ discount and offering expenses, of $519.3 million.  Immediately following the sale of these shares Annaly purchased 4,724,017 
shares at the same price per share as the public offering, for proceeds of approximately $15.2 million. In addition, on June 1, 2009 the 
underwriters exercised the option to purchase up to an additional 25,200,000 shares of common stock to cover over-allotments for proceeds, 
less the underwriters’ discount, of approximately $77.9 million. These sales were completed on June 2, 2009.  In all, we raised net proceeds of 
approximately $612.4 million in these offerings.  
 

  

    
December 31, 

2010     
December 31, 

2009   
              
Overnight    $ -    $ -  
1-30 days (1)      232,265       1,772,662   
30 to 59 days      970,394       62,243   
60 to 89 days      545,442       -  
90 to 119 days      60,696       -  
Greater than or equal to 120 days      -      140,497   
Total    $ 1,808,797     $ 1,975,402   

(1) Repurchase agreements with affiliates totaled $259.0 million as of December 31, 2009. There were no 
repurchase agreements with affiliates as of December 31, 2010.    
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On December 31, 2010, 57,483 shares of our common stock were awarded to the independent members of our Board of Directors 

under our Long Term Incentive Plan.  Each independent director annually receives the equivalent of $45,000 in our common stock at each year 
end, based on pro-rata days of service during the year.  These shares vested on the date of award.  
 

On September 24, 2009, we adopted a dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan, or DRSPP.  The DRSPP provides holders of 
record of our common stock an opportunity to automatically reinvest all or a portion of their cash distributions received on common stock in 
additional shares of our common stock as well as to make optional cash payments to purchase shares of our common stock. Persons who are 
not already stockholders may also purchase our common stock under the plan through optional cash payments.   The DRSPP is administered by 
The Bank of New York Mellon.  During the year ended December 31, 2010 we raised $263,000 by issuing 67,596 shares through the DRSPP. 
During the year ended December 31, 2009 no shares were issued under the DRSPP.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we declared dividends to common shareholders totaling $577.5 million, or $0.69 per 
share.  During the year ended December 31, 2009, we declared dividends to common shareholders totaling $242.4 million, or $0.43 per share.  
 

There was no preferred stock issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  
 

Our charter provides that we may issue up to 1,600,000,000 shares of stock, consisting of up to 1,500,000,000 shares of common stock 
having a par value of $0.01 per share and up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of $0.01 per share.  On November 3, 
2010, we filed an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation.  Our Articles of Incorporation previously allowed us to issue up to a total of 
1,100,000,000 shares of capital stock, par value $0.01 per share.  As of November 3, 2010, we had 883,168,113 shares of common stock issued 
and outstanding.  To retain the ability to issue additional shares of capital stock, we have increased the number of shares are authorized to issue 
to 1,600,000,000 shares consisting of 1,500,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per common share, and 100,000,000 shares of 
preferred stock, $0.01 par value per preferred share.  

   
Management Agreement and Related Party Transactions  
 
Management Agreement  
 

On November 15, 2007 we entered into a management agreement with FIDAC, pursuant to which FIDAC is entitled to receive a 
management fee and, in certain circumstances, a termination fee and reimbursement of certain expenses as described in the management 
agreement.  Such fees and expenses do not have fixed and determinable payments.  The management fee is payable quarterly in arrears in an 
amount equal to 1.50% per annum, calculated quarterly, of our stockholders’ equity (as defined in the management agreement).  FIDAC uses 
the proceeds from its management fee in part to pay compensation to its officers and employees who, notwithstanding that certain of them also 
are our officers, receive no cash compensation directly from us.  The management fee will be reduced, but not below zero, by our proportionate 
share of any CDO base management fees FIDAC receives in connection with the CDOs in which we invest, based on the percentage of equity 
we hold in such CDOs.  
 
Financing Arrangements with Affiliates  
 

In April 2009, we entered into a Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association standard preprinted form Master Repurchase 
Agreement with RCap Securities, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Annaly.  This standard agreement does not contain any sort of liquidity, 
net worth or other similar types of positive or negative covenants.  Rather, the agreement contains covenants that require the buyer and seller of 
securities to deliver collateral or securities, and similar covenants which are customary in Master Repurchase Agreements.  At December 31, 
2010 and 2009 we had no financing under this agreement.  We have been in compliance with all covenants of this agreement since we entered 
into this agreement.  
 

In March 2008, we entered into a Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association standard preprinted form Master Repurchase 
Agreement with Annaly.  This standard agreement does not contain any sort of liquidity, net worth or other similar types of positive or negative 
covenants.  Rather, the agreement contains covenants that require the buyer and seller of securities to deliver collateral or securities, and similar 
covenants which are customary in Master Repurchase Agreements.  At December 31, 2010 we had no financing under this agreement.  At 
December 31, 2009, the Company financed $259.0 million under this agreement at a weighted average rate of 1.72%.  We have been in 
compliance with all covenants of this agreement since we entered into this agreement.  
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Restricted Stock Grants  
 

We granted 1,301,000 shares of restricted stock to our Manager’s employees and members of our board of directors during the year 
ended December 31, 2008.   During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, 146,400 and 128,900 shares of restricted stock we had 
awarded to FIDAC’s employees and our board members vested and 21,070 and 4,075 shares were forfeited or cancelled, respectively.  At 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 there are approximately 885,000 million and 1.0 million unvested shares of restricted stock issued to employees 
of FIDAC, respectively.  For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, compensation expense less general and administrative costs 
associated with the amortization of the fair value of the restricted stock was approximately $490,000 and $451,000, respectively.  
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments  
 

The following tables summarize our contractual obligations at December 31, 2010.  
   

 
The repurchase agreements for our repurchase facilities generally do not include substantive provisions other than those contained in 

the standard master repurchase agreement as published by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association.  The securitized debt 
reflected in the table above is non-recourse.  
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured 
finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other 
contractually narrow or limited purposes.  Further, we have not guaranteed any obligations of unconsolidated entities nor do we have any 
commitment or intent to provide funding to any such entities.  
 
Capital Expenditures  
 

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had no material commitments or capital expenditures.  
 
Dividends  
 

To qualify as a REIT, we must pay annual dividends to our stockholders of at least 90% of our taxable income, determined without 
regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gains. We intend to pay regular quarterly dividends to our 
stockholders. Before we pay any dividend, whether for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, which would only be paid out of 
available cash to the extent permitted under our financing facilities, we must first meet any operating requirements and scheduled debt service 
on our financing facilities and other debt payable.  
 

  

                                

Contractual Obligations    
Within  

One Year      
One to  

Three Years      
Three to  

Five Years      

Greater Than  
or Equal to  
Five Years      Total    

    (dollars in thousands)    
Repurchase agreements for RMBS    $ 1,808,797     $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 1,808,797   
Securitized debt      634,988       831,305       305,953       417,976       2,190,222   
Interest expense on RMBS repurchase 
agreements (1)      1,223       -      -      -      1,223   
Interest expense on securitized debt (1)      86,453       113,635       68,335       171,042       439,465   
Total    $ 2,531,461     $ 944,940     $ 374,288     $ 589,018     $ 4,439,707   

(1) Interest is based on variable rates in effect as of December 31, 2010.    
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Inflation  
 

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities are interest rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates and other factors influence our 
performance far more so than does inflation. Changes in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with inflation rates or changes in inflation 
rates. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP and our distributions will be determined by our board of 
directors consistent with our obligation to distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income on an annual basis in order to 
maintain our REIT qualification; in each case, our activities and balance sheet are measured with reference to historical cost and/or fair market 
value without considering inflation.  
 
Subsequent Events  
 

On January 28, 2011 the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with FIDAC and UBS Securities LLC, or 
UBS.  Through this agreement, from time to time we may sell through UBS, as our sales agent, up to 125,000,000 shares of our common stock 
in ordinary brokers’ transactions at market prices or other transactions as agreed between us and UBS.  
 
Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  
 

The primary components of our market risk are related to credit risk, interest rate risk, prepayment risk, market value risk and real 
estate risk. While we do not seek to avoid risk completely, we believe the risk can be quantified from historical experience and we seek to 
actively manage that risk, to earn sufficient compensation to justify taking those risks and to maintain capital levels consistent with the risks we 
undertake.  
 
Credit Risk  
 

We are subject to credit risk in connection with our investments and face more credit risk on assets we own which are rated below 
‘‘AAA’’. The credit risk related to these investments pertains to the ability and willingness of the borrowers to pay, which is assessed before 
credit is granted or renewed and periodically reviewed throughout the loan or security term. We believe that residual loan credit quality is 
primarily determined by the borrowers’ credit profiles and loan characteristics. FIDAC uses a comprehensive credit review process. FIDAC’s 
analysis of loans includes borrower profiles, as well as valuation and appraisal data. FIDAC uses compensating factors such as liquid assets, 
low loan to value ratios and job stability in evaluating loans.  FIDAC’s resources include a proprietary portfolio management system, as well as 
third party software systems. FIDAC utilizes a third party due diligence firm to perform an independent underwriting review to insure 
compliance with existing guidelines. FIDAC selects loans for review predicated on risk-based criteria such as loan-to-value, borrower’s credit 
score(s) and loan size. FIDAC also outsources underwriting services to review higher risk loans, either due to borrower credit profiles or 
collateral valuation issues. In addition to statistical sampling techniques, FIDAC creates adverse credit and valuation samples, which we 
individually review. FIDAC rejects loans that fail to conform to our standards. FIDAC accepts only those loans which meet our underwriting 
criteria. Once we own a loan, FIDAC’s surveillance process includes ongoing analysis through our proprietary data warehouse and servicer 
files. Additionally, the non-Agency RMBS and other ABS which we acquire for our portfolio are reviewed by FIDAC to ensure that they 
satisfy our risk based criteria. FIDAC’s review of non-Agency RMBS and other ABS includes utilizing its proprietary portfolio management 
system. FIDAC’s review of non-Agency RMBS and other ABS is based on quantitative and qualitative analysis of the risk-adjusted returns on 
non-Agency RMBS and other ABS present.  
 
Interest Rate Risk  
 

Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental, monetary and tax policies, domestic and international 
economic and political considerations and other factors beyond our control. We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with our 
investments and our related debt obligations, which are generally repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, securitization, commercial paper 
and term financing CDOs. Our repurchase agreements and warehouse facilities may be of limited duration that are periodically refinanced at 
current market rates. We intend to mitigate this risk through utilization of derivative contracts, primarily interest rate swap agreements.  
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Interest Rate Effect on Net Interest Income  

 
Our operating results depend, in large part, on differences between the income from our investments and our borrowing costs. Most of 

our warehouse facilities and repurchase agreements provide financing based on a floating rate of interest calculated on a fixed spread over 
LIBOR. The fixed spread varies depending on the type of underlying asset which collateralizes the financing. Accordingly, the portion of our 
portfolio which consists of floating interest rate assets will be match-funded utilizing our expected sources of short-term financing, while our 
fixed interest rate assets will not be match-funded. During periods of rising interest rates, the borrowing costs associated with our investments 
tend to increase while the income earned on our fixed interest rate investments may remain substantially unchanged. This will result in a 
narrowing of the net interest spread between the related assets and borrowings and may even result in losses. Further, during this portion of the 
interest rate and credit cycles, defaults could increase and result in credit losses to us, which could adversely affect our liquidity and operating 
results. Such delinquencies or defaults could also have an adverse effect on the spread between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities. Hedging techniques are partly based on assumed levels of prepayments of our fixed-rate and hybrid adjustable-rate mortgage loans 
and RMBS. If prepayments are slower or faster than assumed, the life of the mortgage loans and RMBS will be longer or shorter, which would 
reduce the effectiveness of any hedging strategies we may use and may cause losses on such transactions. Hedging strategies involving the use 
of derivative securities are highly complex and may produce volatile returns.  
 

Interest Rate Effects on Fair Value  
 

Another component of interest rate risk is the effect changes in interest rates will have on the fair value of the assets we acquire. We 
face the risk that the fair value of our assets will increase or decrease at different rates than that of our liabilities, including our hedging 
instruments. We primarily assess our interest rate risk by estimating the duration of our assets and the duration of our liabilities. Duration 
essentially measures the market price volatility of financial instruments as interest rates change. We generally calculate duration using various 
financial models and empirical data. Different models and methodologies can produce different duration numbers for the same securities.  
 

It is important to note that the impact of changing interest rates on fair value can change significantly when interest rates change 
beyond 100 basis points from current levels. Therefore, the volatility in the fair value of our assets could increase significantly when interest 
rates change beyond 100 basis points. In addition, other factors impact the fair value of our interest rate-sensitive investments and hedging 
instruments, such as the shape of the yield curve, market expectations as to future interest rate changes and other market conditions. 
Accordingly, in the event of changes in actual interest rates, the change in the fair value of our assets would likely differ from that shown above 
and such difference might be material and adverse to our stockholders.  
 

Interest Rate Cap Risk  
 

We also invest in adjustable-rate mortgage loans and RMBS. These are mortgages or RMBS in which the underlying mortgages are 
typically subject to periodic and lifetime interest rate caps and floors, which limit the amount by which the security’s interest yield may change 
during any given period. However, our borrowing costs pursuant to our financing agreements will not be subject to similar restrictions. 
Therefore, in a period of increasing interest rates, interest rate costs on our borrowings could increase without limitation by caps, while the 
interest-rate yields on our adjustable-rate mortgage loans and RMBS would effectively be limited. This problem will be magnified to the extent 
we acquire adjustable-rate RMBS that are not based on mortgages which are fully indexed. In addition, the mortgages or the underlying 
mortgages in an RMBS may be subject to periodic payment caps that result in some portion of the interest being deferred and added to the 
principal outstanding. This could result in our receipt of less cash income on our adjustable-rate mortgages or RMBS than we need in order to 
pay the interest cost on our related borrowings. These factors could lower our net interest income or cause a net loss during periods of rising 
interest rates, which would harm our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  
 

Interest Rate Mismatch Risk  
 

We fund a substantial portion of our acquisitions of hybrid adjustable-rate mortgages and RMBS with borrowings that, after the effect 
of hedging, have interest rates based on indices and re-pricing terms similar to, but of somewhat shorter maturities than, the interest rate indices 
and re-pricing terms of the mortgages and RMBS. Thus, in most cases the interest rate indices and re-pricing terms of our mortgage assets and 
our funding sources will not be identical, thereby creating an interest rate mismatch between assets and liabilities. Therefore, our cost of funds 
would likely rise or fall more quickly than would our earnings rate on assets. During periods of changing interest rates, such interest rate 
mismatches could negatively impact our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. To mitigate interest rate mismatches, we may 
utilize the hedging strategies discussed above. Our analysis of risks is based on FIDAC’s experience, estimates, models and assumptions. These 
analyses rely on models which utilize estimates of fair value and interest rate sensitivity. Actual economic conditions or implementation of 
investment decisions by our management may produce results that differ significantly from the estimates and assumptions used in our models 
and the projected results shown in this Form 10-K.  
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Our profitability and the value of our portfolio (including interest rate swaps) may be adversely affected during any period as a result 

of changing interest rates.  The following table quantifies the potential changes in net interest income and portfolio value should interest rates 
go up or down 25, 50, and 75 basis points, assuming the yield curves of the rate shocks will be parallel to each other and the current yield 
curve.  All changes in income and value are measured as percentage changes from the projected net interest income and portfolio value at the 
base interest rate scenario.  The base interest rate scenario assumes interest rates at December 31, 2010 and various estimates regarding 
prepayment and all activities are made at each level of rate shock.  Actual results could differ significantly from these estimates.  
   

   
Prepayment Risk  
 

As we receive prepayments of principal on these investments, premiums and discounts on such investments will be amortized or 
accreted against interest income. In general, an increase in prepayment rates will accelerate the amortization of purchase premiums, thereby 
reducing the interest income earned on the investments. Conversely, discounts on such investments are accreted into interest income. In 
general, an increase in prepayment rates will accelerate the accretion of purchase discounts, thereby increasing the interest income earned on 
the investments.  
 
Extension Risk  
 

  FIDAC computes the projected weighted-average life of our investments based on assumptions regarding the rate at which the 
borrowers will prepay the underlying mortgages. In general, when fixed-rate or hybrid adjustable-rate mortgage loans or RMBS are acquired 
with borrowings, we may, but are not required to, enter into an interest rate swap agreement or other hedging instrument that effectively fixes 
our borrowing costs for a period close to the anticipated average life of the fixed-rate portion of the related assets. This strategy is designed to 
protect us from rising interest rates because the borrowing costs are fixed for the duration of the fixed-rate portion of the related 
assets.  However, if prepayment rates decrease in a rising interest rate environment, the life of the fixed-rate portion of the related assets could 
extend beyond the term of the swap agreement or other hedging instrument. This could have a negative impact on our results from operations, 
as borrowing costs would no longer be fixed after the end of the hedging instrument while the income earned on the hybrid adjustable-rate 
assets would remain fixed. This situation may also cause the market value of our hybrid adjustable-rate assets to decline, with little or no 
offsetting gain from the related hedging transactions. In extreme situations, we may be forced to sell assets to maintain adequate liquidity, 
which could cause us to incur losses.  
 
Market Risk  
 

Market Value Risk  
 

Our available-for-sale securities are reflected at their estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and 
reported in other comprehensive income. The estimated fair value of these securities fluctuates primarily due to changes in interest rates, 
prepayment speeds, market liquidity, credit quality, and other factors.  Generally, in a rising interest rate environment, the estimated fair value 
of these securities would be expected to decrease; conversely, in a decreasing interest rate environment, the estimated fair value of these 
securities would be expected to increase.  As market volatility increases or liquidity decreases, the fair value of our investments may be 
adversely impacted.  If we are unable to readily obtain independent pricing to validate our estimated fair value of securities in the portfolio, the 
fair value gains or losses recorded in other comprehensive income may be adversely affected.  
 

  

Change in Interest Rate  

Projected Percentage  

Change in Net Interest 
 Income %  

Projected Percentage  

Change in Portfolio  
Value %  

-75 Basis Points  (22.71%)  5.21%  
-50 Basis Points  (17.14%)  3.46%  
-25 Basis Points  (11.22%)  1.72%  
Base Interest Rate   -  -  
+25 Basis Points  4.97%  (1.70%)  
+50 Basis Points  9.04%  (3.38%)  
+75 Basis Points  13.12%  (5.04%)  
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Real Estate Market Risk  

 
  We own assets secured by real property and may own real property directly in the future.  Residential property values are subject to 

volatility and may be affected adversely by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, national, regional and local economic conditions 
(which may be adversely affected by industry slowdowns and other factors); local real estate conditions (such as an oversupply of housing); 
changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments; construction quality, age and design; demographic factors; and retroactive 
changes to building or similar codes. In addition, decreases in property values reduce the value of the collateral and the potential proceeds 
available to a borrower to repay our loans, which could also cause us to suffer losses.  
 
Risk Management  
 

To the extent consistent with maintaining our REIT status, we seek to manage risk exposure to protect our portfolio of residential 
mortgage loans, RMBS, and other assets and related debt against the effects of major interest rate changes. We generally seek to manage our 
risk by:  
 

 

 

 

 

 
           Our efforts to manage our assets and liabilities are concerned with the timing and magnitude of the re-pricing of assets and 
liabilities.  We attempt to control risks associated with interest rate movements.  Methods for evaluating interest rate risk include an analysis of 
our interest rate sensitivity “gap”, which is the difference  between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities maturing or re-pricing 
within a given time period.  A gap is considered positive when the amount of interest-rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount of interest-rate 
sensitive liabilities.  A gap is considered negative when the amount of interest-rate sensitive liabilities exceeds interest-rate sensitive 
assets.  During a period of rising interest rates, a negative gap would tend to adversely affect net interest income, while a positive gap would 
tend to result in an increase in net interest income.  During a period of falling interest rates, a negative gap would tend to result in an increase in 
net interest income, while a positive gap would tend to affect net interest income adversely.  Because different types of assets and liabilities 
with the same or similar maturities may react differently to changes in overall market rates or conditions, changes in interest rates may affect 
net interest income positively or negatively even if an institution were perfectly matched in each maturity category.  
 

The following table sets forth the estimated maturity or re-pricing of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities at 
December 31, 2010.  The amounts of assets and liabilities shown within a particular period were determined in accordance with the contractual 
terms of the assets and liabilities, except adjustable-rate loans, and securities are included in the period in which their interest rates are first 
scheduled to adjust and not in the period in which they mature and does include the effect of the interest rate swaps.  The interest rate 
sensitivity of our assets and liabilities in the table could vary substantially if based on actual prepayment experience.  
 

  

   ●  monitoring and adjusting, if necessary, the reset index and interest rate related to our RMBS and our financings;  

   ●  attempting to structure our financing agreements to have a range of different maturities, terms, amortizations and interest rate 
adjustment periods;  

   ●  using derivatives, financial futures, swaps, options, caps, floors and forward sales to adjust the interest rate sensitivity of our 
investments and our borrowings;  

   ●  using securitization financing to lower average cost of funds relative to short-term financing vehicles further allowing us to receive the 
benefit of attractive terms for an extended period of time in contrast to short term financing and maturity dates of the investments 
included in the securitization; and  

   ●  actively managing, on an aggregate basis, the interest rate indices, interest rate adjustment periods, and gross reset margins of our 
investments and the interest rate indices and adjustment periods of our financings.  
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Our analysis of risks is based on our manager’s experience, estimates, models and assumptions.  These analyses rely on models which 

utilize estimates of fair value and interest rate sensitivity.  Actual economic conditions or implementation of investment decisions by our 
manager may produce results that differ significantly from the estimates and assumptions used in our models and the projected results shown in 
the above tables and in this Form 10-K.  These analyses contain certain forward-looking statements and are subject to the safe harbor statement 
set forth under the heading, “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”  
 
Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  
 

Our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, together with the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm thereon, are set forth on pages F-1 through F-32 of this Form 10-K.  
   
Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  
 

None.  
 
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures  
 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, or CEO and Chief Financial Officer, or CFO, reviewed and evaluated the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the 
Securities Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.  Based on that review and evaluation, the CEO and CFO 
have concluded that our current disclosure controls and procedures, as designed and operating, (1) were effective in ensuring that information 
regarding the Company and its subsidiaries is made known to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure and (2) were effective in providing reasonable assurance that information the Company must disclose in 
its periodic reports under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods prescribed by 
the SEC’s rules and forms.  
   

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2010 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect its internal control over financial reporting.  
   
Management Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   
                  Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.  
Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the 
supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, 
management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:  
   

  

    
Within 3  
Months      3-12 Months      

1 Year to  
3 Years      

Greater than  

3 Years      Total    
Rate sensitive assets    $ 5,120,119     $ 561,453     $ 7,027,551     $ 3,922,933     $ 16,632,056   
Cash equivalents      7,173       -      -      -      7,173   
Total rate sensitive assets      5,127,292       561,453       7,027,551       3,922,933       16,639,229   
                                          
Rate sensitive liabilities      3,609,370       60,696       -      -      3,670,066   
Interest rate sensitivity gap    $ 1,517,922     $ 500,757     $ 7,027,551     $ 3,922,933     $ 12,969,163   

                                          
Cumulative rate sensitivity gap    $ 1,517,922     $ 2,018,679     $ 9,046,230     $ 12,969,163           

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap as 
a                                          
percentage of total rate sensitive assets      9 %     12 %     54 %     78 %         
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                Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  As a result, 
even systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance regarding the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements.  Moreover, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
   
                The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2010.  In making this assessment, the Company’s management used criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.  
   
                Based on management’s assessment, the Company’s management believes that, as of December 31, 2010, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.  The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte 
& Touche LLP, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  This report appears on page F-2 of 
this annual report on Form 10-K.  
   
Item 9B.  Other Information  
 

None.  
 

  

  •    pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the Company;  

         
  •    provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and  

         
  •    provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the 

Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
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PART III  

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  
 

The information required by Item 10 as to our directors is incorporated herein by reference to the proxy statement to be filed with the 
SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2010.  
   

The information regarding our executive officers required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2010.  
   

The information required by Item 10 as to our compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is incorporated 
by reference to the proxy statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2010.  
   

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics within the meaning of Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K.  This Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer.  This Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly available on our website at www.chimerareit.com.   If we make substantive amendments to this 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver, we intend to disclose these events on our website.  
 

The information regarding certain matters pertaining to our corporate governance required by Item 407(c)(3), (d)(4) and (d)(5) of 
Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2010.  
 
Item 11.  Executive Compensation  
 

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the proxy statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 
days after December 31, 2010.  
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder  Matters  
 

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the proxy statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 
days after December 31, 2010.  
 
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  
 

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the proxy statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 
days after December 31, 2010.  
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services  
 

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the proxy statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 
days after December 31, 2010.  
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PART IV  

 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  
 
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:  
 
1.  Financial Statements.  
 
2.  Schedules to Financial Statements.  
 

All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either inapplicable or the information required is provided in our 
Financial Statements and Notes thereto, included in Part II, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
3.   Exhibits:  
   

EXHIBIT INDEX  

   

  

Exhibit  
Number  

Description    

3.1  
   

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Chimera Investment Corporation  (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on September 27, 2007 and 
incorporated herein by reference)  

  

3.2  Articles of Amendment of Chimera Investment Corporation  (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K 
filed on May  28, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)  

  

3.3  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Chimera Investment Corporation  (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Amendment No. 2 to Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on November 5, 2007 and incorporated 
herein by reference)  

  

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Chimera Investment Corporation (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on September 27, 2007 and 
incorporated herein by reference)  

  

10.1  Form of Management Agreement between Chimera Investment Corporation and Fixed Income Discount Advisory 
Company (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No. 
333-145525) filed on September 27, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)  

  

10.2  Form of Amendment No. 1 to the Management Agreement between Chimera Investment Corporation and Fixed Income 
Discount Advisory Company (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to 
Form S-11 (File No. 333-151403) filed on October 14, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)  

  

10.3  Form of Amendment No. 2 to the Management Agreement between Chimera Investment Corporation and Fixed Income 
Discount Advisory Company (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 20, 
2008 and incorporated herein by reference)  

  

10.4†  Form of Equity Incentive Plan  (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to 
Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on September 27, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)  

  

10.5†  Form of Restricted Common Stock Award (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 
Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on September 27, 2007 and incorporated herein by 
reference)  

  

10.6†  Form of Stock Option Grant (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to 
Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on September 27, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference)  

  

10.7  Form of Master Securities Repurchase Agreement  (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 
Amendment No. 3 to Form S-11 (File No. 333-145525) filed on November 13, 2007 and incorporated herein by 
reference)  

  

12.1  Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges    
21.1  Subsidiaries of Registrant    
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†            Represents a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement  
 
**         Submitted electronically herewith.  Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible 
Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009; (ii) 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008; (iii) 
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008; and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  Users of this data are 
advised pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T that this interactive data file is deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or 
prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities and 
Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.  
   

  

23.3  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.    
31.1  Certification of Matthew Lambiase, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Registrant, pursuant to Section 302 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
  

31.2  Certification of A. Alexandra Denahan, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

  

32.1  Certification of Matthew Lambiase, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Registrant, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

  

32.2  Certification of A. Alexandra Denahan, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

  

Exhibit 101.INS XBRL  Instance Document **    
Exhibit 101.SCH XBRL  Taxonomy Extension Schema Document **    
Exhibit 101.CAL XBRL  Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document **    
Exhibit 101.DEF XBRL  Additional Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Created**    
Exhibit 101.LAB XBRL  Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document **    
Exhibit 101.PRE XBRL  Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document **    
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
Chimera Investment Corporation  
New York, New York  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Chimera Investment Corporation and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010. We also have audited the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible 
for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report On Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting at Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.  
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the 
consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
consolidated financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.  
 
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive 
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and 
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes 
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.  
 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management 
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
 
As discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, 
Consolidation and 860, Transfers and Servicing as of January 1, 2010, and the adoption had a material impact to the consolidated financial 
statements as it relates to the consolidation of certain variable interest entities.  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Chimera 
Investment Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  
 
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP  
New York, New York  
February 28, 2011  

  

  
F-2 



   

  
CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION    
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    

              
              

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009    
Assets:              
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 7,173     $ 24,279   
Non-Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities, at fair value                  

Senior ($484.1 million and $0 resulting from consolidation of VIEs)      987,685       2,022,406   
Subordinated ($1.5 billion and $0 resulting from consolidation of VIEs)      2,210,858       376,459   
Senior, non-retained      2,330,568       -  

Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities, at fair value      2,133,584       1,690,029   
Securitized loans held for investment, net of allowance for loan losses of $6.6 million and $4.6 million, 
respectively      353,532       470,533   
Accrued interest receivable      49,088       33,128   
Other assets      1,212       1,494   
Total assets    $ 8,073,700     $ 4,618,328   

                  
Liabilities:                  
Repurchase agreements  ($2.0 billion and $1.8 billion of RMBS pledged as collateral, respectively)    $ 1,808,797     $ 1,716,398   
Repurchase agreements with affiliates ($0 and $314.3 million of RMBS pledged as collateral, respectively)      -      259,004   
Securitized debt ($302.9 million and $388.3 million of securitized loans pledged as collateral, respectively)      289,236       390,350   
Securitized debt, non-retained ($2.3 billion and $0 of non-retained RMBS pledged as collateral, respectively)     1,956,079       -  
Payable for investments purchased      127,693       -  
Accrued interest payable      11,641       3,235   
Dividends payable      174,445       113,788   
Accounts payable and other liabilities      393       472   
Investment management fees payable to affiliate      12,422       8,519   
Interest rate swaps, at fair value      9,988       -  
Total liabilities    $ 4,390,694     $ 2,491,766   
                  
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)      -      -  
                  
Stockholders' Equity:                  
Common stock: par value $0.01 per share; 1,500,000,000 shares authorized,   
1,027,034,357 and 670,371,587 shares issued and outstanding, respectively    $ 10,261     $ 6,693   
Additional paid-in-capital      3,601,890       2,290,614   
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)      274,651       (99,754 ) 
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)      (203,796 )     (70,991 ) 
Total stockholders' equity    $ 3,683,006     $ 2,126,562   
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity    $ 8,073,700     $ 4,618,328   

                  
See notes to consolidated financial statements.                  
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CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME (LOSS)    
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    

                    
    For the Year Ended    
    December 31, 2010     December 31, 2009     December 31, 2008   
Net Interest Income:                    
Interest income    $ 562,878     $ 298,539     $ 105,259   
Interest expense      37,175       35,083       60,544   
                          
Interest income, non-retained      192,560       -      -  
Interest expense, non-retained      115,061       -      -  
Net interest income (expense)      603,202       263,456       44,715   
Other-than-temporary impairments:                    
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses      (54,343 )     (16,264 )     -  
Non-credit portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive  
income (loss)      41,665       6,268       -  
Net other-than-temporary credit impairment losses      (12,678 )     (9,996 )     -  
Other gains (losses):                          
Unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate swaps      (9,989 )     -      4,156   
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments, net      10,085       103,646       (144,304 ) 
Realized losses on principal write-downs of non-Agency RMBS      (7,385 )     (255 )     -  
Realized gains (losses) on terminations of interest rate swaps      -      -      (10,337 ) 
Total other gains (losses)      (7,289 )     103,391       (150,485 ) 
Net investment income (loss)      583,235       356,851       (105,770 ) 
Other expenses:                          
Management fee      40,924       25,704       8,428   
Provision for loan losses      2,689       3,102       1,540   
General and administrative expenses      6,015       4,061       4,059   
Total other expenses      49,628       32,867       14,027   
Income (loss) before income taxes      533,607       323,984       (119,797 ) 
Income taxes      756       1       12   
Net income (loss)    $ 532,851     $ 323,983     $ (119,809 ) 
                          
Net income (loss) per share-basic and diluted    $ 0.65     $ 0.64     $ (1.90 ) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding-basic and diluted      822,617,319       507,042,421       63,155,878   
Comprehensive income (loss):                          
Net income (loss)    $ 532,851     $ 323,983     $ (119,809 ) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):                    
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net      364,427       260,309       (421,125 ) 
Reclassification adjustment for net losses included in net income  
(loss) for other-than-temporary credit impairment losses      12,678       9,996       -  
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses (gains) included  
in net income (loss)      (2,700 )     (103,391 )     144,304   
Other comprehensive income (loss)      374,405       166,914       (276,821 ) 
Comprehensive income (loss)    $ 907,256     $ 490,897     $ (396,630 ) 

                          
See notes to consolidated financial statements.    
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CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'  EQUITY    

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)    
                                

    

Common 
Stock  

Par Value      

Additional 
Paid-in  
Capital      

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)     

Retained 
Earnings  

(Accumulated 
Deficit)      Total    

Balance, December 31, 2007    $ 377     $ 532,208     $ 10,153     $ (3,849 )   $ 538,889   
Net income (loss)      -      -      -      (119,809 )     (119,809 ) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)      -      -      (276,821 )     -      (276,821 ) 
Proceeds from direct purchase and dividend reinvestment     -      97       -      -      97   
Proceeds from common stock offerings      1,265       272,036       -      -      273,301   
Proceeds from common stock offerings to affiliate      117       26,166       -      -      26,283   
Restricted stock grants      1       1,459       -      -      1,460   
Common dividends declared, $0.62 per share      -      -      -      (28,945 )     (28,945 ) 
Balance, December 31, 2008    $ 1,760     $ 831,966     $ (266,668 )   $ (152,603 )   $ 414,455   
Net income (loss)      -      -      -      323,983       323,983   
Other comprehensive income (loss)      -      -      166,914       -      166,914   
Proceeds from direct purchase and dividend reinvestment     -      50       -      -      50   
Proceeds from common stock offerings      4,635       1,368,246       -      -      1,372,881   
Proceeds from common stock offerings to affiliates      296       89,782       -      -      90,078   
Restricted stock grants      2       570       -      -      572   
Common dividends declared, $0.26 per share      -      -      -      (242,371 )     (242,371 ) 
Balance, December 31, 2009    $ 6,693     $ 2,290,614     $ (99,754 )   $ (70,991 )   $ 2,126,562   
Net income (loss)      -      -      -      532,851       532,851   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      -      -      -      (88,187 )     (88,187 ) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)      -      -      374,405       -      374,405   
Proceeds from direct purchase and dividend reinvestment     -      263       -      -      263   
Proceeds from common stock offerings      3,566       1,310,057       -      -      1,313,623   
Restricted stock grants      2       956       -      -      958   
Common dividends declared, $0.69 per share      -      -      -      (577,469 )     (577,469 ) 
Balance, December 31, 2010    $ 10,261     $ 3,601,890     $ 274,651     $ (203,796 )   $ 3,683,006   

                                          
See notes to consolidated financial statements.    
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CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS    
(dollars in thousands)    

                    
                    

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:                    
Net income (loss)    $ 532,851     $ 323,983     $ (119,809 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:            
(Accretion) amortization of investment discounts/premiums      (247,435 )     (49,249 )     294   
Unrealized losses (gains) on interest rate swaps      9,989       -      (4,156 ) 
Realized loss (gain) on termination of interest rate swaps      -      -      10,337   
Realized losses (gains) on sales of investments      (10,085 )     (103,646 )     144,304   
Realized losses on principal write-downs of non-Agency RMBS      7,385       255       -  
Net other-than-temporary credit impairment losses      12,678       9,996       -  
Provision for loan losses      2,689       3,102       1,540   
Restricted stock grants      958       572       1,460   
Changes in operating assets:                          
   Decrease (increase) in accrued interest receivable      (15,960 )     (23,177 )     (5,613 ) 
   Decrease (increase) in other assets      282       (237 )     (694 ) 
Changes in operating liabilities:                          
   Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities      (79 )     85       (126 ) 
   Increase (decrease) in investment management fees payable to affiliate      3,903       6,227       1,076   
   Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable      8,406       770       2,050   
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    $ 305,582     $ 168,681     $ 30,663   
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:                          
Mortgage-Backed Securities portfolio:                          
   Purchases      (4,022,951 )     (5,324,267 )     (1,483,416 ) 
   Sales      896,261       1,857,210       567,455   
   Principal payments      799,543       548,048       174,449   
Mortgage-Backed Securities portfolio, non-retained:                          
   Principal payments      628,930       -      -  
Loans held for investment portfolio:                          
   Purchases      -      -      (735,271 ) 
   Sales      -      -      90,732   
   Principal payments      -      -      23,115   
Securitized loans:                          
   Purchases      -      -      (111 ) 
   Principal payments      113,330       108,850       40,714   
Reverse repurchase agreements      -      -      265,000   
Restricted cash      -      -      1,350   
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    $ (1,584,887 )   $ (2,810,159 )   $ (1,055,983 ) 
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:                          
   Proceeds from repurchase agreements      15,370,110       59,370,624       85,585,116   
   Payments on repurchase agreements      (15,536,715 )     (57,957,341 )     (85,293,581 ) 
   Net proceeds from common stock offerings      1,313,623       1,372,881       273,301   
   Net proceeds from common stock offerings to affiliates      -      90,078       26,283   
   Proceeds from securitized debt borrowings      -      -      526,716   
   Payments on securitized debt borrowings      (102,000 )     (102,393 )     (37,973 ) 
   Proceeds from securitized debt borrowings, non-retained      1,295,657       -      -  
   Payments on securitized debt borrowings, non-retained      (561,927 )     -      -  
   Net proceeds from direct purchase and dividend reinvestment      263       50       97   
   Net payments on termination of interest rate swaps      -      -      (10,337 ) 
   Common dividends paid      (516,812 )     (135,622 )     (22,848 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    $ 1,262,199     $ 2,638,277     $ 1,046,774   
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      (17,106 )     (3,201 )     21,454   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      24,279       27,480       6,026   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 7,173     $ 24,279     $ 27,480   

                          
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                          
   Interest paid    $ 143,830     $ 34,452     $ 58,493   
   Taxes paid    $ 756     $ 1     $ 33   

                          
Non-cash investing activities:                          



   

   Payable for investments purchased    $ (127,693 )   $ -    $ -  
   Net change in unrealized gain on available-for sale securities    $ 374,405     $ 166,914     $ (276,821 ) 
Non-cash financing activities:                          
   Common dividends declared, not yet paid    $ 174,445     $ 113,788     $ 7,040   

                          
See notes to consolidated financial statements.    
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CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008  

1.   Organization  
 

Chimera Investment Corporation (“Company”) was organized in Maryland on June 1, 2007.  The Company commenced operations on 
November 21, 2007 when it completed its initial public offering.  The Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust 
(“REIT”), under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  As long as the Company qualifies as a REIT, the Company will generally 
not be subject to U.S. federal or state corporate taxes on its income to the extent that the Company distributes at least 90% of its taxable net 
income to its stockholders.  In July 2008, the Company formed Chimera Securities Holdings, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary.  In June 2009, 
the Company formed Chimera Asset Holding LLC and Chimera Holding LLC, both wholly-owned subsidiaries.  In January 2010, the 
Company formed Chimera Special Holding LLC, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chimera Asset Holding LLC.  In July 2010, the 
Company formed CIM Trading Company LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary.  Chimera Securities Holdings, LLC, Chimera Asset Holding LLC, 
Chimera Holding LLC, and Chimera Special Holding LLC are qualified REIT subsidiaries.  CIM Trading Company LLC is a taxable REIT 
subsidiary. Annaly Capital Management, Inc. (“Annaly”) owns approximately 4.38% of the Company’s common shares.  The Company is 
managed by Fixed Income Discount Advisory Company (“FIDAC”), an investment advisor registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”).  FIDAC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Annaly.  
 
2.  Summary of the Significant Accounting Policies  
 
(a) Basis of Presentation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries.  All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  
   
(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash deposited overnight in money market funds.  
 
(c) Non-Agency and Agency Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities  

The Company invests in residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) representing interests in obligations backed by pools of 
mortgage loans. The Company classifies its investment securities as either “trading,” “available-for-sale,” or “held-to-maturity.”  In addition, 
the Company delineates between (1) Agency, (2) non-Agency, and (3) non-Agency, non-retained securities.  The Agency RMBS are mortgage 
pass-through certificates, collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”), and other mortgage-backed securities representing interests in or 
obligations backed by pools of mortgage loans issued or guaranteed as to principal and/or interest repayment by agencies of the U.S. 
Government or federally chartered corporations such as Government National Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”), the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) or the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”).  The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is 
not issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae and is therefore subject to credit risk.  Non-Agency, non-retained 
securities are further detailed in Note 8 to these consolidated financial statements.  
 

The Company holds its RMBS as available-for-sale, records investments at estimated fair value as described in Note 5 of these 
consolidated financial statements, and includes unrealized gains and losses in other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements 
of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  From time to time, as part of the overall management of its portfolio, the Company may sell 
any of its RMBS investments and recognize a realized gain or loss as a component of earnings in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss) utilizing the specific identification method.  
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Interest income on RMBS is computed on the remaining principal balance of the investment security.  Premium or discount 
amortization/accretion on Agency RMBS is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest method .   Premium or 
discount amortization/accretion on non-Agency RMBS is recognized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 325, 
Investment-Other .  For non-Agency RMBS, the Company estimates at the time of purchase expected future cash flows, prepayment speeds, 
credit losses, loss severity, and loss timing based on the Company’s observation of available market data, its experience, and the collective 
judgment of its management team to determine the effective interest rate on the RMBS.  Not less than quarterly, the Company reevaluates, and 
if necessary, makes adjustments to its analysis utilizing internal models, external market research and sources in conjunction with its view on 
performance in the non-Agency RMBS sector.  Changes to the Company’s assumptions subsequent to the purchase date may increase or 
decrease the amortization/accretion of premiums or discounts which affects interest income.  Changes to assumptions that decrease expected 
future cash flows may result in other-than-temporary impairment (“OTTI”).  
 

The Company evaluates each investment in its RMBS portfolio for OTTI quarterly or more often if market conditions warrant.  The 
Company determines if it (1) has the intent to sell the security, (2) is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the securities before 
recovery, or (3) does not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security.  Further, the security is analyzed for credit loss by 
comparing the difference between the present value of cash flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis.  The credit loss, if any, 
will then be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations, while the balance of impairment related to other factors will be recognized 
in other comprehensive income (loss).  
 
  (d) Securitized Loans Held for Investment  

The Company’s securitized residential mortgage loans are comprised of fixed-rate and variable-rate loans.  Mortgage loans are 
designated as held for investment, recorded on trade date, and are carried at their principal balance outstanding, plus any premiums or 
discounts, less allowances for loan losses.  Interest income on loans held for investment is recognized over the life of the investment using the 
effective interest method.  Income recognition is suspended for loans when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of income and 
principal becomes doubtful.  Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to 
be resumed.  The Company estimates fair value of securitized loans as described in Note 5 of these consolidated financial statements.  
 
(e) Allowance for Loan Losses  

The Company has established an allowance for loan losses at a level that management believes is adequate based on an evaluation of 
known and inherent risks related to the Company’s loan portfolio.  The estimate is based on a variety of factors including current economic 
conditions, industry loss experience, the loan originator’s loss experience, credit quality trends, loan portfolio composition, delinquency trends, 
national and local economic trends, national unemployment data, changes in housing appreciation or depreciation and whether specific 
geographic areas where the Company has significant loan concentrations are experiencing adverse economic conditions and events such as 
natural disasters that may affect the local economy or property values. Upon purchase of a pool of loans, the Company obtains written 
representations and warranties from the sellers that the Company could be reimbursed for the value of the loan if the loan fails to meet the 
agreed upon origination standards.  While the Company has little history of its own to establish loan trends, delinquency trends of the 
originators and the current market conditions aid in determining the allowance for loan losses.  The Company has created an unallocated 
provision for probable loan losses estimated as a percentage of the remaining unpaid principal balance on the loans.  Management’s estimate is 
based on historical experience of similarly underwritten pools in conjunction with current and expected market trends.  
 

When the Company determines it is probable that specific contractually due amounts are uncollectible, the amount is considered 
impaired.  Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded investment over the net fair 
value of the collateral, reduced by selling costs.  Any deficiency between the carrying amount of an asset and the net sales price of repossessed 
collateral is charged to the allowance for loan losses.  
 
(f) Repurchase Agreements  

The Company may finance the acquisition of its investment securities through the use of repurchase agreements. Repurchase 
agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are carried at their contractual amounts, including accrued interest, as 
specified in the respective agreements.  
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(g) Securitized Debt and Securitized Debt, Non-Retained  
The Company has issued securitized debt to finance its residential mortgage loan portfolio and has re-securitized RMBS to finance a 

portion of its RMBS portfolio.  Certain transactions involving residential mortgage loans are accounted for as financings, and are recorded as 
an asset called “Securitized loans held for investment” and the corresponding debt as “Securitized debt” in the consolidated statements of 
financial condition.  These securitizations are collateralized by residential adjustable or fixed rate mortgage loans that have been placed in a 
trust and pay interest and principal payments to the debt holders of that securitization.  Re-securitization transactions classified as “Securitized 
debt, non-retained” reflect the transfer to a trust of fixed or adjustable rate RMBS which are classified as “Non-Agency Mortgage-Backed 
Securities Senior, non-retained” that pay interest and principal payments to the debt holders of that re-securitization.  Re-securitization 
transactions completed by the Company are accounted for as financings pursuant to the adoption of ASC 810, Consolidation . The holders of 
securitized debt and securitized debt, non-retained have no recourse to the Company, and the Company does not receive any interest or 
principal paid on such securitized debt, non-retained.  The Company estimates fair value of securitized debt and securitized debt, non-retained 
as described in Note 5 to these consolidated financial statements.  
 
(h) Fair Value Disclosure  

A complete discussion of the methodology utilized by the Company to fair value its financial instruments is included in Note 5 to 
these consolidated financial statements.  
 
(i) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activity  

The Company’s policies permit it to enter into derivative contracts, including interest rate swaps and interest rate caps, as a means of 
mitigating its interest rate risk. The Company intends to use interest rate derivative instruments to mitigate interest rate risk rather than to 
enhance returns.  Interest rate swaps are recorded as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial condition, and 
measured at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses recognized in earnings.  The Company estimates fair value of interest rate 
swaps as described in Note 5 of these consolidated financial statements.  
 
(j) Sales, Securitizations, and Re-Securitizations  

The Company periodically enters into transactions in which it sells financial assets, such as RMBS, mortgage loans and other 
assets.  Gains and losses on sales of assets are computed on the specific identification method whereby the Company records a gain or loss on 
the difference between the carrying value of the asset and the proceeds from the sale.  In addition, the Company from time to time securitizes or 
re-securitizes assets and sells tranches in the newly securitized assets.  These transactions may be recorded as either a sale and the assets 
contributed to the securitization are removed from the consolidated statements of financial condition and a gain or loss is recognized, or as a 
financing whereby the assets contributed to the securitization are not derecognized but rather the liabilities issued by the securitization are 
recorded to reflect the term financing of the assets.  In these securitizations and re-securitizations, the Company may retain senior or 
subordinated interests in the securitized and/or re-securitized assets.  

   
  (k) Income Taxes  

The Company qualifies to be taxed as a REIT, and therefore it generally will not be subject to corporate, federal, or state income tax to 
the extent that qualifying distributions are made to stockholders and the REIT requirements, including certain asset, income, distribution and 
stock ownership tests are met.  If the Company failed to qualify as a REIT and did not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, the 
Company would be subject to federal, state and local income taxes and may be precluded from qualifying as a REIT for the subsequent four 
taxable years following the year in which the REIT qualification was lost.  The Company and its subsidiary CIM Trading Company LLC made 
a joint election to treat the subsidiary as a taxable REIT subsidiary.  As such, CIM Trading Company LLC is taxable as a domestic C 
corporation and subject to federal, state, and local income taxes based upon its taxable income.  
   

 The provisions of FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes , clarify the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial 
statements and prescribe a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax 
return.  FASB ASC 740 also requires that interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits be recognized in financial statements.  The 
Company does not have any unrecognized tax benefits that would affect its financial position.  Thus, no accruals for penalties and interest were 
necessary as of December 31, 2010.  
   
(l) Net Income per Share  

The Company calculates basic net income per share by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average shares of its 
common stock outstanding for that period.  Diluted net income per share takes into account the effect of dilutive instruments, such as stock 
options, but uses the average share price for the period in determining the number of incremental shares that are to be added to the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding.  The Company had no potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the periods presented.  
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(m) Stock-Based Compensation  
The Company accounts for stock based compensation awards granted to the employees of FIDAC and its affiliates in accordance with 

ASC 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees .  Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”) requires the Company to measure the fair value of the equity instrument using the stock prices and other measurement assumptions 
as of the earlier of either the date at which a performance commitment by the counterparty is reached or the date at which the counterparty’s 
performance is complete.  Compensation expense related to the grants of stock and stock options is recognized over the vesting period of such 
grants based on the fair value of the stock on the vesting date.  
 
 (n) Use of Estimates  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates are related 
to the following: all investment securities classified as available-for-sale and interest rate swaps are reported at their estimated fair value; all 
investment securities are amortized/accreted based on yields that incorporate management’s assumptions as to the expected performance of the 
investment over time; and the loan loss provision reflects management estimates with regard to expected losses of the securitized loan 
portfolio.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 
(o) Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.  All inter-company 
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  
 
(p) Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   
Assets  
 
Receivables (ASC 310)  
 

In April 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2010-18, which addresses the effect of a loan modification 
when a loan is part of a pool accounted for as a single asset. This update clarifies the treatment of a troubled debt restructuring.  This guidance 
allows acquired assets, which have evidence of credit deterioration upon acquisition and common risk characteristics, to be accounted for in the 
aggregate as a pool.  Upon establishment of the pool, the pool becomes the unit of accounting.  Any purchase discount is not allocated to 
individual loans, thus all of the loans in the pool accrete at a single pool rate based on cash flow projections for the pool.  Likewise, impairment 
analysis is performed on the pool as a whole, not on individual loans.  Modifications to loans, even if those modifications are considered 
troubled debt restructuring, do not result in a loan being removed from the pool.  This treatment is consistent with the current accounting 
practices of the Company and therefore has no material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
 

In July 2010, the FASB released ASU 2010-20, which addresses disclosures about the credit quality of financing receivables and the 
allowance for credit losses.  The purpose of this update is to provide greater transparency regarding the allowance for credit losses and the 
credit quality of financing receivables as well as to assist in the assessment of credit risk exposures and evaluation of the adequacy of 
allowances for credit losses. Additional disclosures must be provided on a disaggregated basis.  The update defines two levels of 
disaggregation – portfolio segment and class of financing receivable.  Additionally, the update requires disclosure of credit quality indicators, 
past due information and modifications of financing receivables. The update is not applicable to mortgage banking activities (loans originated 
or purchased for resale to investors); derivative instruments such as repurchase agreements; debt securities;  a transferors interest in 
securitization transactions accounted for as sales under ASC 860; and purchased beneficial interests in securitized financial assets.  This update 
became effective for the Company for interim or annual periods ending on or after December 15, 2010.  Adoption of this guidance results in 
increased footnote disclosure in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
 

In January 2011, the FASB released ASU 2011-01, which defers the effective date of disclosures about troubled debt restructurings 
required in ASU 2010-20.  The delay has allowed the FASB time to clarify the guidance for determining what constitutes a troubled debt 
restructuring.  This update does not defer the other disclosure requirements under ASU 2010-20.  
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Broad Transactions  
 
Consolidation (ASC 810)  
 

Effective January 1, 2010, the consolidation standards have been amended by ASU 2009-17.  This amendment updates the existing 
standard and eliminates the exemption from consolidation of a Qualified Special Purpose Entity (“QSPE”).  The update requires an enterprise 
to perform an analysis to determine whether the enterprise’s variable interest or interests give it a controlling financial interest in a variable 
interest entity (“VIE”). The analysis identifies the primary beneficiary of a VIE as the enterprise that has both: a) the power to direct the 
activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to 
receive benefits from the entity which could potentially be significant to the VIE.  The update requires enhanced disclosures to provide users of 
financial statements with more transparent information about an enterprises involvement in a VIE.  The Company determined it is the primary 
beneficiary on a number of VIEs formed through re-securitizations.  The Company was required to consolidate RMBS re-securitization 
transactions previously recorded during the year ended December 31, 2009 as sales for GAAP beginning with the effective date of this 
ASU.  Consolidation of these transactions altered the presentation of the consolidated financial statements by increasing its non-Agency 
portfolio and increasing the value of non-recourse liabilities for which it has no continuing obligation.  The consolidation has reversed 
previously recorded GAAP gains on sales of assets related to the re-securitizations undertaken in 2009.  The reversal of this gain will be 
accreted over the remaining life of the re-securitized assets.  The adoption of this guidance has resulted in material changes to the format and 
content of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, as well as enhanced disclosures as described in Note 8 to these consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
Derivatives and Hedging (ASC 815)  
 

The FASB issued ASU 2010-8 in February 2010 and provided technical corrections to ASC 815.  This update provides a four step 
analysis to determine whether call or put options that can accelerate the settlement of debt instruments should be considered clearly and closely 
related to the debt host contract.  If it is determined that such option is closely related to the host contract, bifurcation of the host contract from 
the derivative instrument is not necessary.  If an existing hybrid instrument requires bifurcation under this update, a one-time election can be 
made to utilize the Fair Value Option for the entire contract.   This update was effective for the Company January 1, 2010 and continues to 
have no effect on the consolidated financial statements.  
 

 ASU 2010-11 was issued in March 2010 and defined a scope exception for embedded derivative features which involve only the 
transfer of credit risk that is only in the form of subordination of one financial instrument to another.  Such instruments would not be subject to 
bifurcation under ASC 815.  This guidance is effective for the first quarter beginning after June 15, 2010, however early adoption for the first 
fiscal quarter is allowed.  The Company elected to early adopt for the first quarter of 2010.  Adoption has had no effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (ASC 820)  
 

In January 2010, FASB issued ASU 2010-06 which increases disclosures regarding the fair value of assets.  The key provisions of this 
guidance include the requirement to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 including a 
description of the reason for the transfers.  Previously this was only required of transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 assets.  Further, 
reporting entities are required to provide fair value measurement disclosures for each class of assets and liabilities; a class is potentially a subset 
of the assets or liabilities within a line item in the statement of financial position.  Additionally, disclosures about the valuation techniques and 
inputs used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements are required for either Level 2 or Level 3 
assets.  This portion of the guidance is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2010. Adoption of this guidance resulted in increased 
footnote disclosure in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  The guidance also requires that the disclosure on any Level 3 assets 
presents separately information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements.  In other words, Level 3 assets are presented on a gross basis 
rather than as one net number.  However, this last portion of the guidance is not effective for the Company until January 1, 2011.  Adoption of 
this portion of ASU 2010-06 will result in increased footnote disclosure in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

  

  
F-11 



Subsequent Events (ASC 855)  
   
In February 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09 as an amendment to ASC 855.  This update eliminated the requirement to provide a 

specific date through which subsequent events were evaluated.  The purpose of this update was to alleviate potential conflicts between ASC 
855 and SEC reporting requirements.  The update was effective upon issuance.  
 
Transfers and Servicing (ASC 860)  
 

On June 12, 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-16, an amendment update to the accounting standards governing the transfer and 
servicing of financial assets.  This amendment updated the existing standard and eliminated the concept of a QSPE, clarified the surrendering 
of control to effect sale treatment and modified the financial components approach – limiting the circumstances in which a financial asset or 
portion thereof should be derecognized when the transferor maintains continuing involvement.  It defined the term “Participating 
Interest”.  Under this standard update, the transferor must recognize and initially measure at fair value all assets obtained and liabilities incurred 
as a result of a transfer, including any retained beneficial interest. Additionally, the amendment required enhanced disclosures regarding the 
transferors risk associated with continuing involvement in any transferred assets. The amendment was effective beginning January 1, 
2010.  The Company has determined the amendment had a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  See discussion under 
Consolidation (ASC 810) above.  
 
3 .  Mortgage-Backed Securities  
 

The following tables present the principal value, unamortized premium, unamortized discount, gross unrealized gain, gross unrealized 
loss, and fair value of the Company’s available-for-sale RMBS portfolio as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, at fair value by asset class.  The 
RMBS portfolio is composed of Agency and non-Agency RMBS collateralized by residential mortgage loans.  The Agency RMBS are 
mortgage pass-through certificates, CMOs, and other mortgage-backed securities representing interests in or obligations backed by pools of 
mortgage loans issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae.  The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is not issued or 
guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae and is therefore subject to credit risk.  The Company classifies its non-Agency RMBS 
into senior, subordinated, and senior, non-retained interests.  Senior interests in non-Agency RMBS are considered to be entitled to the first 
principal repayments in their pro-rata ownership interests.  At December 31, 2010 the non-Agency RMBS portfolio included $5.9 billion in 
notional Interest Only (“IO”) senior securities and $305.0 million in notional IO subordinated securities.  At December 31, 2009 the non-
Agency RMBS portfolio includes $379.0 million in notional IO subordinated securities.  Securities identified as senior, non-retained have been 
consolidated pursuant to the adoption of ASC 810.  See Note 8 of these consolidated financial statements for a detailed discussion.  
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The following tables present the gross unrealized losses and estimated fair value of the Company’s RMBS by length of time that such 

securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2010 and 2009.  The securities in an unrealized loss position have 
been evaluated by the Company for OTTI as discussed in the paragraphs following these tables.  Five securities have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position for greater than twelve months, all of which are subordinated interests held by the Company that, although performing 
in line with the Company’s expectations, are in unrealized loss position due to significant market value declines consistent with similar asset 
classes as a result of the credit crisis.  

  

December 31, 2010    
(dollars in thousands)    

                                      

    
Principal 

Value      
Unamortized  

Premium      
Unamortized  

Discount      

Gross 
Unrealized  

Gain      

Gross 
Unrealized  

Loss      Fair Value    
Non-Agency RMBS                                      

Senior    $ 664,251     $ 420,657     $ (9,320 )   $ 21,758     $ (109,661 )   $ 987,685   
Subordinated      4,962,829       58,298       (2,789,906 )     206,189       (226,552 )     2,210,858   
Senior, non-retained      2,008,167       79,730       (109,619 )     428,213       (75,923 )     2,330,568   

Agency RMBS      2,035,823       67,134       -      47,717       (17,090 )     2,133,584   
Total    $ 9,671,070     $ 625,819     $ (2,908,845 )   $ 703,877     $ (429,226 )   $ 7,662,695   

December 31, 2009    
(dollars in thousands)    

                                      

    
Principal 

Value      
Unamortized  

Premium      
Unamortized  

Discount      

Gross 
Unrealized  

Gain      

Gross 
Unrealized  

Loss      Fair Value    
Non-Agency RMBS                                      

  Senior    $ 2,757,212     $ 1,536     $ (628,210 )   $ 83,946     $ (192,078 )   $ 2,022,406   
Subordinated      1,616,031       10,346       (1,239,769 )     65,996       (76,145 )     376,459   

Agency RMBS      1,616,450       55,081       (29 )     20,767       (2,240 )     1,690,029   
Total    $ 5,989,693     $ 66,963     $ (1,868,008 )   $ 170,709     $ (270,463 )   $ 4,088,894   
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The Company recorded a $12.7 million other-than-temporary credit impairment during the year ended December 31, 2010 on 

investments where the expected future cash flows of certain non-Agency RMBS were less than their amortized cost basis.  The impairment 
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2010 was related to thirty-eight securities.  The impaired investments were interests in non-
Agency RMBS.  As of December 31, 2010, the impaired securities had cumulative losses ranging from 0% up to 14%, three-month 
prepayments speeds between 0 and 69 Constant Prepayment Rate (“CPR”), 60+ day delinquencies between 0% and 32% of the pool balance, 
and weighted average FICO scores on the pools between 666 and 753.  
   

The Company evaluates each investment in its RMBS portfolio for OTTI quarterly or more often if market conditions warrant.  The 
amortized cost of each investment in an unrealized loss position is compared to the present value of expected future cash flows of the position.  
In estimating future cash flows, the Company evaluated the non-Agency RMBS for OTTI by considering delinquencies, credit losses, loss 
severities, prepayment speeds, geographic data, borrower characteristics, loan to value ratios, seasoning and credit support in conjunction with 
broader macroeconomic expectations such as home price depreciation, expectations of future delinquencies and loss severities and the ability of 
the borrower to refinance or modify their loans.  If after determining the expected future cash flows of the position, the amortized cost of the 
security is less than the present value of its expected future cash flows, an other-than-temporary credit impairment has occurred.  If the 
Company does not intend to sell and is not more likely than not required to sell the debt security prior to its anticipated recovery, the credit 
loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of operations, while the balance of impairment related to other factors is recognized in Other 
Comprehensive Income (Loss).  If the Company intends to sell the debt security, or will be more likely than not required to sell the security 
before its anticipated recovery, the full unrealized loss is recognized in the statement of operations.  The determination cannot be overcome by 
management judgment of the probability of collecting all cash flows previously projected.  A summary of the OTTI included in earnings for the 
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is presented below.  

  

December 31, 2010    
(dollars in thousands)    

    
Unrealized Loss Position For:    

    Less than 12 Months      12 Months or More      Total    

RMBS    

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Unrealized  

Losses      

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Unrealized  

Losses      

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Unrealized  

Losses    
Non-Agency RMBS                                      

  Senior   $ 549,968     $ (109,662 )   $ -    $ -    $ 549,968     $ (109,662 ) 
  Subordinated     1,178,493       (217,224 )     12,826       (9,328 )     1,191,319       (226,552 ) 
  Senior, non-retained     764,724       (75,923 )     -      -      764,724       (75,923 ) 

Agency      600,464       (17,090 )     -      -      600,464       (17,090 ) 
Total    $ 3,093,649     $ (419,899 )   $ 12,826     $ (9,328 )   $ 3,106,475     $ (429,227 ) 

December 31, 2009    
(dollars in thousands)    

    
Unrealized Loss Position For:    

    Less than 12 Months      12 Months or More      Total    

RMBS    

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Unrealized  

Losses      

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Unrealized  

Losses      

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Unrealized  

Losses    
Non-Agency RMBS                                      

  Senior   $ 539,579     $ (38,466 )   $ 489,670     $ (153,613 )   $ 1,029,249     $ (192,079 ) 
  Subordinated     179,226       (72,438 )     5,862       (3,707 )     185,088       (76,145 ) 

Agency      682,681       (2,240 )     -      -      682,681       (2,240 ) 
Total    $ 1,401,486     $ (113,144 )   $ 495,532     $ (157,320 )   $ 1,897,018     $ (270,464 ) 
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The following table presents details of each asset class in the Company’s RMBS portfolio at December 31, 2010 and 2009 .  The 

principal or notional value represents the interest income earning balance of each class.  The weighted average amortized cost, fair value, 
coupon, yield, and CPR at period-end are weighted by each investment’s respective principal/notional value in the asset class.  The figure 
presenting the annualized yield over the current quarter is the annualized interest income earned on the asset class during the quarter, divided 
by the average of the beginning and ending amortized cost of the asset class.  
   

   
The Company’s investment guidelines place no restrictions on the credit rating of the assets the Company is able to hold in its 

portfolio.  The portfolio is most heavily weighted to contain RMBS with credit risk.  The Company chooses assets for the portfolio after 
carefully evaluating each investment’s risk profile.  

   

   
The table above reflects the credit rating of the Company’s consolidated RMBS portfolio.  At December 31, 2010, approximately 20% 

of the AAA, AA, and A securities balance reflected in the table above include senior, non-retained, non-Agency RMBS.  
   

The AAA rated assets in the RMBS portfolio are predominantly Agency RMBS and senior non-retained non-Agency RMBS.  As the 
Company securitizes or re-securitizes assets, it expects the Below B or not rated percentages in the portfolio to increase as the Company 
typically retains the subordinated tranches of these types of transactions.  

  

    For the Year Ended    

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
    (dollars in thousands)         
Cumulative credit loss beginning balance    $ 9,996     $ -    $ -  
Additions:                          

  Other-than-temporary impairments not previously recognized      9,437       9,567       -  
  Increases related to other-than-temporary impairments on securities with  

      previously recognized other-than-temporary impairments      3,241       429       -  
Cumulative credit loss ending balance    $ 22,674     $ 9,996     $ -  

December 31, 2010   

    

Principal or  
Notional  
Value at  

Period-End      

Weighted  
Average  

Amortized  
Cost Basis at 
Period-End      

Weighted  
Average Fair 

Value at  
Period-End      

Weighted  
Average  

Coupon at  
Period-End      

Weighted  
Average  

Yield (Loss  
Adjusted) at  
Period-End      

Annualized  
Yield Over  

Current 
Quarter      

Weighted  
Average 3  

Month CPR  
at Period-End   

Non-Agency 
Mortgage-Backed 
Securities                                            

  Senior      664,251     $ 99.64     $ 101.56       4.48 %     4.65 %     5.73 %     16 % 
  Senior, interest 
only      5,929,634     $ 6.98     $ 5.28       1.74 %     14.71 %     29.03 %     16 % 
  Subordinated      4,962,829     $ 44.35     $ 43.88       4.11 %     16.78 %     25.63 %     15 % 
  Subordinated, 
interest only      304,993     $ 9.93     $ 10.81       3.03 %     27.60 %     24.62 %     16 % 
  Senior, non-
retained      2,008,167     $ 98.51     $ 116.05       5.17 %     4.36 %     6.85 %     15 % 

Agency Mortgage-
Backed  
Securities      2,092,465     $ 103.30     $ 104.80       5.05 %     4.51 %     3.34 %     24 % 

    
December 31, 

2010     
December 31, 

2009   
AAA      41.25 %     39.41 % 
AA      7.91 %     0.75 % 
A      1.92 %     0.55 % 
BBB      0.80 %     1.07 % 
BB      0.01 %     1.77 % 
B      0.01 %     2.18 % 
Below B or not rated      48.10 %     54.27 % 
Total      100.00 %     100.00 % 
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Actual maturities of mortgage-backed securities are generally shorter than stated contractual maturities.  Actual maturities of the 
Company’s RMBS are affected by the contractual lives of the underlying mortgages, periodic payments of principal and prepayments of 
principal.  The following tables summarize the Company’s RMBS at December 31, 2010 and 2009 according to their estimated weighted-
average life classifications.  The weighted-average lives of the mortgage-backed securities at December 31, 2010 and 2009 in the tables below 
are based on consensus constant prepayment speeds.  The prepayment model considers current yield, forward yield, steepness of the interest 
rate curve, current mortgage rates, mortgage rates of the outstanding loan, loan age, margin and volatility.  
   

   
   

   

  

December 31, 2010    
(dollars in thousands)    

                          

    
Less than one  

year      

Weighted Average 
Life  

Greater than one  
year and less  

than five years      
Greater than five 

years      Total    
Fair value                          

Non-Agency RMBS                          
Senior    $ 26,962     $ 587,075     $ 373,648     $ 987,685   
Subordinated      7,941       218,986       1,983,931       2,210,858   
Senior, non-retained      200,468       1,889,732       240,368       2,330,568   

Agency RMBS      -      1,560,859       572,725       2,133,584   
Total fair value    $ 235,371     $ 4,256,652     $ 3,170,672     $ 7,662,695   
Amortized cost                                  

Non-Agency RMBS                                  
Senior    $ 26,920     $ 584,859     $ 463,810     $ 1,075,589   
Subordinated      11,076       253,558       1,966,587       2,231,221   
Senior, non-retained      251,579       1,500,955       225,744       1,978,278   

Agency RMBS      -      1,513,644       589,313       2,102,957   
Total amortized cost    $ 289,575     $ 3,853,016     $ 3,245,454     $ 7,388,045   

December 31, 2009    
(dollars in thousands)    

                          

    
Less than one  

year      

Weighted Average 
Life  

Greater than one  
year and less  

than five years      
Greater than five 

years      Total    
Fair value                          

Non-Agency RMBS                          
Senior    $ 20,533     $ 1,520,809     $ 481,065     $ 2,022,407   
Subordinated      137       204,481       171,840       376,458   

Agency RMBS      -      1,690,029       -      1,690,029   
Total fair value    $ 20,670     $ 3,415,319     $ 652,905     $ 4,088,894   
Amortized cost                                  

Non-Agency RMBS                                  
Senior    $ 20,549     $ 1,631,461     $ 478,530     $ 2,130,540   
Subordinated      76       244,937       141,594       386,607   

Agency RMBS      -      1,671,502       -      1,671,502   
Total amortized cost    $ 20,625     $ 3,547,900     $ 620,124     $ 4,188,649   
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The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is subject to credit risk.  The Company seeks to mitigate credit risk through its asset selection 
process.  The non-Agency RMBS portfolio is primarily collateralized by what the Company classifies as Alt-A first lien mortgages.  The 
Company categorizes collateral as Alt-A regardless of whether the loans were originally described as “prime” if the behavior of the collateral 
when the Company purchased the security more typically resembles Alt-A.  The Company defines Alt-A collateral characteristics to be when 
the 60+ day delinquency bucket of the pool is greater than 5% and weighted average FICO scores are greater than 650 at origination.  At 
December 31, 2010, 99% of the non-Agency RMBS are Alt-A collateral.  At December 31, 2009, 78% of the non-Agency RMBS were Alt-A 
collateral.  The non-Agency securities contained in this portion of the portfolio have the following collateral characteristics at December 31, 
2010 and 2009.  
   

   
The information presented in the table above includes senior, non-retained, non-Agency RMBS consolidated pursuant to the adoption 

of ASC 810 on January 1, 2010 by the Company.  
   

The table below presents origination year for the Company’s portfolio of non-Agency RMBS at December 31, 2010 and 2009.  
   

   
On January 29, 2010, the Company transferred $1.7 billion in principal value of its RMBS to the CSMC 2010-1R Trust in a re-

securitization transaction.  This transaction was recorded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and 810.  In this transaction, 
the Company financed through the transaction $271.6 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds to third party investors for net proceeds of $268.1 
million.  The Company retained $391.9 million of AAA-rated bonds, $1.0 billion in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate, and 
interest only bonds with a notional value of $1.6 billion on the date of transfer.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide 
credit support to the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that were transferred to the CSMC 2010-1R 
Trust.    
   

On April 30, 2010, the Company transferred $566.6 million in principal value of its RMBS to the CSMC 2010-11R Trust in a re-
securitization transaction.  This transaction was recorded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and 810.  In this transaction, 
the Company financed through the transaction $138.8 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds to third party investors for net proceeds of $137.4 
million.  The Company retained $427.7 million in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate, and interest only bonds with a notional 
value of $566.6 million on the date of transfer.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to the AAA-rated 
bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that were transferred to the CSMC 2010-11R Trust.  

  

  December 31, 
2010  

  December 31, 
2009  

Number of securities in portfolio    581     209 
Weighted average maturity (years)    27.4     28.5 
Weighted average amortized loan to value    72.5%     73.8% 
Weighted average FICO    717.3     715.7 
Weighted average loan balance (in thousands)    $447.6     $415.9 
Weighted average percentage owner occupied    83.3%     82.8% 
Weighted average percentage single family residence    63.1%     59.9% 
Weighted average current credit enhancement    16.0%     12.2% 
Weighted average geographic concentration  CA 57.8%   CA 44.8% 
  FL 13.3%   FL 17.3% 
  NY 7.3%   NY 7.5% 
  NJ 3.9%   MD 4.9% 
  VA 3.3%   NJ 4.4% 

Origination Year as a Percentage of  
Outstanding Principal Balance    

December 31, 
2010     

December 31, 
2009   

2004      0.1 %     0.0 % 
2005      13.4 %     8.7 % 
2006      27.0 %     36.7 % 
2007      56.1 %     50.8 % 
2008      3.3 %     3.8 % 
2009      0.1 %     0.0 % 

Total      100.0 %     100.0 % 
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On May 27, 2010, the Company transferred $1.2 billion in principal value of its RMBS to the CSMC 2010-12R Trust in a re-
securitization transaction.  This transaction was recorded as a “secured borrowing” pursuant to ASC Topics 860 and 810.  In this transaction, 
the Company financed through the transaction $294.0 million of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds to third party investors for net proceeds of $294.3 
million.  The Company retained $136.3 million of AAA-rated bonds, $788.2 million in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate, and 
interest only bonds with a notional value of $1.2 billion on the date of transfer.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide 
credit support to the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that were transferred to the CSMC 2010-12R 
Trust.  
   

On March 11, 2009, the Company transferred $281.9 million in principal value of its RMBS to the JMAC 2009-R2 Trust in a re-
securitization transaction.  In this transaction, the Company sold $49.4 million of AAA-rated floating rate bonds to third party investors and 
realized a loss on the sale of approximately $119 thousand.  The Company retained $143.1 million of AAA-rated bonds, $89.4 million in 
subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to the AAA-
rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that have been transferred to the JMAC 2009-R2 Trust.  
   

On July 30, 2009, the Company transferred $1.5 billion in principal value of its RMBS to the JPMRT 2009-7 Trust in a re-
securitization transaction.  In this transaction, the Company sold $166.3 million of AAA-rated fixed and floating rate bonds to third party 
investors and realized a gain on the sale of approximately $7.3 million.  The Company retained $690.6 million of AAA-rated bonds, $665.5 
million in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to 
the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that have been transferred to the JPMRT 2009-7 Trust.  
   

On September 30, 2009, the Company transferred $1.7 billion in principal value of its RMBS to the CMSC 2009-12R Trust in a re-
securitization transaction.  In this transaction, the Company sold $260.6 million of AAA-rated fixed and floating rate bonds to third party 
investors and realized a gain on sale of approximately $5.2 million.  The Company retained $655.0 million of AAA-rated bonds, $815.1 
million in subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate.  The subordinated bonds and the owner trust certificate provide credit support to 
the AAA-rated bonds.  The bonds issued by the trust are collateralized by RMBS that have been transferred to the CSMC 2009-12R Trust.  
   

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company sold RMBS with a carrying value of $885.4 million for realized gains of 
$10.1 million.  During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company sold RMBS with a carrying value of $1.8 billion for realized gains of 
$103.6 million.  
   

In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded non-recourse financing with third party investors 
related to re-securitizations executed in prior periods.  The Company financed through these transactions $704.5 million of AAA-rated fixed 
rate bonds with third party investors for net proceeds of $703.0 million. In total, in 2010, the Company financed through its secured debt 
financing $1.3 billion of AAA-rated fixed rate bonds for net proceeds of $1.3 billion.  During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company 
recorded no non-recourse financing with third party investors.  
   
4.  Securitized Loans Held for Investment  
   

The following table represents the Company’s securitized residential mortgage loans classified as held for investment at December 31, 
2010 and 2009.  At December 31, 2010, approximately 56% of the Company’s securitized loans are adjustable rate mortgage loans and 44% 
are fixed rate mortgage loans.  All of the adjustable rate loans held for investment are hybrid adjustable rate mortgages (“ARMs”).  Hybrid 
ARMs are mortgages that have interest rates that are fixed for an initial period (typically three, five, seven or ten years) and thereafter reset at 
regular intervals subject to interest rate caps.  The periodic cap on all hybrid ARMs in the securitized loan portfolio range from 0.00% to 3.00% 
for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  The securitized loans held for investment are carried at their principal balance 
outstanding, plus premiums or discounts, less an allowance for loan losses.  
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The securitized loan portfolio is collateralized by prime, jumbo, first lien residential mortgages of which 56% were originated during 

2008 and 42% were originated during 2007 and the remaining 2% of the loans were originated prior to 2007.  A summary of key characteristics 
of these loans follows.  
   

   
The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for loan losses for the securitized mortgage loan portfolio during the 

years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:  
   

   
On a quarterly basis, the Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for loan losses which is calculated to reflect management’s 

estimate of possible losses in the securitized loan portfolio at the reporting date.  The Company’s provision for loan losses considers the quality 
of the collateral, performance of like collateral, and expectations of future market conditions as described more fully in Note 2(e).  The 
Company’s provision for loan losses is calculated on the outstanding principal balance of the portfolio, 60+ day delinquencies for like collateral 
and current and expected severities for similarly underwritten loans.  The Company’s allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2010 was $6.6 
million, representing 185 basis points of the principal balance of the Company’s securitized mortgage loan portfolio.  The Company’s 
allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2009 was $4.6 million, representing 97 basis points of the principal balance of the Company’s 
securitized loan portfolio.  At December 31, 2010, 3.12% of the securitized loans held for investment were greater than 60 days delinquent and 
0.93% were in some stage of bankruptcy, foreclosure, or were real estate owned.  At December 31, 2009, 1.82% of the securitized loans held 
for investment were greater than 60 days delinquent and 0.89% were in some stage of bankruptcy, foreclosure, or real estate owned.  
   
5.  Fair Value Measurements  
   

GAAP defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure 
of fair value measurement and enhances disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.  The valuation hierarchy is based upon the 
transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date.  The three levels are defined as follows:  

  

    
December 31, 

2010     
December 31, 

2009   
    (dollars in thousands)   
              
Securitized loans, at amortized cost    $ 360,118     $ 475,084   
Less: allowance for loan losses      6,586       4,551   
Securitized loans held for investment    $ 353,532     $ 470,533   

  December 31, 
2010  

  December 31, 
2009  

Number of loans    513     681 
Weighted average maturity (years)    26.6     27.2 
Weighted average amortized loan to value    74.5%     73.0% 
Weighted average FICO    755     756 
Weighted average loan balance (in thousands)    $694.3     $690.1 
Weighted average percentage owner occupied    90.5%     90.9% 
Weighted average percentage single family residence    58.2%     60.0% 
Weighted average geographic concentration  CA  33.3%   CA 33.8% 
  FL  6.7%   FL 6.4% 
  NJ  5.3%   NJ 6.3% 
  IL  5.3%   IL 6.0% 
  AZ  5.2%   VA 4.8% 

    
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    
    (dollars in thousands)   
Balance, beginning of period    $ 4,551     $ 1,621     $ 81   
Provision for loan losses      2,689       3,102       1,540   
Charge-offs      (654 )     (172 )     -  
Balance, end of period    $ 6,586     $ 4,551     $ 1,621   
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Level 1 – inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets and liabilities in active markets.  
   

Level 2 – inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.  

   
Level 3 – inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to fair value.  

   
The following discussion describes the methodologies utilized by the Company to fair value its financial instruments by instrument 

class.  
   
Short-term Instruments  

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accrued interest receivable, dividends payable, accounts payable, and accrued interest 
payable generally approximates estimated fair value due to the short term nature of these financial instruments.  
   
Non-Agency and Agency RMBS  

Generally, the Company determines the fair value of its investment securities utilizing a pricing model that incorporates such factors 
as coupon, prepayment speeds, weighted average life, collateral composition, borrower characteristics, expected interest rates, life caps, 
periodic caps, reset dates, collateral seasoning, expected losses, expected default severity, credit enhancement, and other pertinent 
factors.  Certain very liquid asset classes, such as Agency fixed-rate pass-throughs may be priced using independent sources such as quoted 
prices for “To-Be-Announced” securities.   Management reviews the fair values generated by the model to determine whether prices are 
reflective of the current market.  Management performs a validation of the fair value calculated by the pricing model by comparing its results to 
independent prices provided by dealers in the securities and/or third party pricing services.  The Company believes the observable inputs used 
in its model in conjunction with dealer and/or third party pricing services meets the criteria for classification as Level 2.  
   
Non-Agency, Non-Retained RMBS  

The non-Agency, non-retained securities reflected in the consolidated financial statements are securities consolidated pursuant to the 
Company’s adoption of ASC 860 and ASC 810 on January 1, 2010.  These assets have been financed with third parties without recourse to the 
Company in the normal course of the Company’s portfolio optimization strategy.  The Company fair values these assets as described above in 
Non-Agency and Agency RMBS.   See Note 8 to these consolidated financial statements for a detailed discussion of these securities.  
   
Interest Rate Swaps  

The Company obtains quotations from third parties to determine the fair values of its interest rate swaps.  The Company compares the 
third party quotations received to its own estimate of fair value to evaluate for reasonableness.  The dealer quotes will incorporate common 
market pricing methods, including a spread measurement to the Treasury curve or interest rate swap curve as well as underlying characteristics 
of the particular contract. Interest rate swaps are modeled by the Company by incorporating such factors as the term to maturity, Treasury 
curve, LIBOR rates, and the payment rates on the fixed portion of the interest rate swaps.  
   

Any changes to the valuation methodology are reviewed by management to ensure the changes are appropriate. As markets and 
products develop and the pricing for certain products becomes more transparent, the Company will continue to refine its valuation 
methodologies. The methods used to produce a fair value calculation may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair 
values. Furthermore, while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use 
of different methodologies, or assumptions, to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of 
fair value at the reporting date.  The Company uses inputs that are current as of the measurement date, which may include periods of market 
dislocation, during which price transparency may be reduced.  
   

During times of market dislocation, as has been experienced for some time, the observability of prices and inputs can be reduced for 
certain instruments.  If dealers or independent pricing services are unable to provide a price for an asset, or if the price provided by them is 
deemed unreliable by the Company, then the asset will be valued at its fair value as determined in good faith by the Company.  In addition, 
validating third party pricing for the Company’s investments may be more subjective as fewer participants may be willing to provide this 
service to the Company.  Illiquid investments typically experience greater price volatility as a ready market does not exist.  As fair value is not 
an entity-specific measure and is a market-based approach which considers the value of an asset or liability from the perspective of a market 
participant, observability of prices and inputs can vary significantly from period to period.  A condition such as this can cause instruments to be 
reclassified from Level 1 to Level 2 or Level 2 to Level 3 when the Company is unable to obtain third party pricing verification.  
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If at the valuation date, the fair value of an investment security is less than its amortized cost at the date of the consolidated statement 
of financial condition, the Company analyzes the investment security for OTTI.  Management evaluates the Company’s RMBS for OTTI at 
least on a quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market concerns warrant such evaluation.  Consideration is given to (1) the 
length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been lower than carrying value, (2) the intent of the Company to sell the investment 
prior to recovery in fair value (3) whether the Company will more likely than not be required to sell the investment before the expected 
recovery, and (4) the expected future cash flows of the investment in relation to its amortized cost.  Unrealized losses on assets that are 
considered OTTI due to credit are recognized in earnings and the cost basis of the assets are adjusted.  
   

At December 31, 2010, the Company has classified its assets and liabilities as Level 2.  At December 31, 2009, the Company 
classified its assets as Level 2.  The Company’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis are valued at December 
31, 2010 and 2009 as presented below.  
   

   

   
In the aggregate, the Company’s fair valuations of RMBS investments were 0.02% lower than the aggregated dealer marks for the 

year ended December 31, 2010 and 1.05% lower than the aggregated dealer marks for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
   
Securitized Loans Held for Investment  

The Company records securitized loans held for investment when it securitizes loans and records the transaction as a “financing.”  The 
Company carries securitized loans held for investment at principal value, plus premiums or discounts paid, less an allowance for loan 
losses.  The Company estimates the fair value of its securitized loans held for investment at the loss adjusted expected future cash flows of the 
collateral.  The Company models each underlying asset by considering, among other items, the nature of the underlying collateral, coupon, 
servicer, actual and expected defaults, actual and expected default severities, reset indices, and prepayment speeds in conjunction with market 
research for similar collateral performance and management’s expectations of general economic conditions in the sector and greater economy.  
   
Repurchase Agreements  

The Company records repurchase agreements at their contractual amounts including accrued interest payable.  Repurchase agreements 
are collateralized financing transactions utilized by the Company to acquire investment securities.  Due to the short term nature of these 
financial instruments, the Company estimated the fair value of these repurchase agreements to be the contractual obligation plus accrued 
interest payable at maturity.  

  

December 31, 2010    
    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    
    (dollars in thousands)    
Assets:                    
Non-Agency RMBS                    

  Senior   $ -    $ 987,685     $ -  
  Subordinated     -      2,210,858       -  
  Senior, non-retained     -      2,330,568       -  

Agency mortgage-backed securities      -      2,133,584       -  
                          
Liabilities:                          
Interest rate swaps      -      9,988       -  

December 31, 2009    
    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    
    (dollars in thousands)    
Assets:                    
Non-Agency RMBS                    

  Senior   $ -    $ 2,022,406     $ -  
  Subordinated     -      376,459       -  
  Senior, non-retained     -      -      -  

Agency mortgage-backed securities      -      1,690,029       -  
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Securitized Debt and Securitized Debt, Non-Retained  
The Company records securitized debt for certificates or notes financed without recourse to the Company in securitization or re-

securitization transactions treated as “financings” pursuant to ASC 860.  The Company carries securitized debt at the principal balance 
outstanding on non-retained notes associated with its securitized loans held for investment plus premiums or discounts recorded with the sale of 
the notes to third parties.  The premiums or discounts associated with the sale of the notes or certificates are amortized over the life of the 
instrument.  The Company estimates the fair value of securitized debt by estimating the future cash flows associated with underlying assets 
collateralizing the secured debt outstanding.  The Company models each underlying asset by considering, among other items, the structure of 
the underlying security, coupon, servicer, actual and expected defaults, actual and expected default severities, reset indices, and prepayment 
speeds in conjunction with market research for similar collateral performance and management’s expectations of general economic conditions 
in the sector and greater economy.  
   

The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value, as described above, of the Company’s financial instruments 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009.  
   

   
6.  Repurchase Agreements  
   

The Company had outstanding $1.8 billion and $2.0 billion of repurchase agreements with weighted average borrowing rates of 0.45% 
and 0.60% and weighted average remaining maturities of 49 and 26 days as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  At December 31, 
2010 and 2009, RMBS pledged as collateral under these repurchase agreements had an estimated fair value of $2.0 billion and $2.0 billion, 
respectively.  The average daily balances of the Company’s repurchase agreements for the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 30, 
2009 were $1.5 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively. The interest rates of these repurchase agreements are generally indexed to the one-month 
LIBOR rate and re-price accordingly.  
   

At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the repurchase agreements collateralized by RMBS had the following remaining 
maturities.  
   

   

  

    December 31, 2010      December 31, 2009    

    
Carrying  
Amount      

Estimated 
Fair  

Value      
Carrying  
Amount      

Estimated 
Fair  

Value    
    (dollars in thousands)   
Non-Agency RMBS    $ 5,529,111     $ 5,529,111     $ 2,398,865     $ 2,398,865   
Agency RMBS      2,133,584       2,133,584       1,690,029       1,690,029   
Securitized loans held for investment      353,532       345,410       470,533       453,388   
Repurchase agreements      (1,808,797 )     (1,811,575 )     (1,975,402 )     (1,977,664 ) 
Securitized debt      (289,236 )     (303,102 )     (390,350 )     (408,404 ) 
Securitized debt, non-retained      (1,956,079 )     (1,887,121 )     -      -  
Interest rate swaps      (9,988 )     (9,988 )     -      -  

    
December 31, 

2010     
December 31, 

2009   
    (dollars in thousands)   
Overnight    $ -    $ -  
1-30 days (1)      232,265       1,772,662   
30 to 59 days      970,394       62,243   
60 to 89 days      545,442       -  
90 to 119 days      60,696       -  
Greater than or equal to 120 days      -      140,497   
Total    $ 1,808,797     $ 1,975,402   

(1) Repurchase agreements with affiliates totaled $259.0 million as of December 31, 2009. There were no 
repurchase agreements with affiliates as of December 31, 2010.    
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At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company did not have an amount at risk greater than 10% of its equity with any counterparty.  
   
7.  Securitized Debt  
   

All of the Company’s securitized debt is collateralized by residential mortgage loans or RMBS.  For financial reporting purposes, the 
Company’s securitized debt is accounted for as a financing.  Thus, the residential mortgage loans or RMBS held as collateral are recorded in 
the assets of the Company as securitized loans held for investment or RMBS and the securitized debt is recorded as a liability in the statements 
of financial condition.  
   

At December 31, 2010, the Company’s securitized debt collateralized by residential mortgage loans had a principal balance of $303.1 
million.  The debt matures between the years 2023 and 2038.  At December 31, 2010, the debt carried a weighted average cost of financing 
equal to 5.52%, that is secured by residential mortgage loans of which approximately 44% of the remaining principal balance pays a fixed rate 
of 6.29% and 56% of the remaining principal balance pays a variable rate of 5.47%.  At December 31, 2009, the Company’s securitized debt 
collateralized by residential mortgage loans had a principal balance of $390.4 million.  At December 31, 2009, the debt carried a weighted 
average cost of financing equal to 5.50%, that is secured by residential mortgage loans of which approximately 43% of the remaining principal 
balance pays a fixed rate of 6.33% and 57% of the remaining principal balance pays a variable rate of 5.63%.  
   

At December 31, 2010, the Company’s securitized debt, non-retained, collateralized by RMBS had a principal balance of $2.0 
billion.  The debt matures between the years 2035 and 2047.  At December 31, 2010, the debt carried a weighted average cost of financing 
equal to 5.17%.  At December 31, 2009, the Company did not have securitized debt, non-retained collateralized by RMBS.  
   

The following table presents the estimated principal repayment schedule of the securitized debt and securitized debt, non-retained held 
by the Company at December 31, 2010 and 2009, based on expected cash flows of the residential mortgage loans or RMBS, as adjusted for 
projected losses, collateralizing the debt.  All of the securitized debt recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition 
is non-recourse to the Company.  
   

   
The significant increase in debt reflected in the table above reflects the Company’s adoption of ASC 810 on January 1, 2010.  See 

Note 8 for a more detailed discussion.  
   

Maturities of the Company’s securitized debt are dependent upon cash flows received from the underlying loans. The estimate of their 
repayment is based on scheduled principal payments on the underlying loans. This estimate will differ from actual amounts to the extent 
prepayments and/or loan losses are experienced.  See Note 4 for a more detailed discussion of the loans collateralizing the securitized debt.  
   
8.  Consolidation  
   

In June 2009, the FASB issued two new accounting standards that amended guidance applicable to the accounting for transfers of 
financial assets and the consolidation of VIEs (ASC 860 and ASC 810, respectively).  The primary affect of these standards was to eliminate 
the concept of a QPSE when transferring assets and to remove the exemption of a QSPE when applying the consolidation standard.  The 
Company adopted these new accounting standards as of January 1, 2010.  
   

The Company uses securitization trusts or variable interest entities in its securitization and re-securitization transactions.  Prior to 
January 1, 2010, these variable interest entities met the definition of QSPE’s and, as such, were not subject to consolidation.  Effective January 
1, 2010, all such variable interest entities were considered for consolidation based on the criteria in ASC 810.  

  

    
December 31, 

2010     
December 31, 

2009   
    (dollars in thousands)   
Within One Year    $ 634,988     $ 37,192   
One to Three Years      831,305       70,885   
Three to Five Years      305,953       59,382   
Greater Than or Equal to Five Years      417,977       240,945   
Total    $ 2,190,223     $ 408,404   
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Per ASC 810, an entity shall consolidate a VIE when that entity has a variable interest that provides the reporting entity with a 
controlling financial interest.  The assessment of the characteristics of the reporting entity’s VIE shall consider the VIEs purpose and design.  A 
controlling financial interest is defined as (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIEs economic 
performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and/or the right to receive 
benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.  
   

Since the Company’s inception, the Company has created VIEs for the purpose of securitizing whole mortgage loans or re-securitizing 
RMBS and obtaining permanent, non-recourse term financing. The Company evaluated its interest in each securitization trust VIE to determine 
the primary beneficiary status.  The Company found that seven trusts, one of which had been consolidated since its inception, met the 
requirements of consolidation.  The Company determined that in these seven securitizations, based on holding all of the subordinate interests, it 
maintains the obligation to absorb losses and/or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE.  In addition, the 
Company had the power to direct activities of the trust or was determined to have the ability to control the trust due to its contribution in the 
purpose and design of the structure.  The remaining two trusts evaluated did not meet the requirements to consolidate due to the inability to 
control one of the trusts and the lack of obligations to absorb losses on the other trust.  
   
VIEs for Which the Company is the Primary Beneficiary  

Based on the Company’s consolidation evaluation, the Company consolidated three VIEs on January 1, 2010 that were not previously 
consolidated and consolidated three VIEs that it created during 2010.  The Company’s retained beneficial interest is typically the subordinated 
tranches of these re-securitizations and in some cases the Company may hold interests in additional tranches.  The effect in the current year is 
the inclusion of an additional $2.3 billion of non-Agency mortgage-backed securities at fair value no longer retained by the Company and the 
inclusion in its liabilities of $2.0 billion of non-recourse securitized debt associated with these re-securitizations.  
   

On an ongoing basis, the Company expects that the VIEs will be fair valued as Level 2 assets.  Line items pertaining to the third-party 
owned interests are separately stated within the Company’s consolidated financial statements and labeled as “non-retained”.  
   

The trusts are structured as pass through entities that receive principal and interest on the underlying collateral and distribute those 
payments to the certificate holders.  The assets and other instruments held by the securitization entities are restricted in that they can only be 
used to fulfill the obligations of the securitization entity.  Additionally, the obligations of the securitization entities do not have any recourse to 
the general credit of any other consolidated subsidiaries, nor to the Company as the primary beneficiary.  The Company’s risks associated with 
its involvement with these VIEs is limited to its risks and rights as a certificate holder of the bonds it has retained.  See Note 5 for a discussion 
of the fair value measurement of the assets and liabilities.  
   

The securitization entities newly consolidated by the Company are similar in nature to the Company’s portfolio as a whole.  The 
securitization entities are all composed of RMBS of the quality and characteristics of assets reflected in the RMBS classifications found in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.  See Note 3 for a discussion of the securities characteristics of the portfolio.  
   

The table below presents the assets and liabilities of consolidated entities as of January 1, 2010.  The cumulative effect adjustment 
reflects the reversal of realized gains of $98.1 million previously recorded on the sales of these newly consolidated trusts net of the additional 
accretion of discounts due to consolidating the trusts.  At December 31, 2009, none of the re-securitization transactions completed during 2009 
were consolidated.  
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The cumulative effect of adopting ASC 810 on January 1, 2010 based on the shares outstanding on that date was to reduce the 

beginning book value of the Company by $0.13 per share.  
   

The table below reflects the assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated statements of financial condition related to the newly 
consolidated securitization entities as of December 31, 2010.  
   

   
The consolidation of these securitization entities increases both the income and expense recorded in the consolidated statements of 

operations for the Company as detailed in the table below.  
   

   
A discussion of the significant accounting policies of the Company to record income and expense is included in Note 2 to these 

consolidated financial statements.  The effect of adopting ASC 810 based on the weighted average shares outstanding was to increase the net 
interest income of the Company by approximately $0.09 for the year ended December 31, 2010.  
   

The effect of the consolidation of these securitization entities on the consolidated statements of cash flows for the Company is 
presented in the table below for the periods presented.  
   

   

  

    Carrying Value (1)    
    (dollars in thousands)   
Assets        

Non-Agency RMBS        
Senior, non-retained    $ 1,114,034   

Liabilities          
Securitized debt, non-retained      1,202,221   

Net assets and liabilities of newly consolidated entities      (88,187 ) 
Cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings upon adoption    $ (88,187 ) 

          
(1) Carrying value represents the amount the assets would have been recorded at in the consolidated financial statements at January 1, 
2010 had they been recorded in the consolidated financial statements on the date the Company first met the conditions for 
consolidation.    

    December 31, 2010    
    (dollars in thousands)   
Assets        

Non-Agency RMBS        
Senior, non-retained    $ 2,330,568   

Liabilities          
Securitized debt, non-retained    $ 1,956,079   

    
For the Year Ended  
December 31, 2010    

    (dollars in thousands)   
Interest income, non-retained    $ 192,560   
Interest expense, non-retained      115,061   
Net interest income, non-retained    $ 77,499   

    For the Year Ended    
    December 31, 2010     December 31, 2009     December 31, 2008   
    (dollars in thousands)   
Proceeds from securitized debt borrowings, non-retained    $ 1,295,657     $ -    $ -  
Payments on securitized debt borrowings, non-retained      (561,927 )     -      -  
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest receivable      (279 )     -      -  
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable      279       -      -  
Net cash flows, non-retained    $ 733,730     $ -    $ -  
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VIEs for Which the Company is Not the Primary Beneficiary  
The table below represents the carrying amounts and classification of assets recorded on the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements related to its variable interests in non-consolidated VIEs, as well as its maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with 
these VIEs.  
   

   
The Company’s involvement with VIEs for which it is not the primary beneficiary generally are in the form of purchasing securities 

issued by the trusts similar to its investments in other RMBS that are not part of a trust it has evaluated for consolidation.  The Company’s 
maximum exposure to loss in these entities is represented by the fair value of these assets.  This amount does not include OTTI or other write-
downs that the Company previously recognized through earnings.  
   
9.  Interest Rate Swaps  
   

In connection with the Company’s interest rate risk management strategy, the Company economically hedges a portion of its interest 
rate risk by entering into derivative financial instrument contracts.  These derivative financial instrument contracts do not qualify as hedges 
under ASC 815.  As of December 31, 2010, such instruments are comprised of interest rate swaps, which in effect modify the cash flows on 
repurchase agreements.  The use of interest rate swaps creates exposure to credit risk relating to potential losses that could be recognized if the 
counterparties to these instruments fail to perform their obligations under the contracts.  In the event of a default by the counterparty, the 
Company could have difficulty obtaining its RMBS pledged as collateral for swaps.  The Company does not anticipate any defaults by its 
counterparties.  
   

The Company’s swaps are used to lock in a fixed rate related to a portion of its current and anticipated future 30-day term repurchase 
agreements.  
   

The table below summarizes the location and fair value of interest rate swaps reported in the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Condition as of December 31, 2010. The Company had no interest rate swaps outstanding as of December 31, 2009.  
   

   
The effect of the Company’s interest rate swaps on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) is 

presented below.  

  

    December 31, 2010      December 31, 2009    

    
Amortized 

Cost      Fair Value      
Amortized 

Cost      Fair Value    
    (dollars in thousands)   
Assets                          

Non-Agency RMBS                          
Senior    $ 400     $ 559     $ 47,998     $ 46,047   
Subordinated      7,664       6,485       9,701       7,081   

Agency RMBS      2,680       2,530       4,730       4,720   
Total    $ 10,744     $ 9,574     $ 62,429     $ 57,848   

  

Location on Consolidated  
Statement of Financial  

Condition    Notional Amount      
Net Estimated Fair  

Value/Carrying Value    
  (dollars in thousands)    
                
December 31, 2010  Assets    $ -    $ -  
December 31, 2010  Liabilities    $ 450,000     $ (9,988 ) 
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The weighted average pay rate on the Company’s interest rate swaps at December 31, 2010 was 2.59% and the weighted average 

receive rate was 0.26%.  The Company had no interest rate swaps outstanding as of December 31, 2009.  
   
10.  Common Stock  
   

On March 31, 2010, the Company announced the sale of 85,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.61 per share in a public 
offering.  In addition, the underwriters exercised the option to purchase an additional 12,750,000 shares of common stock to cover 
overallotments.  The aggregate net proceeds the Company received before expenses in this sale were approximately $352.9 million.  This sale 
was completed on April 7, 2010.  
   

On June 22, 2010, the Company announced the sale of 100,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.61 per share in a public 
offering.  In addition, the underwriters exercised the option to purchase an additional 15,000,000 shares of common stock to cover 
overallotments.  The aggregate net proceeds the Company received before expenses in this sale were approximately $415.2 million.  This sale 
was completed on June 28, 2010.  
   

On November 2, 2010, the Company announced the sale of 125,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.80 per share in a 
public offering.  In addition, the underwriters exercised the option to purchase an additional 18,750,000 shares of common stock to cover 
overallotments.  The aggregate net proceeds the Company received before expenses in this sale were approximately $546.3 million.  This sale 
was completed on November 8, 2010.  
   

On May 27, 2009, the Company announced the sale of 168,000,000 shares of common stock at $3.22 per share for estimated proceeds, 
less the underwriters’ discount and offering expenses, of $519.3 million.  Immediately following the sale of these shares Annaly purchased 
4,724,017 shares at the same price per share as the public offering, for proceeds of approximately $15.2 million. In addition, on June 1, 2009 
the underwriters exercised the option to purchase up to an additional 25,200,000 shares of common stock to cover over-allotments for proceeds, 
less the underwriters’ discount, of approximately $77.9 million. These sales were completed on June 2, 2009.  In all, the Company raised net 
proceeds of approximately $612.4 million in these offerings.  
   

On April 15, 2009, the Company announced the sale of 235,000,000 shares of common stock at $3.00 per share for estimated 
proceeds, less the underwriters’ discount and offering expenses, of $674.8 million.  Immediately following the sale of these shares Annaly 
purchased 24,955,752 shares at the same price per share as the public offering, for proceeds of approximately $74.9 million. In addition, on 
April 16, 2009 the underwriters exercised the option to purchase up to an additional 35,250,000 shares of common stock to cover over-
allotments for proceeds, less the underwriters’ discount, of approximately $101.3 million. These sales were completed on April 21, 2009.  In 
all, the Company raised net proceeds of approximately $850.9 in these offerings.  
   

On September 24, 2009, the Company implemented a dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan (“DRSPP”).  The DRSPP 
provides holders of record of its common stock an opportunity to automatically reinvest all or a portion of their cash distributions received on 
common stock in additional shares of our common stock as well as to make optional cash payments to purchase shares of our common stock. 
Persons who are not already stockholders may also purchase our common stock under the plan through optional cash payments.  The DRSPP is 
administered by the Administrator, The Bank of New York Mellon. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company raised $263,000 
by issuing 67,596 shares through the DRSPP. During the year ended December 31, 2009 no shares were issued under the DRSPP.  

  

    

Location on Consolidated Statements of 
Operations and Comprehensive Income 

(Loss)    

    Interest Expense      

Unrealized Gain 
(Loss) on Interest 

Rate Swaps    
    (dollars in thousands)    
              
For the Year Ended:              
December 31, 2010    $ 5,789     $ (9,988 ) 
December 31, 2009    $ -    $ -  
December 31, 2008    $ 5,752     $ 4,156   
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During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company declared dividends to common shareholders totaling $577.5 million or $0.69 
per share.  During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company declared dividends to common shareholders totaling $242.4 million or 
$0.43 per share.  
   

There was no preferred stock issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2010 or 2009.  
   

On November 3, 2010, the Company filed an amendment to its Articles of Incorporation.  The Company’s Articles of Incorporation 
previously allowed the Company to issue up to a total of 1,100,000,000 shares of capital stock, par value $0.01 per share.  As of November 3, 
2010, the Company had 883,168,113 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.  To retain the ability to issue additional shares of capital 
stock, the Company has increased the number of shares authorized to issue to 1,600,000,000 shares consisting of 1,500,000,000 shares of 
common stock, $0.01 par value per common share, and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per preferred share.  
   
11.  Long Term Incentive Plan  
   

The Company has adopted a long term stock incentive plan to provide incentives to its independent directors and employees of 
FIDAC and its affiliates, to stimulate their efforts towards the Company’s continued success, long-term growth and profitability and to attract, 
reward and retain personnel and other service providers.  The incentive plan authorizes the Compensation Committee of the board of directors 
to grant awards, including incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted shares and other types of incentive awards.  The 
specific award granted to an individual is based upon, in part, the individual’s position within FIDAC, the individual’s position within the 
Company, his or her contribution to the Company’s performance, market practices, as well as the recommendations of FIDAC.  The incentive 
plan authorizes the granting of options or other awards for an aggregate of the greater of 8.0% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s 
common stock up to a ceiling of 40,000,000 shares.  
   

On January 2, 2008, the Company granted restricted stock awards in the amount of 1,301,000 shares to FIDAC’s employees and the 
Company’s independent directors.  The awards to the independent directors vested on the date of grant and the awards to FIDAC’s employees 
vest quarterly over a period of 10 years.  Of these shares, as of December 31, 2010, 416,200 shares have vested and 43,025 shares were 
forfeited or cancelled.  
   

Each independent director was awarded a pro-rata portion of $45,000 in common stock based on term of service in 2010, which vested 
on December 31, 2010.  
   

As of December 31, 2010, there was $15.7 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested share-based 
compensation arrangements granted under the long term incentive plan, based on the closing price of the shares on the grant date. That cost is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 7.0 years. The total fair value of shares vested, less those forfeited, during the 
year ended December 31, 2010 was $481,000, based on the closing price of the stock on the vesting date.  
   
12.  Income Taxes  
   

As a REIT, the Company is not subject to Federal income tax to the extent that it makes qualifying distributions to its stockholders, 
and provided it satisfies on a continuing basis, through actual investment and operating results, the REIT requirements including certain asset, 
income, distribution and stock ownership tests.  Most states recognize REIT status as well.  During the year ended December 31, 2010, the 
Company recorded $752,000 in income tax expense related to federal REIT excise tax due as a result of a shortfall in the Company’s 2009 
distributions as compared to the amount required under applicable law and $3,000 in state income taxes.  During the year ended December 31, 
2009, the Company recorded $1,000 in income tax expense related to state and federal tax liabilities on undistributed income.   
   

In general, common stock cash dividends declared by the Company will be considered ordinary income to stockholders for income tax 
purposes.  From time to time, a portion of the Company’s dividends may be characterized as capital gains or return of capital.  For the year 
ended December 31, 2010, the Company estimates that all income distributed in the form of dividends will be characterized as ordinary 
income. The Company files tax returns in several U.S jurisdictions, including New York State and New York City. The 2010 tax year remains 
open to U.S. federal, state and local tax examinations.  
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For the year ended December 31, 2009, all income distributed in the form of dividends was characterized as ordinary income.  
   

During July 2010, the Company formed CIM Trading Company LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary, and made a joint election to treat 
the subsidiary as a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”).  As such, CIM Trading Company LLC is taxable as a domestic C corporation and subject 
to federal, state, and local income taxes based upon its taxable income.  For the year ended December 31, 2010, no income tax expense has 
been recorded for this TRS as the Company does not expect the subsidiary to have federal taxable income for the year.  
   
13.  Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk  
   

The Company’s primary components of market risk are credit risk and interest rate risk.  The Company is subject to credit risk and 
interest rate risk in connection with its investments in non-Agency residential mortgage loans and credit sensitive mortgage-backed 
securities.  When the Company assumes credit risk, it attempts to minimize interest rate risk through asset selection, hedging and matching the 
income earned on mortgage assets with the cost of related liabilities.  The Company is subject to interest rate risk, primarily in connection with 
its investments in fixed-rate and adjustable-rate mortgage-backed securities, residential mortgage loans, and borrowings under repurchase 
agreements.  The Company attempts to minimize credit risk through due diligence and asset selection by purchasing loans underwritten to 
agreed-upon specifications of selected originators.  The Company has established a whole loan target market including prime borrowers with 
FICO scores generally greater than 650, Alt-A documentation, geographic diversification, owner-occupied property, and moderate loan to 
value ratio.  These factors are considered to be important indicators of credit risk.  
   
14.  Management Agreement and Related Party Transactions  
   

The Company has entered into a management agreement with FIDAC, which provides for an initial term through December 31, 2010 
with an automatic one-year extension option and subject to certain termination rights.  On November 18, 2010, the Compensation Committee 
of the Board of Directors renewed the management agreement through December 31, 2011.  The Company pays FIDAC a quarterly 
management fee equal to 1.50% per annum of the gross Stockholders’ Equity (as defined in the management agreement) of the Company.  
   

Management fees accrued and paid to FIDAC for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 were $40.9 million and $25.7 million, 
respectively.  
   

The Company is obligated to reimburse FIDAC for its costs incurred under the management agreement.  In addition, the management 
agreement permits FIDAC to require the Company to pay for its pro rata portion of rent, telephone, utilities, office furniture, equipment, 
machinery and other office, internal and overhead expenses that FIDAC incurred in the operation of the Company.  These expenses are 
allocated between FIDAC and the Company based on the ratio of the Company’s proportion of gross assets compared to all remaining gross 
assets managed by FIDAC as calculated at each quarter end.  FIDAC and the Company will modify this allocation methodology, subject to the 
Company’s board of directors’ approval if the allocation becomes inequitable (i.e., if the Company becomes very highly leveraged compared to 
FIDAC’s other funds and accounts).  During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company reimbursed FIDAC approximately $465,000 for 
such expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2009, FIDAC waived its right to request reimbursement from the Company for these 
expenses.  
   

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, 146,400 and 128,900 shares of restricted stock issued by the Company to 
FIDAC’s employees vested, as discussed in Note 11.  
   

In April 2009, the Company entered into a Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association standard preprinted form Master 
Repurchase Agreement with RCap Securities, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Annaly.  This standard agreement does not contain any sort of 
liquidity, net worth or other similar types of positive or negative covenants.  Rather, the agreement contains covenants that require the buyer 
and seller of securities to deliver collateral or securities, and similar covenants which are customary in Master Repurchase Agreements.  At 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had no financing under this agreement. The Company has been in compliance with all covenants 
of this agreement since it entered into this agreement.  
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In March 2008, the Company entered into a Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association standard preprinted form Master 
Repurchase Agreement with Annaly.  This standard agreement does not contain any sort of liquidity, net worth or other similar types of 
positive or negative covenants.  Rather, the agreement contains covenants that require the buyer and seller of securities to deliver collateral or 
securities, and similar covenants which are customary in Master Repurchase Agreements.  At December 31, 2010, the Company had no 
financing under this agreement.  At December 31, 2009, the Company financed $259.0 million under this agreement at a weighted average rate 
of 1.72%.  The Company has been in compliance with all covenants of this agreement since it entered into this agreement.  
   
15.  Commitments and Contingencies  
   

From time to time, the Company may become involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of 
business.  Management is not aware of any reported or unreported contingencies at December 31, 2010.  
   
16.  Subsequent Events  
   

On January 28, 2011 the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with FIDAC and UBS Securities LLC 
(“UBS”).  Through this agreement, the Company may sell through UBS, as its sales agent, up to 125,000,000 shares of our common stock in 
ordinary brokers’ transactions at market prices or other transactions as agreed between the Company and UBS.  
   
17.  Summarized Quarterly Results (Unaudited)  
   

The following is a presentation of the results of operations for the quarters ended December 31, 2010, September 30, 2010, June 30, 
2010 and March 31, 2010.  
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The following is a presentation of the results of operations for the quarters ended December 31, 2009, September 30, 2009, June 30, 

2009 and March 31, 2009.  

  

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS    

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    
(unaudited)    

                          
    For the Quarters Ended   

    
December 31, 

2010      

September 
30,  

2010      June 30, 2010     
March 31, 

2010    
Net Interest Income:                          
Interest income    $ 159,967     $ 140,405     $ 133,522     $ 128,984   
Interest expense      12,076       10,527       7,198       7,374   
                                  
Interest income, non-retained      33,780       58,090       49,829       50,861   
Interest expense, non-retained      27,573       32,237       21,421       33,830   
Net interest income (expense)      154,098       155,731       154,732       138,641   
Other-than-temporary impairments:                            
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses      (5,596 )     (1,314 )     (24,746 )     (22,687 ) 
Non-credit portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income 
(loss)      3,233       436       17,853       20,143   
Net other-than-temporary credit impairment losses      (2,363 )     (878 )     (6,893 )     (2,544 ) 
Other gains (losses):                                  
Unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate swaps      14,831       (13,583 )     (11,237 )     -  
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments, net      7,711       2,032       -      342   
Realized losses on principal write-downs of non-Agency RMBS      (3,593 )     (2,517 )     (326 )     (949 ) 
Total other gains (losses)      18,949       (14,068 )     (11,563 )     (607 ) 
Net investment income (loss)      170,684       140,785       136,276       135,490   
Other expenses:                                  
Management fee      12,229       11,318       9,263       8,114   
Provision for loan losses      577       482       1,024       606   
General and administrative expenses      1,648       1,798       1,409       1,160   
Total other expenses      14,454       13,598       11,696       9,880   
Income (loss) before income taxes      156,230       127,187       124,580       125,610   
Income taxes      3       752       1       -  
Net income (loss)    $ 156,227     $ 126,435     $ 124,579     $ 125,610   
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CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION    
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS    

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)    
(unaudited)    

                          
    For the Quarters Ended    

    
December 31, 

2009      

September 
30,  

2009      June 30, 2009     
March 31, 

2009    
Net Interest Income:                          
Interest income    $ 100,765     $ 104,690     $ 65,077     $ 28,007   
Interest expense      8,530       9,197       8,313       9,042   
Net interest income (expense)      92,235       95,493       56,764       18,965   
Other-than-temporary impairments:                                  
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses      (1,480 )     (6,209 )     (8,575 )     -  
Non-credit portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income 
(loss)      164       4,024       2,080       -  
Net other-than-temporary credit impairment losses      (1,316 )     (2,185 )     (6,495 )     -  
Other gains (losses):                                  
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments, net      16,191       74,508       9,321       3,627   
Realized losses on principal write-downs on non-Agency RMBS      (195 )     (61 )     -      -  
Total other gains (losses)      15,996       74,447       9,321       3,627   
Net investment income (loss)      106,915       167,755       59,590       22,592   
Other expenses:                                  
Management fee      8,516       8,649       5,955       2,583   
Provision for loan losses      1,692       47       1,130       234   
General and administrative expenses      1,238       1,057       861       905   
Total other expenses      11,446       9,753       7,946       3,722   
Income (loss) before income taxes      95,469       158,002       51,644       18,870   
Income taxes      -      -      -      1   
Net income (loss)    $ 95,469     $ 158,002     $ 51,644     $ 18,869   
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SIGNATURES  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report 

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of New York, State of New York.  
   
   

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.  
   
   

   
   

   

  

  CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
      
      
      
  By: /s/ Matthew Lambiase  

    Matthew Lambiase  
    Chief Executive Officer and President  
    February 25, 2011  

Signatures  Title  Date  
      

/s/ Matthew Lambiase  
Chief Executive Officer, President, and  

Director (Principal Executive Officer)  February 25, 2011  
Matthew Lambiase      
      

/s/ A. Alexandra Denahan  
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial  

and Accounting Officer)  February 25, 2011  
A. Alexandra Denahan      
      
/s/ Jeremy Diamond  Director  February 25, 2011  

Jeremy Diamond      
      
/s/ Mark Abrams  Director  February 25, 2011  

Mark Abrams      
      
/s/ Paul A. Keenan  Director  February 25, 2011  

Paul A. Keenan      
      
/s/ Paul Donlin  Director  February 25, 2011  

Paul Donlin      
      
/s/ Gerard Creagh Director  February 25, 2011  

Gerard Creagh     
      
/s/ Dennis Mahoney  Director  February 25, 2011 
Dennis Mahoney     
      
/s/ John P. Reilly  Director  February 25, 2011  

John P. Reilly      
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Exhibit 12.1 
   
   
   

   

Ratio of Income (Loss) To Combined Fixed Charges And Preferred Stock Dividends    
The following table sets forth the calculation of our ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock    

dividends for the periods shown (dollars in thousands):    
                            
          For the Year Ended         For the period   

      
December 31, 

2010      
December 31, 

2009      
December 31, 

2008    

from Nov. 21, 2007 
through Dec. 31, 

2007  
                            
Net income (loss) before taxes    $ 533,607     $ 323,984     $ (119,797 )   $ (2,901 ) 
Add:  fixed charges (interest expense)      152,236       35,083       60,544       415   
  preferred stock dividend      -      -      -      -  
Income (loss) as adjusted    $ 685,843     $ 359,067     $ (59,253 )   $ (2,486 ) 
Fixed charges (interest expense) + preferred stock dividend    $ 152,236     $ 35,083     $ 60,544     $ 415   
Ratio of income (losses) to combined fixed charges and 
preferred stock dividends      4.51X       10.23X       (0.99X )     (5.99X ) 



Exhibit 21.1 
   
Subsidiaries of Registrant  
 
Chimera Securities Holdings LLC, Delaware limited liability company.  
Chimera Asset Holding LLC, Delaware limited liability company.  
Chimera Holding, LLC, Delaware limited liability company.  
Chimera Special Holdings LLC, Delaware limited liability company (a wholly owned subsidiary of Chimera Asset Holding LLC)  
CIM Trading Company LLC  
   
   



Exhibit 23.1 
   
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   
   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-159468 and 333-162120 on Forms S-3 and Registration 
Statement No. 333-147747 on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 28, 2011, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Chimera 
Investment Corporation (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s 
adoption of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation and 860, Transfers and Servicing as of January 1, 2010, as the 
adoption had a material impact to the consolidated financial statements as it relates to the consolidation of certain variable interest entities), and 
the effectiveness of Chimera Investment Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
of Chimera Investment Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2010.  
   
   
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
   
New York, New York  
February 28, 2011  
   
   



Exhibit 31.1 
CERTIFICATIONS  

   
I, Matthew Lambiase, certify that:  

 
1.           I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Chimera Investment Corporation;  

 
2.           Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;  

   
3.           Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;  

   
4.           The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:  

   

   

 

   

   
5.           The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

   

   

   
 

   

a.    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;  

b.    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;  

c.    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d.    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and  

a.    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and  

b.    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  Date:   February 25, 2011  
    
  /s/ Matthew Lambiase  
  Matthew Lambiase  
  Chief Executive Officer and President (Principal Executive Officer)  



Exhibit 31.2 
CERTIFICATIONS  

 
I, A. Alexandra Denahan, certify that:  

   
1.           I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Chimera Investment Corporation;  

 
2.           Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;  

   
3.           Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;  

   
4.           The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:  

   

   

   

   

   
5.           The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

   

   

   
   

a.    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;  

b.    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;  

c.    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d.    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and  

a.    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and  

b.    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  Date: February 25, 2011 
    
  /s/   A. Alexandra Denahan  
  A. Alexandra Denahan  
  Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)  



Exhibit 32.1 
 

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION  
1211 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS  

SUITE 2902  
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10036  

 
   

CERTIFICATION  
   
   

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE  
   

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 10 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
   

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Chimera Investment Corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 to be filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Matthew Lambiase, 
President, and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, that:  
   

 

   
It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  

   
   

   

  1.   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

  2.   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company at the dates of, and for the periods covered by, the Report.  

  /s/ Matthew Lambiase  
  Matthew Lambiase  
  Chief Executive Officer and President  
  February 25, 2011 



Exhibit 32.2 
 

CHIMERA INVESTMENT CORPORATION  
1211 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS  

SUITE 2902  
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10036  

 
   

CERTIFICATION  
   
   

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE  
   

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 10 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
   

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Chimera Investment Corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 to be filed, I, A. Alexandra Denahan, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:  
   

 

   
It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  

   
   

  1.   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

  2.   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company at the dates of, and for the periods covered by, the Report.  

  /s/ A. Alexandra Denahan  
  A. Alexandra Denahan  
  Chief Financial Officer  
  February 25, 2011 


